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FOREWORD
First and foremost, we aim
to engage with the public
and local communities we
serve, because this Service
is your Service.

It is my pleasure to introduce the Scottish Fire and Rescue
Service (SFRS) Annual Report and Accounts for 2017-18.
The purpose of this report is to provide assurance and
insight on our progress over the year.

doing supportively and collaboratively. I am proud to say
there is a strong working relationship between the Board
and the SLT, which adds to the depth and capability of our
whole management team.

I had the great honour of being appointed Chair in
December 2017, following the retirement of Pat Watters. I
would like to pay tribute to Pat and his excellent leadership
over the past five years. He led us through the formation
of a single national Service and set us on a clear path
towards our next phase of transformation.

During the year we received a significant funding
commitment from the Scottish Government and with that
full endorsement to go forward with transformation. An
allocation of £5 million for capital investment and the
ability to retain and spend what we reclaim in VAT gave us
additional spending power of £15.5 million for 2018/19.

Our main focus in 2017/18 has been building a willing
coalition for the changes we know we have to make.
The SFRS strives to be an open, honest and transparent
organisation and we seek ways to engage actively and
continuously with all of our staff and stakeholders.

While forming these proposals for new initiatives the
Service did not stand still and we continued to keep the
people of Scotland safe. One of the many highlights of
2017/18 was the graduation of our biggest single intake of
Wholetime Firefighters since the Service was formed. We
also completed the migration of our Operations Control
and officially opened our new North Control in Dundee,
opened the refurbished Stornoway Fire Station, and
introduced five new high reach appliances at locations
across the country.

Firefighters can and should be doing a broader role.
Changes in societal demand have created new challenges
and we have more to offer to meet those challenges.
Improving lives, expanding into new roles which address
the risks and challenges, and strengthening our work in
preventing harm occurring in the first place – these have
to be our biggest priorities. And in doing that I believe
we can support some other key areas of service delivery
which are under stress – such as our NHS and social care
services.
Over the last year the Board has been a solid source of
support for both Pat and myself. One member, Jimmy
Campbell, retired during the year and I would like to thank
him for his work over the past years. Later in 2018 the
Board will undergo further changes, and six new members
will join. Three will join in July and a further three new
members will replace three retiring members in October.
The Board has a key role in ensuring that scrutiny and
governance processes are in place to support our Service
as we evolve. We scrutinise and hold the Strategic
Leadership Team (SLT) to account for performance and
delivery against our plans, but this is something we are
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The year was not without its challenges. We had hoped
to reach agreement with the staff representative bodies
on harmonisation of terms and conditions for uniformed
colleagues, and we worked very hard to do this; a
collective agreement was actually achieved in the early
part of 2018/19. Nonetheless, our relationships with
the representative bodies remain strong, and we remain
committed to working in partnership with them.
Looking back it has been another significant year for the
SFRS but our commitment is always first and foremost to
do the best job we can for the people of Scotland.

Kirsty Darwent
Chair
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service Board

PERFORMANCE REPORT
Chief Officer’s Summary of Performance
Firefighters hold a respected
position in society which creates an
opportunity for us to revisit the role
they play and consider the value that
can be added to address a much
wider range of societal risks and
challenges.
In support of the priorities of the Fire and Rescue
Framework for Scotland 2016 and our Strategic Plan 201619, this year’s performance report has been developed
around five key themes of:
•
•
•
•
•

Preparing a fire and rescue service for the future
Strengthening partnerships
Improving outcomes
Protecting and building our workforce
Managing our corporate responsibilities

Much of our activities this past year has been to lay
foundations to prepare us for change. The evolution of the
role of a firefighter would allow us, with willing partners,
to deliver a more holistic approach to harm prevention
in the home and community setting. This, together with
exploring more efficient, flexible ways of responding to
emergencies, creates a real chance to deliver a fire and
rescue service which is fully aligned to the changing needs
of Scotland’s communities.
Some of our key achievements within this report include
the development of our Long Term Financial Strategy
and a Workforce and Strategic Resourcing Plan, both of
which will be instrumental in informing and supporting
our transformation plans. The well-supported consultation
on our future role will further provide key influential
information to enable us to finalise these plans with due
consideration of our stakeholders’ views.
We have also drawn out information on an exciting new
development with our emergency service colleagues and
health and social care partners. Under the auspices of the
Reform Collaboration Group, we propose to share and
assess data to build a much more detailed understanding
of risks and vulnerabilities right down to household and
individual level. We and our partner agencies can then
work together much more effectively to target preventative
initiatives and resources to improve safe and wellbeing
outcomes.
With the introduction of a revised Unwanted Fire
Alarm Signals Policy and a challenging target we have
emphasised our commitment to reducing unnecessary
3
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activity to increase our capacity to widen our prevention
role and reduce road risks.
In relation to improving firefighter safety, something
which will always be at the forefront of our plans, we have
progressed the development of our Operational Assurance
arrangements and the implementation of our new national
Operational Intelligence system, which is providing a
single SFRS solution for operational risk information.
Both providing valuable pre, during and post incident
information to improve safety and response arrangements.
Further operational communications developments
will be seen against the new mobile communications
network commissioned by the Home Office as well
as the installation of a new Command and Control
Mobilising System (CCMS). The CCMS Project forms
part of the Command and Control Futures Programme
that is delivering to the SFRS a modern, resilient and
scalable command and control communications system
and supporting infrastructure that meets the priorities
of the organisation in terms of improving firefighter and
community safety; and improving the equity of access to
resources for all the communities of Scotland.
Other key strategies and plans have been revised or
developed. We now have a new Digital Strategy 201821 and a revised Environmental Policy and Objectives
to refocus our efforts in these areas going forward. A
new Performance Management Framework and Service
Improvement Strategy have been introduced to strengthen
the Board’s ability to accurately monitor, track and
challenge SFRS performance and outcomes against targets
and objectives.
The report provides a wealth of information on a vast array
of activity across the Service. We hope you find it insightful.

Alasdair Hay CBE QFSM
Chief Officer
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Key Challenges
The key challenges facing us and Scotland as a whole are
outlined in our Strategic Plan 2016-19. A fuller description
of the business risks we manage is contained within the
Governance Statement section of the Report.

Financial Austerity
Scotland’s public spending challenge is substantial and
significant pressure on spending will remain over the next
few years. While the Scottish Government has pledged
to protect some services we acknowledge that we are
not immune to spending restrictions. There is no doubt
that financial pressure will be a major test of our resilience
going forward. The duration and severity of future financial
challenges are not yet fully clear but what we do know is
that to protect and improve service delivery outcomes
we will need to transform how we operate. A Long Term
Financial Strategy has been prepared to take account
of the financial challenges facing the public sector, and
explore the opportunities to work more collaboratively
with our communities and partners and target resources
where they are most needed.

Public Service Reform
The Scottish Government is driving forward with an
ongoing programme of public service reform. The Christie
Commission report on the future delivery of public services
is the foundation on which all future developments shall be
based. Public services are expected to collaborate more
to deliver a person centred approach which contributes to
improving people’s wellbeing and to help prevent social
and economic problems that drive much of the demand
for all public services. A stronger direction for Community
Empowerment, Health and Social Care and Community
Justice has recently been introduced to reinforce this
direction for reform.
To realise the intended benefits of reform, public services
will need to work closely and collaborate in order to
successfully deliver shared outcomes. This will include
designing services which rely on the sharing of resources,
which are delivered and targeted based on a joint
understanding of risk. We will work with our partners to
realise these ambitions. We will also work better with our
communities to empower people to get involved with us
in order to voice how they want services designed and
delivered to meet their future needs.
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Social Issues
The Scottish Government has stated that social and
economic inequality has for too long been a persistent
feature in the lives of too many people and communities
across Scotland. In areas of multiple deprivation,
communities experience poorer health, lower educational
attainment, lower employment, more emergency hospital
admissions and reduced safety. Typically the Fire and
Rescue Service is called out more often in these areas.
This provides evidence that there is a close relationship
between wider social and economic issues, fire related
incidents and unintentional social and personal harm.
The number of older people in Scotland is predicted
to rise over the next few decades. This will generate an
increased demand on all public services as, for example,
the number of older people susceptible to slips, trips or
falls at home increases. By 2037 we expect to see the
over 65 age group rise significantly as a proportion of our
population with many more people also living beyond the
age of 84. While people living longer lives is a positive
indicator for Scotland, as people grow older they will
require new forms of support to keep them safe from
harm. There is a risk that if public services do not adapt
to meet these issues, vulnerabilities within communities
could increase. As we plan collective response and
prevention activities with our partners in dealing with this,
we are mindful that in some of the most deprived areas
of Scotland healthy life expectancy is significantly lower
than the national average. Working with partners and with
communities we will refocus our efforts in dealing with
these issues.
By developing co-ordinated local responses with our
partners and communities, we will focus proactively on
prevention as well as high quality response measures that
will help address these types of inequalities and improve a
wider range of social outcomes.

Climate Change
The climate has changed over the past few years with
most areas experiencing a marked rise in extreme and
unpredictable weather conditions. Severe storms,
wide spread flooding, significant snow fall and major
temperature fluctuations can have a devastating impact
on peoples’ lives and livelihoods. Dry spells may be
welcomed after long wet winters, however if these
become prolonged Scotland’s vast grass and heath
moorland are at a much greater risk of wildfire. By
understanding the greatest risks and vulnerabilities arising
from climate change we will plan, prepare and deploy our
prevention and response resources to enable swift and
effective actions where and when they are needed across
Scotland.

International Terrorism
In the modern world many countries experience the threat
of terrorist violence. As we have seen in the recent past
the UK is not immune from such threats. In working with
our partners across the UK and Scotland we will develop a
better understanding of the nature of the threat Scotland
faces so that we are prepared to respond appropriately.
We will continue ongoing dialogue with the Scottish
Government to establish what they see as our role in this
area in order to ensure that we have the right capacity,
are properly prepared and ready to act should any such
incident occur.

Annual Report and Accounts 2017-2018
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Performance Target Results
The Scottish Government’s Fire and Rescue Framework for Scotland 20161 sets out the purpose and priorities for the SFRS. It
provides the strategic structure from which to build our plans and gives us direction on Scottish Ministers’ expectations. The
Framework provides a matrix of priorities from which we must monitor and report our progress each year.
A priority of the Fire and Rescue Framework for Scotland 2016 is to develop a new Performance Management Framework for the
SFRS. This was approved at a special meeting of the Board in February 2018. Since then, further work has been undertaken by
our Strategic Leadership Team to develop the 2018/19 Corporate Performance Measures, and associated targets, which form an
integral part of the Framework. The newly agreed performance measures will feature in future SFRS performance reports from 1
April 2018, encapsulating a revised mix of measures which will be more aligned to our current operating environment, challenges
and areas of transformation.
This section gives information on the progress we are making against key performance indicators of our interim performance
framework that applied throughout 2017/18. Committees of the Board monitors progress of these performance indicators
together with other informative data through Quarterly Performance Reports. Progress against the actions of the Annual Operating
Plan, is also monitored quarterly to ensure we are working appropriately towards the priorities set in the Fire and Rescue
Framework for Scotland 2016 and in our Strategic Plan 2016-19.
Further performance data is published in our annual Statistical Bulletins2. These are available on our website to provide
comprehensive data on fire and rescue incidents, and fire safety and operational activity.
We assess each of the targets that follow using a Red, Amber or Green indication of our performance. Green means we have
achieved or exceeded the target; Amber means we did not achieve the target but we are within 10% of what was set; and Red
means we have not achieved the target and are more than 10% above or below what was set.
The table below provides a brief summary of the results against each target. A more detailed view of our performance against
these targets and our absence figures follows.

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

RAG

Based on

All Fire Fatalities

40

45

44

44

N/A

N/A

Accidental Dwelling Fire Fatalities

27

33

31

35

3-Year Avg

Accidental Dwelling Fire Casualties

624

711

697

637

3-Year Avg

Accidental Dwelling Fires

4,961

5,072

4,930

4,752

3-Year Avg

Non-Domestic Fires

1,866

2,076

1,865

1,828

3-Year Avg

False Alarm, UFAS

27,117

27,419

28,433

28,458

Year Total

48

42

45

34

3-Year Avg

Long Term Absence

680

686

N/A

Short Term Absence

5325

5315

N/A

KPI Name

Injuries to Firefighters

*Please note that the data for 2017/18 supplied in this document is provisional.
Verified data will be published in our statistical returns in due course.
1

http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2016/09/8011				

2

http://www.firescotland.gov.uk/about-us/fire-and-rescue-statistics.aspx
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Accidental Dwelling Fires Fatalities and Casualties
Fatalities
In 2017-18 there were 35 fire fatalities in
accidental dwelling fires, 2 in deliberate dwelling
fires, 3 in non-domestic building fires, 3 in vehicle
fires, and 1 in other primary fires, a provisional
total of 44. Fire fatalities have clearly reduced
over the past ten years from 68 in 2008-09 to
the present figure of 44. Although the three-year
average for fire fatalities is 3% up on the previous
year’s average, there is no overall short-term trend
at present given the normal random variations
which occur in the year-to-year totals.

37
3
ALL DWELLING
FIRE FATALITIES

NON-DOMESTIC
FIRE FATALITIES

44
ALL FIRE FATALITIES IN 2017-18

3%
3

1
OTHER
FIRE FATALITIES

VEHICLE
FIRE FATALITIES

Casualties

In 2017-18 there were 637 fire casualties
(excluding precautionary checks) in accidental
dwelling fires, 101 in deliberate dwelling fires, 69
in non-domestic building fires, 35 in vehicle fires,
and 38 in other primary fires, a provisional total
of 880. Although the three-year average for fire
casualties is 1.7% up on the previous three-year
average, there is no overall trend given the normal
random variations which occur in the year-to-year
totals.

738
69
ALL DWELLING
FIRE CASUALTIES

9

NON-DOMESTIC
FIRE CASUALTIES

Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

880
NON-FATAL CASUALTIES IN 2017-18

1.7%
35
VEHICLE
FIRE CASUALTIES

38
OTHER PRIMARY
FIRE CASUALTIES

Target Summary

RAG

Based on

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

Accidental Dwelling Fire Fatalities

27

33

31

35

3-Year Avg

Accidental Dwelling Fire Casualties

624

711

697

637

3-Year Avg

KPI Name

Target explained:
We have introduced targets for the reduction of accidental fire fatalities and casualties against the current and previous
three-year average. For accidental dwelling fire fatalities the target is to reduce the current three-year average over time,
and for accidental dwelling fire casualties the target is to reduce the current three-year average by 3% each year.
If applied for 2017-18 the target for the three-year average for accidental dwelling fire fatalities would have been 29.
As the three-year average of the totals for 2015-16 to 2017-18 (33) is more than 10% above this target we classify this
indicator as red.
Similarly, to achieve a 3% reduction on the three-year average for accidental dwelling fire casualties would have resulted
in a ceiling value of 657. As the three year average for the period 2015-16 to 2017-18 (682) is greater than the target but
within 10% we classify this target as amber.

RED		

AMBER

Context:
Our prevention and protection work primarily focusses on reducing the number of people who are fatally injured or
harmed in a fire. Each time we attend an incident we record details of that incident including any medical treatment that
people involved require. A casualty is recorded as anyone involved in an incident who should be seen by medical staff.
Those that are advised to have a precautionary check-up3 are not included in our targets.
The number of ‘slight’ casualties, the majority of which may be suffering from gas, smoke or toxic fumes inhalation,
are much greater than the number of serious injuries recorded. A reduction in fatalities and casualties can mean our
prevention work is working to reduce the number of high risk fires through community fire safety activity, or can show
that our response saves lives at incidents.

3

A precautionary check-up is when an individual is sent to hospital
or advised to see a doctor as a precaution, having no obvious injury or distress
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Accidental Dwelling Fires
There were 4,752 accidental dwelling fires
attended in 2017-18. Of these, 2,244 were
classed as low-severity under the Cheshire Fire
Severity Index, 2,249 were medium-severity
and 259 were high-severity. A high-severity
fire is one in which a fatality occurs, or a fire so
severe as to destroy or seriously damage the
property concerned. Such fires usually require
the commitment of a larger number of pumping
appliances for longer periods of time.
Although the three-year averages for each of the
three severity totals have reduced compared to
the previous three-year averages (by 1.7% for
low-severity fires, 1.1% for medium-severity, and
1.3% for high-severity fires), there is no overall
trend at present as the reductions are within the
normal random variances which are experienced
over time.

4,752
ACCIDENTAL DWELLING FIRES
IN 2017-18

-1.7%

2,244

ACCIDENTAL
DWELLING FIRES
(LOW SEVERITY)

Prevention Activity
This year we carried out 69,813 Home Fire Safety
Visits, at which we fitted or replaced 54,195
smoke detectors. The consequences of a dwelling
fire can be devastating for families and the larger
communities in which we live. We place great
importance in working with households and our
partners to attempt to reduce the incidence of fire
in people’s homes.
The changes in individual behaviour required
to reduce house fires tend to be longer-term in
nature. We place significant emphasis in our
prevention work on educating people about how
to reduce the risk of a home fire, and putting early
warning systems in place for the most vulnerable
groups. 37% of the home-fire safety visits carried
out this year were for at-risk groups (26,034 visits
in all).
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-2.0%

69,813
HOME
FIRE SAFETY
VISITS

-1.1%

-1.3%

2,249

ACCIDENTAL
DWELLING FIRES
(MEDIUM SEVERITY)

0.4%

-0.7%

54,195
SMOKE
DETECTORS
FITTED

40%
HOME FIRE SAFETY VISITS
- DETECTORS FITTED

259

ACCIDENTAL
DWELLING FIRES
(HIGH SEVERITY)

26,034

HOME FIRE
SAFETY VISITS
(AT-RISK GROUPS)

37%
HOME FIRE SAFETY VISITS
(AT-RISK GROUPS)

Target Summary

KPI Name
Accidental Dwelling Fires

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

4,961

5,072

4,930

4,752

RAG

Based on
3-Year Avg

Target explained:
We have introduced a target for the reduction of accidental fires against the current and previous three-year average by
3% each year.
The target for the three-year average for accidental dwelling fires was 4,838. As the three-year average of the totals for
2015-16 to 2017-18 (4,918) is above this target but within 10% we classify this indicator as amber.

AMBER
Context:
Dwelling fire totals are subject to seasonal and longer-term variability in part as a result of external factors which SFRS
cannot influence. The use of the Cheshire Fire Severity index allows us to associate changes in dwelling fire patterns as a
result of an aging population (which leads to growth in low-severity kitchen fires for instance where unattended pans are
often the source).
Home Fire Safety Visits are aimed at mitigating and changing behaviours in the longer term.
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Non Domestic Fires
There were 1,828 fires in non-domestic premises
(those covered by Part 3 of the Fire (Scotland)
Act 2005) in 2017-18. There is no overall trend
for such fires at present, though the three-year
average is very slightly down (by 0.7%).

1,828
NON-DOMESTIC FIRES
IN 2017-18

-0.7%
We conducted 7,711 Fire Safety Audits of nondomestic premises in 2017-18, of which 47.5%
were in premises at greater risk in the event of fire.
This includes 2,076 audits undertaken in Houses
of Multiple Occupation (HMOs), and 1,587 in care
homes (which includes nursing care for the elderly
and child care establishments amongst others).
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7,711

FIRE SAFETY
AUDITS
CONDUCTED

2,076

1,587

26.9%

20.6%

HMOs
AUDITED

CARE
HOMES
AUDITED

Target Summary

KPI Name
Non-Domestic Fires

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

1,866

2,076

1,865

1,828

RAG

Based on
3-Year Avg

Target explained:
We have introduced a target for the reduction of non-domestic fires against the current and previous three-year
average.
The target for the three-year average this year was 1,935. As the three-year average of the totals for 2015-16 to 2017-18
(1,923) is below this target we classify this indicator as green.

GREEN
Context:
Non-domestic fires tend to involve business premises. A fire can have a devastating direct effect on the business
involved through lost trading, and replacement and refurbishment costs. It may also have a wider impact through
the loss of jobs. Protecting businesses from fire is therefore a key priority for us so that they can continue to safely
contribute to Scotland’s economy.
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Unwanted Fire Alarm Signals
Although the number of Unwanted Fire Alarm Signals
(UFAS) calls is slightly up on the three-year average (by
1.6%) the overall trend remains relatively flat at present.

28,458
FALSE ALARM, UFAS IN 2017-18

1.6%
Target Summary
KPI Name
False Alarm, UFAS

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

27,117

27,419

28,433

28,458

RAG

Based on
3-Year Avg

Target explained:
Due to the continuing increase in UFAS calls, we have set a challenging reduction target of a cumulative 15% reduction
over the three years from 2017-18 to 2019-20. For simplicity this is taken to mean a 5% reduction on the previous year
total each year. The 5% reduction target for 2017-18 was 27,011. The actual result of 28,458 calls is above the target,
but as it is within 10% we classify this target as amber.

AMBER
Context:
False alarms account for over half of the incidents we attend. The majority of these unwanted calls are generated by
automatic fire alarm systems. This is a significant drain on our resources and travelling to these incidents under bluelight conditions presents an undue risk to our firefighters and other road users.
Whilst we encourage the use of automatic fire detection to save lives and protect buildings we actively seek to reduce
the burden to us and businesses that false alarms from systems installed in commercial and public premises cause.

15
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Firefighter Injuries
The 34 recorded RIDDOR-reportable injuries to firefighters
in 2017-18 is the lowest total since SFRS was formed in
2013-14. Whilst there are natural up and down variances
in year-to-year totals, the overall trend is downwards at
present, with a reduction in the three-year average from
last year to this of 10%.

34
INJURIES TO FIREFIGHTERS
IN 2017-18

-10%
Target Summary
KPI Name
Injuries to Firefighters

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

48

42

45

34

RAG

Based on
3-Year Avg

Target explained:
We have introduced a target for the reduction of RIDDOR-reportable injuries to firefighters against the current and
previous three-year average.
The target for the three-year average this year was a ceiling of 44. As the three-year average of the totals for 2015-16 to
2017-18 (40) is below this target we classify this indicator as green.

GREEN
Context:
Firefighter safety has always been one of our key priorities and will remain so. The injuries recorded here are those
described by the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995 (RIDDOR). RIDDOR
requires deaths and injuries to be reported only when:
• There has been an accident which caused the injury;
• The accident was work-related; and
• The injury is of a type which is reportable.
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Absence
One of our key transformation projects was to amalgamate eight legacy HR/Payroll systems into a multi-functional HR/Payroll
system. This was completed in 2015-16 and allows the Service to consistently and accurately monitor absence and other key
performance data.
Following on from the rolling completion of the payroll amalgamation project in 2015-16, we now have staff absence data for two
complete fiscal years (2016-17 and 2017-18). In the 2017-18 fiscal year there was no specific target allocated for staff absences as
such, although there will be a set of targets derived from 2018-19 onwards.
To provide some indication of the relative levels of staff absences in SFRS the tables below provide the number of recorded staff
absences by staff group, for the two available fiscal years (2016-17 and 2017-18).

Long-Term Absence
2016-17
Staff Group

2017-18
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Wholetime

63

73

48

43

Retained

84

75

70

71

Volunteer

3

2

3

2

Control

8

9

2

8

Support
Total

Overall

Staff Group

Q1

Q2

227

Wholetime

56

300

Retained

88

10

Volunteer

27

Control
Support

27

28

25

36

116

185

187

148

160

680

Q3

Q4

Overall

52

61

50

219

85

63

70

306

4

4

4

3

15

11

11

3

3

28

27

33

29

29

118

186

185

160

155

686

Staff Group

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Overall

Total

Short-Term Absence
2016-17

2017-18

Staff Group

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Overall

Wholetime

732

758

850

837

3,177

Wholetime

677

775

818

837

3,107

Retained

296

257

264

342

1,159

Retained

254

236

300

378

1,168

-

1

-

-

1

1

2

2

-

5

Control

Volunteer

54

48

55

71

228

Control

57

57

64

62

240

Support

171

156

201

232

760

Support

188

163

194

250

795

1,253

1,220

1,370

1,482

5,325

1,177

1,233

1,378

1,527

5,315

Total

Volunteer

Total

Context
Attendance rate is an important indicator for any employer. It can give an early warning of safety concerns or welfare problems.
Careful management of attendance also gives us the tools to step in and bring staff back to work in a reduced capacity if we can.
The public sector as a whole sees good attendance ratings as important indicators that absence is being effectively managed.
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Performance and Activities
The Board sets the strategic direction for the Scottish Fire
and Rescue Service (SFRS) through a three year Strategic
Plan which is designed to meet the Scottish Government’s
requirements as set out in the Fire and Rescue Framework
for Scotland. At the beginning of each financial year we
produce an Annual Operating Plan to show how we will
meet the priorities we set out within our Strategic Plan.
At the end of each financial year we report on how we
progressed through this Annual Report and Accounts.

Preparing a fire and rescue service for the
future
Our need to transform
Our current operating model, which includes nationally
agreed terms and conditions, shift patterns and role maps
for uniformed personnel, has been built around a risk
profile that has changed considerably over the years. We
know that fires are reducing but new risks are emerging.
These new risks are real – including terrorism, severe
weather and a change in demographics to an elderly
population. Because of this, together with increasingly
demanding financial challenges, the need to transform has
never been greater.
To better support our partners to meet increasing health
and social care demands we could take on a wider
prevention role to improve the safety and wellbeing of
Scotland’s most vulnerable. In addition we could possibly
take on a first responder emergency response, potentially
keeping someone alive until our partner agencies arrive.
We must transform to continue to protect Scotland and
future-proof our Service. We need to better align our
response model to meet today’s risks and utilise new and
safer firefighting technologies. As this performance report
highlights, we are making steps to create the right change.
We are committed to being an open, honest and
engaging organisation and so this year we have worked
hard to build awareness and generate understanding of
and support for our need to transform. We undertook a
programme of active engagement nationally and locally
with stakeholders across Scotland, communicating directly
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with them about our transformation proposals throughout
the year; taking all feedback on board and acting on it
where necessary.
In February 2018 we opened a 90 day public consultation
on the broad principles of our transformation proposals.
This was supported by a comprehensive communications
and engagement programme to build awareness and
encourage maximum participation, including a broad
set of briefing materials for use by our Local Senior
Officers (LSOs). Over 1500 responses were received by
the closing date of 14 May 2018. These are now being
independently analysed, with the results due in the
autumn.

Our initial steps
Transformation will help us to deploy our people and
resources more effectively and efficiently to where
the needs of our communities are greatest. Increased
flexibility will strengthen our Retained Duty System (RDS)
and Volunteer models giving us the ability to safely deploy
crews in a more flexible way and enhance safety in our
communities supported by RDS stations.
We have identified potential projects to explore how we
might redesign our services to respond to emergencies

differently. This includes things such as reconfiguration
of our crewing model and rebalancing the numbers of
Wholetime, RDS and Volunteer firefighters, to ensure
appropriate levels of cover are available to match
community risk and activity.
We are investing £7.6 million in a different type of fire
appliance and firefighting technology. A contract to build
40 bespoke Rapid Response Units (RRUs) was awarded to
Emergency One based in Cumnock, Ayrshire. Training and
familiarisation has now commenced to deploy the RRUs
to selected RDS and Volunteer stations during 2018-19.
These bespoke new appliances are fitted with state of the
art Ultra High Pressure Lances allowing compartmental
fires to be fought from a safe distance. This ‘cold cutting’
technology allows for the firefighters to fight a fire by
cutting through the brick work, steel or wooden exterior
of a building, allowing the temperature to be decreased
and in most cases extinguishing the fire before entering
the building.

Supporting change
To assure the efficacy of our transformation plans we
have robust programme and project management
arrangements in place. These arrangements have evolved
since the creation of the Service and have supported us
achieving almost all of what was asked as a consequence
of Fire Reform. Our initial Transformation Programme,
which provided project management arrangements
to support the merger of the eight legacy Services,
has now formally closed; this programme has seen the
completion of in excess of 50 individual projects. Two
longer term projects continue to be supported through
our Programme Office and associated governance
arrangements.
The lessons learned from the previous Programme have
been incorporated into our current Programme Office
to reinforce arrangements. A strengthened Programme
Office structure is now also in place, the Programme Office
Board has been reconstituted, and the SFRS Board’s
Service Transformation Committee, now renamed as the
Transformation and Major Projects Committee, has been
retained to provide robust challenge and scrutiny.

produced was independently appraised as being robust
and has been used to develop the Service’s Long-Term
Financial Strategy 2017-27, which was subsequently
approved by the Board in December 2017.
For 2018/19, SFRS has secured additional spending
power of £15.5million, which includes legislative change
for the recovery of VAT as part of the financial settlement.
This increase in spending has been received at an
opportune time to provide much needed financial backing
for our transformation plans.
Achieving standardised terms and conditions of
employment for uniform employees is an essential
element to the evolution of the firefighter role. On the
transfer to the new SFRS all staff retained their existing
terms and conditions, which meant there were many
different local arrangements to manage. Following the
conclusion of standardising all support staff pay and
reward arrangements, considerable effort has been made
to seek agreement to standardise terms and conditions for
uniformed staff.
By adhering to the Working Together Framework, we
have continued to maintain productive employee relations
and worked collaboratively with staff representatives to
achieve agreement of uniform terms and conditions in
April 2018. Once implemented, these will supersede
legacy arrangements and ensure equality in pay and
conditions across Scotland. Efforts to harmonise RDS
terms and conditions, and in consultation with employee
representatives, pay awards negotiations for uniformed,
control and support staff, will continue throughout 2018.
To resource our future aspirations a stronger, proactive
approach to staffing and talent management has been
implemented through the development of the Workforce
and Strategic Resourcing Plan 2018-21. Subject to regular

In support of service redesign, we undertook a series
of financial modelling scenarios to scope out options
and related financial requirements. The financial model
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review as our transformation plans evolve, this details our
approach to recruitment, deployment and succession
planning across the Service over the next three years.
Exploiting the use of technology is key to gaining
efficiencies and supporting a modern fire and rescue
service. We have invested just over £20 million of our
capital budget in ICT over the past five years. This has
included supporting the delivery of our Digital Strategy
2014-17.
Building on these achievements, a revised Digital
Strategy for 2018-21 was agreed by the Board in
December 2017. It provides a vison of how the Service
can continue to exploit new technology for the next three
years whilst considering potential environmental factors
both now and in the future. As part of the Strategy the
rollout of the Modern Desktop continues, with Windows
10 and Microsoft Office 365 making files and applications
available to users online, supporting a flexible workforce.
The Home Office has commissioned a programme to
replace the ageing Airwave mobile communications
network used by Police, Fire and Ambulance Services
across the UK. The new Emergency Services Network,
cited as one of the most technically advanced systems
worldwide, will provide emergency services and other
network users with a next generation integrated critical
voice and broadband data service.
The Emergency Services Mobile Communications
Programme is scheduled to commence within Scotland
during 2019/20, subject to any programme changes.
To ensure the Service is appropriately sighted and
prepared for this complex migration, robust governance
arrangements, including an Emergency Service Network
Board, have been established. SFRS is currently working
closely with emergency service partners and Scottish
Government to ensure the eventual implementation is fit
for purpose.
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Strengthening partnerships
Identifying vulnerability
The SFRS has an excellent history of delivering a broad
range of prevention work for people and communities
to reduce the risk of fire, and to improve peoples’ safety
and wellbeing. This work is delivered locally with many
partner organisations in the public and third sectors. We
are now working to further develop our relationships with
the health sector. Specifically with Health and Social Care
(HSC) partnerships, we are examining how we can better
understand who within communities is most in need of
help and support, and how services can be delivered
more consistently.
We have established a programme of pilots with a sample
of Scotland’s HSC partnerships. These pilots will aim to
improve how we share and receive important information
on regional, local, and individual vulnerability factors. This
in turn will help to inform more targeted prevention work,
which can be delivered jointly by relevant partners. In line
with Service Transformation, the work will also allow local
priorities to be determined to inform ways in which the
Service’s response models may reduce the local demand
placed on health partners.
This work is being progressed alongside a national data
sharing and analysis project, commissioned by the Scottish
Emergency Services Reform Collaboration Group to
target prevention support and improve health and social
care outcomes. By actively working with Police Scotland,
Scottish Ambulance Service, NHS National Service
Scotland Information Services Division (ISD), Health and
Social Care partnerships and the Administrative Data
Research Centre (ADRC) at the University of Edinburgh, we
are developing a joint approach to assessing vulnerability
at individual and household level.

Our aim is to bring together data from all the service
delivery partner bodies and examine the shared patterns
of demand facing the partner services and the nature
of vulnerabilities that generate demand patterns from
individuals and households. This will build a shared
evidence base from which to inform the development of
more efficient and effective service redesign. It will also
allow partners to manage demand and jointly develop and
deliver targeted prevention programmes.

in the future and to act as a framework to identify and
support the development of specific projects to improve
outcomes for people. This will be achieved through a
focus on co-location to ensure the collective assets of the
three services are more productively utilised; co-response
models of working in emergency response situations and
in promoting prevention approaches; sharing knowledge
between the services in key areas such as data analytics
and leadership development; and, exploring options
around service integration and sharing.

Increased collaboration
This year, renewed energy has been put into the Scottish
Emergency Services Reform Collaboration Group. This
partnership, comprising of the Scottish Fire and Rescue
Service, Police Scotland, the Scottish Police Authority and
the Scottish Ambulance Service has agreed a refreshed
overarching Strategy.
The Reform Collaboration Group Strategy sets out a
common vision, operating principles, strategic objectives
and a high level implementation plan. The new vision for
the Group is:

Through ever closer working and through
empowering our staff and communities we will
improve the safety and resilience of communities
and improve the wellbeing of the people of
Scotland.
The core purpose of the Strategy is to guide how the three
emergency services will pursue collaborative working

Our Asset Management Function is already actively
working on a co-location project with the Scottish
Ambulance Service in the Shetland Islands. Lerwick
Community Fire Station will undergo significant
adaptations to accommodate the Scottish Ambulance
Service response teams. We have also been working
with the Highlands and Islands Airports Ltd in developing
Carbonaceous Training Facilities on airport sites. Training
facilities are now live in Dundee, Stornoway, Kirkwall
and Sumburgh Airports providing training facilities
which benefit both our local firefighters and the Airport
firefighters.
We continue to work closely with Scottish Ambulance
Service, Police Scotland and Scottish Futures Trust on
other key projects. The Hard Facilities Management
contract, which will maintain our buildings for example,
has been awarded between SFRS and Police Scotland
and is now fully operational with MITIE, the successful
contractor.
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Improving outcomes
Safe and Well
We are replacing our historic prevention activity of
Home Fire Safety Visits (HFSV). A new model of Safe and
Well Visits, incorporating wider health and social care
considerations, is being developed. This new approach
will continue to aim for a reduction in fire incidents, injuries
and deaths amongst those communities who are most at
risk and will not dilute our core duty to provide fire safety
education.
Across the UK there has been a shift amongst Fire and
Rescue Services towards these types of visits. By visiting
the homes of the most vulnerable, we will continue to give
fire safety advice but will also identify additional risk and
provide, or signpost people to, advice on a wider range
of issues potentially including health, wellbeing and crime
prevention, passing on referrals where a more specialist
approach is needed.

This development is still in its infancy and has been
identified as a key project within the wider Service
Transformation agenda. This will be a long term project,
working with a wide range of stakeholders. The project
will ensure our staff are appropriately trained, governance
arrangements are in place and a bespoke ICT system to
record activity is developed.
We have also created a Safe and Well House (SAWH) for
wider partnership learning located at SFRS Headquarters
in Cambuslang. A house, which was previously
a traditional firefighting training facility, has been
reconstructed into a domestic environment, enabling
our personnel and partners to improve their skills and
share knowledge on home fire safety and other safety and
community issues. This transformation was made possible
by utilising the skills of Glasgow City Council’s Trades
Apprentice Scheme and by working closely with the
Scottish Centre for Telehealth and Telecare.
Our own staff are training at the SAWH alongside those
of our partners, including health and social care, housing,
third sector and other emergency services. Since opening
earlier this year over 30 different organisations have made
use of the facility. The content and layout of the property
has been developed in conjunction with these partners to
include a wide range of home safety and wellbeing issues.
These include, dementia awareness, preventing falls, child
safety, social isolation and mental health.

We currently access over 70,000 homes per year
through the HFSV programme. This provides a fantastic
opportunity to deliver advice and interventions on behalf
of our partners, and identify people who might benefit
from a referral into specialist services. Delivering early
interventions, and working with our partners, we can
enable people to maintain independence, personal
resilience and improve their quality of life.
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The property also incorporates the latest technology
enabled care equipment to promote its use in support of
independent and safe living. These technologies include
the latest smart smoke and heat alarms, cooker shut offs,
telecare and other safety equipment such as domestic
water mist fire suppression system and ‘geo fencing’
technology which allows residents’ locations to be
monitored.

Assuring safety
In the immediate aftermath of the catastrophic fire at
Grenfell Tower in London in June 2017, we established
a strategy with three main objectives to provide overt
and robust public reassurance; a consistent and timely
response to the high volume of information requests
received from key stakeholders, media and other parties;
and to provide detailed information and guidance to our
staff to deliver a consistent message.

We have also provided a seconded officer to assist with
the development of revised fire safety guidance for nonresidential premises with sleeping accommodation. They
will contribute to the Scottish Government’s consultation
on Standards for Smoke and Heat Detection and provided
representation on the Tenant and Resident Panel, set up
to provide effective communication with residents of high
rise properties.

Cross directorate working was key to the success of this
strategy and Prevention and Protection, Response and
Resilience and Service Delivery worked in unison with
colleagues from Corporate Communications. In pursuance
of our objectives, the following activities were undertaken:
• Conducted 1900 HFSVs in high rise domestic
premises
• Carried out in excess of 1500 Operational
Reassurance Visits (ORVs)
• Produced and distributed 40,000 leaflets and
posters
• Provided specialist Fire Safety Enforcement and
Fire Engineering advice and guidance to Local
Authorities, NHS, higher education establishments
and private businesses
• Produced a specialist guidance document on
‘simultaneous evacuation’ to support building
owners where Aluminium Composite Material
cladding has been identified
• Reviewed and updated our High Rise process and
supporting documentation
• Supported various National Fire Chiefs Council
(NFCC) working groups.

SFRS provided representation on the Ministerial Working
Group (MWG) on Building and Fire Safety where review
panels focused on the Fire Safety Regime and Regulatory
Framework in Scotland, Building Standards, and
Enforcement and Compliance.
One of the key priorities identified by the MWG was to
undertake a fire safety campaign for high-rise domestic
properties. This campaign, led by SFRS, was an extension
to our reassurance programme but had additional focus on
involving key partners and the public to share messaging
and tackle misinformation.
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Reducing unnecessary activity

Enhancing our response

Attendance at Unwanted Fire Alarm Signal (UFAS)
incidents continues to be a significant demand on
our resources. Time spent attending these incidents
reduces the time available for other important activities
such as community safety engagement work, training
and operational intelligence gathering. In addition,
the financial cost of responding to UFAS with multiple
appliances is considerable with the consequential impact
on the environment and increased risk to other road
users as multiple appliances respond under blue light
conditions.

Working towards providing a more efficient service
has always been a priority, whilst continuing to provide
an effective response to the thousands of operational
incidents we are called to attend each year. This year,
incidents such as the major fire at Sauchiehall Street in
Glasgow in March, or the several large wildfires across
the Highland areas in the summer have tested our
organisational resilience but the Service’s response has
given reassurance to the public that we can provide a
measured and coordinated tri-service response to major
incidents, at the same time as maintaining business as
usual.

Our current UFAS Policy and Procedure documents,
which outline our approach and response to UFAS
incidents, were drafted in the initial years of the SFRS and
aimed to establish a common national approach. Given
the need to balance resource against risk, and taking
cognisance of Her Majesty’s Fire Service Inspectorate
report recommendations on Managing Automatic Fire
Signals (2015), a review was conducted and changes
recommended.
We now have nominated UFAS Champions fully
embedded within each LSO Area as a sole point of contact
for any matters relating to UFAS. A newly developed UFAS
recording system (URS) is now also live. This will allow
us to record and analyse all UFAS activity and it provides
a means by which we can report on the changes in blue
light journeys resulting from the current UFAS procedure
and call challenging protocols.
UFAS Pre Determined Attendances (PDA) reduction
measures are now live within the Operations Control
rooms in each of the three Service Delivery Areas across
Scotland. This process supports the Service’s commitment
to reducing unnecessary blue light journeys, and also
forms part of our wider strategy of how we will respond to
UFAS incidents in the future.
Areas of effective UFAS reduction work have been
identified within specific sectors and examples of good
practice are shared across the Service in pursuit of the
challenging reduction targets set out by the Board
– a cumulative 15% reduction over 3 years 2017/18 –
2019/20.
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The Community Asset Register, which enables the safe
identification, mobilisation and management of volunteer
assets has now been introduced across the three regional
Operations Controls. Local Civil Contingency Officers,
who manage the introduction of assets, have seen a
significant increase in the number of volunteers that wish
to be included on the register. This allows an enhanced
multi agency response to incidents where skilled and
competent volunteers can assist operational crews in
bringing incidents to a safe conclusion.
This register was put to excellent use during the severe
weather experienced early in 2018, with a number of
voluntary assets being mobilised to provide humanitarian
assistance across Scotland.

The Review of Specialist Equipment Project was initiated
a number of years ago to improve the equity of access to
fire and rescue resources and deliver efficiencies across
Scotland. The review and implementation has now been
concluded providing a more balanced disposition of
resources based on risk and activity. The improvements
have seen some resources increased where gaps were
identified, such as an increase of water rescue capabilities
to 20 attributes and a national rollout of flood response
equipment, or decreased in number where overlap or
unnecessary overprovision existed.
Having now successfully completed the highly complex
programme to migrate our control rooms into three
regional Operations Controls, we now are focussing
on the design and implementation of a new Command
and Control Mobilising System. Following the award
of contract the project team has been engaged in
an extensive period of due diligence on the detail
contained within the tender return to ensure a common
understanding with the contractor. A period of intelligence
gathering with other UK Fire and Rescue Services has led
to a number of lessons being learned.
The Common Duty System, which sees all Wholetime
and Operations Control staff work to the same five watch
duty pattern, and the Flexi Duty Managers (FDM) system
are currently being fully reviewed. Research has been
completed into the national risks and issues impacting
on appliance availability, with short and long term
improvement proposals being approved by the Project
Board.

Building resilience
With the UK Terror Threat increasing to Critical twice
this year, we have undertaken a thorough debrief of our
response to the events, enabling improvements to be
made to our preparedness. We continue to work closely
with our Police and Ambulance colleagues to ensure a
coordinated tri-service response to any future incidents.
We played a full part in the planning and implementation
of the Tier 1 UK National Training Exercise; Border Reiver.
This three day counter-terrorism exercise was designed
to test the response of emergency services in Scotland
and England to a cross-border incident and to provide
the means to assess and validate plans and identify areas
of improvement. It involved the utilisation of National
Inter-Agency Liaison Officer responders to participate
in warm zone working, with operational crews and Flexi
Duty Managers providing a cold zone response, ie in areas
where there has been no terrorism activity.
This exercise proved extremely beneficial, with the sharing
of intelligence and information, good practices and
learning from others. On site ‘hot’ debriefs have been
carried out. We will learn from this exercise and respond
to recommendations from both the Home Office and the
Scottish Multi-Agency Resilience Training and Exercise
Unit as appropriate.
Delivering an agreed and updated Chemical, Biological,
Radiological and Nuclear (CBRN) response was another
objective this year. A full Concept of Operations
document has now been completed following a national
CBRN training event. Discussions are ongoing around the
delivery model for mass decontamination equipment.

Annual Report and Accounts 2017-2018

26

Local Planning
The revision of Local Fire and Rescue Plans for each Local
Authority area has now concluded. The development
of the second iteration of Local Fire and Rescue Plans
took a more flexible approach than the first time. This
allowed their development to align with the preparation
of the Community Planning Partnership’s Local Outcomes
Improvement Plans (LOIPs) and other local planning
arrangements.
Each Local Fire and Rescue Plan prepared was subject
to a formal consultation, which together generated over
230 responses from members of the public and partner
organisations. Despite the concerted effort to engage
with many community groups, it did not always translate
into formal responses. However, all Local Fire and Rescue
Plans were fully supported by their respective Local
Authority when presented for approval.
A brief table top review of all 32 LOIPs was also conducted
this year. From these there is evidence to suggest that
we are fully integrated within the Community Planning
Partnerships. 94% of LOIPs make reference to the SFRS,
around half the Local Authorities go as far as to mention
the SFRS as a statutory partner and around a third
suggest the Local Fire and Rescue Plan was taken into
consideration when preparing the LOIP.
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Protecting and buidling our workforce
Safer firefighters
Ensuring the safety of firefighters across Scotland will
always be a priority. The efficient management of the
national Operational Assurance (OA) process will help
us achieve that. Regional Implementation Groups
have now been introduced across the Service, with a
comprehensive suite of documents supporting their
introduction. These groups aim to provide a governance
route for local areas to feed back on good practices
and areas for improvement. An OA sub group has also
been established to further improve communication and
governance structures, with a focus on more effective
action plan resolutions and improved learning. In addition,
strengthened relationships with Heath, Safety and
Wellbeing colleagues has provided a more proactive
shared approach to the identification and management of
risk.

Implementation of a national Operational Intelligence
System (OIS) is making good headway. The Operational
Intelligence mobile application, loaded on de-mountable
rugged tablets, supports operational risk assessment and
the collection and review of safety critical information. To
further support firefighter safety, crews are able to access
Scotland-wide Operational Intelligence data, hydrant and
operational guidance using the software.
A new contract is now in place for the Operational
Intelligence hardware and an implementation plan has
been developed to install the hardware into all frontline
operational response vehicles. Vehicle installations have
been completed in the East Service Delivery Area and
are well under way in the West and North. A Policy and
supporting document suite has been prepared along with
training resources to support national delivery.
The Balmoral Bar Implementation Group, including full
representation from the Fire Brigades Union, formed to
oversee the 19 recommendations made following the
tragic death of Firefighter Ewan Williamson, have now
addressed all associated actions helping to improve
processes and procedures across SFRS.
Through monitoring data it has been identified a number
of health and safety events occur at Carbonaceous Fire
Behaviour Training (CFBT). To address this emerging risk, a
specific action plan has been developed to enhance safety
and promote consistency across all CFBT units. Due to the
potential risk associated with emergency response driving
and other aspects of driving on SFRS business a cross
cutting Directorate/Service Delivery Area Group has been
established to develop and promote good practice.

Improving health, safety and wellbeing
arrangements
We continue to develop our approach to the management
of health and safety based upon the principles of the
well-established and proven Health and Safety Executive
guidance document HS (G) 65 “Successful Health and
Safety Management”.
In support of our Health and Safety Plan for 2018/19 and
to drive improvement at a local level, Service Delivery Area
and Directorate Annual Health and Safety Improvement
Plans are also now in place. These focus on specific
actions and emerging risks and are progressed through
formal business partner arrangements. The harmonisation
of health and safety management arrangements across
the SFRS continues in support of the Health, Safety
and Wellbeing Policy. This all recognises the differing
needs across the organisation whilst ensuring a
common approach, efficiency in the use of health and
safety resources and promoting collective legislative
compliance.
We are developing a Health and Wellbeing Framework. In
preparation we have undertaken significant work to review
and revise our psychological support services. These
new services will incorporate both a counselling service
and a post incident support service and are designed to
support the mental wellbeing of our workforce, ensuring
employees have access to the right type of support at the
right time.
Our post incident support service will deliver an enhanced
level of provision designed to ensure all operational
staff in attendance at critical incidents are automatically
screened, offered support and if appropriate referred for
specialist trauma focussed treatment. A communications
plan to promote the launch of these new services is in
development. Looking forward, further work is planned
for 2018/19 to scope the potential use of the Blue Light
Wellbeing Framework within SFRS.
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Health and safety performance reports continue to be
enhanced to assist business partners in the scrutiny of
health and safety performance at a local level and to
promote the embedding of robust health and safety
management. We have also developed and implemented
a series of accident reporting and investigation training
to identified staff to support robust investigation and
the identification of lessons to be learnt. To support
our management of information a bespoke IT based
health and safety management system is currently in
development. These systems will also support the Board
and its Committees in their role in scrutinising health and
safety across the SFRS.

Training and developing our people
Significant cross-directorate liaison has taken place in
order to develop a bespoke maintenance of operational
skills programme specifically targeted at Flexi Duty
Managers within the roles from Station Manager through
to Deputy Assistant Chief Officer. This development
programme will be completed by each officer monthly on
a mandatory basis and will go live from 1st April 2018.
To strengthen our capability, capacity and build resilience,
we have developed and introduced a Learning and
Development Pathway for all staff (both uniformed and
support staff). The Executive level programme was the
first to commence followed by the Supervisory level
programme, with two Supervisory Induction Courses
being delivered in all three Service Delivery Areas. The
application process for the Strategic level was initiated in
March 2018 and the programme will be implemented in
2018/19. This integrated succession planning approach
will provide our people with the opportunities to develop
professional management and leadership skills across the
organisation.
We have also refined the accuracy of training compliance
performance indicators to ensure reporting is reflective of
the levels of training being undertaken. This has resulted in
the identification of areas of challenge which has driven a
review of the process which will be taken forward during
2018/19.
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Managing our corporate responsibilities
Strengthening our performance management
arrangements
The Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 were audited
and approved by our External Auditors and approved by
the SFRS Board, prior to being laid before the Scottish
Parliament for scrutiny and final approval. Once again
the Service managed to remain in line with our approved
budget spending limits with only a small underspend.
In February 2018, the Board approved a new Performance
Management Framework (PMF). The PMF, prepared
with the support of a cross directorate working group,
describes the processes we will use and the tools available
to support us achieve the ambitions set by the Scottish
Ministers in the Fire and Rescue Framework for Scotland
2016 and the outcomes, strategic priorities and objectives
we set out in our Strategic Plan.
The PMF includes a comprehensive list of corporate
indicators identified to provide the Board and its
Committees with meaningful performance information
from which to scrutinise progress. Our Strategic
Leadership Team have been working together to enhance
this list with further targets for the 2018/19 reporting year.
Work will progress over the coming year to fully
implement the wider aims of the PMF. An Implementation
Plan has been agreed around seven key objectives.
These aim to improve performance systems so that we
can identify and report performance information in a
way which will lead to improved evidence-led decision
making and support robust challenge and scrutiny.
Objectives will facilitate increased learning and support
identification of new, more innovative indicators which will
provide increased knowledge of how we are improving
against both organisation and community outcomes.
A specific objective relates to the procurement and
implementation of a Performance Management System.
A User Intelligence Group has been established and a
draft outline specification has been prepared to ensure a
system is procured which is fit for purpose and will support
enhanced performance management.

Evaluation and continuous improvement
In order to ensure that best practice is identified and
shared, and that community safety work is appropriately
targeted to maximise positive impact on local
communities, the need for a method for monitoring,
evaluating and reporting the impact of community safety
activity has been identified. A draft evaluation framework
and supporting procedure has been developed.
An interim evaluation procedure is currently in place for
specific community safety initiatives and this is supported
with a revised local performance monitoring procedure
and a series of engagement meetings with both LSOs
and Prevention and Protection staff, aimed at sharing best
practice.
We have also developed and published a Service
Improvement Strategy. The Strategy outlines the Service’s
commitment to continuous improvement through the
development of our overall system, policy and processes,
using various techniques and methodologies. In the
spirit of co-production and partnership working, an
engagement and consultation plan was implemented.
This included opportunities for colleagues to provide
feedback to influence the strategy through an online
survey and face to face presentations. The Service
Improvement Programme to support implementation of
the strategy will be developed during 2018/19.
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Our commitment to the environment
In August 2017, the Board agreed an Environmental Policy
and Objectives 2017-20 to replace the Environmental
Strategy 2014-17. This approach, which is more
consistent with other organisations, will help to meet our
responsibilities against Scottish and UK environmental
legislation.
Implementation will be supported by the Environmental
Forum, which will continue to meet on a quarterly basis.
To achieve our objectives, a restructure within our Asset
Management function has identified three new posts to
assist with the development and implementation of the
Service’s environmental policies and action plans.

the preparation of a formal Policy together with a specific
e-learning programme. Improvement action plans
and monitoring through the newly formed Corporate
Assurance Board (CAB) have also been introduced adding
an additional level of scrutiny prior to being put before the
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee.
The development of the risk management framework
continues with closer alignment to business planning
and performance management systems of the Service.
The provision of assurance to Committees and Executive
Boards has been enhanced and risk is now actively used
to inform decision making through Board and Strategic
Leadership workshops.

Assuring sound governance

Meeting the requirements of GDPR

A Code of Corporate Governance was published on
our website in May 2017. The Code is intended to be a
living document and will evolve in line with best practice
through our processes for continuously reviewing
and improving the effectiveness of our governance
arrangements. It fully supports the outcomes and priorities
set out in the Strategic Plan for 2016-19, in particular the
strategic priority of Governance and Social Responsibility.

The EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR),
introduced in May 2018, represents a significant change in
the data protection compliance regime for data controllers
and data processors including us. It has been created to
provide more appropriate protections for personal data
in the digital age. Although many aspects stay the same,
it places some new responsibilities on organisations
particularly in relation to how personal data is used,
individual rights, and demonstrating compliance.

In June 2017, at the first meeting of the newly formed
Integrated Governance Group (IGG), arrangements
were discussed to consider the routine reporting of
performance against our Code of Corporate Governance.
The performance reporting against six principles are
therefore now presented throughout the year to the IGG
highlighting potential emerging governance issues to its
Members for noting and feedback to ensure continuous
improvement.
A report by Internal Audit provided for 2016/17
identified further improvements relating to the Annual
Governance Statement, on behalf of the Accountable
Officer. As a result a significant amount of work was
completed during 2017/18 and all recommendations
are now incorporated into the assurance plan. Further
to this the assurance mapping exercise conducted in
previous years has evolved and matured in order to
ensure robust Governance and Internal Control Measures.
Duplication has been reduced wherever possible and
the overall framework has been strengthened through
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Meeting these new regulations presents a significant
challenge for us and we have scoped out what is
required and developed an action plan to facilitate
GDPR compliance, where national guidance is
available. Full implementation of the action plan rests
on further guidance being published by the Information
Commissioner/EU for a number of areas.

Activities already completed or in progress include:

Procurement challenges and developments

• Information Asset Register populated by all functions
to identify gaps in compliance

The resourcing of procurement continues to be
challenging with valuable staff resource leaving
during the year. Through our Corporate Procurement
Steering Group, we were able to manage and prioritise
requirements to ensure all time critical projects were
achieved within the financial year. Looking ahead,
we have secured additional resources and continue
to seek collaborative opportunities with other public
sector organisations where possible. For example, we
have appointed Crown Commercial Services to run a
procurement exercise for the supply of Soft Facilities
Management services, bringing valuable expertise and
resource to SFRS. A recruitment process is underway to fill
our vacant posts.

• Task and finish working group created to assess the
risk GDPR represents to specific business areas and
the likely procedural and systems changes required
together with developmental timeframes, where
appropriate
• Training to specific teams on GDPR and how to
complete Privacy Impact Assessments
• GDPR communications are being provided to staff
through iHub, SFRS News and team meetings
• E-leaflet published for all members of SFRS on
general GDPR awareness and E-learning module
being developed
• Developed new guidance and template for staff in
the production of Privacy Impact Assessments
• A number of Privacy Notices developed for both the
public and employees advising what SFRS do with
personal data
• Updating policies from various Directorates to reflect
GDPR changes

Overseen by CAB, progress on the action plan will be
monitored throughout the year. Thereafter it will transition
into business as usual. Internal Audit will also conduct an
audit of our preparedness early in 2018/19 and will revisit
this nearer to the end of the reporting year.

It has been recognised that paper invoicing is a labour
intensive, costly process for both buyer and supplier.
In accordance with an EU Directive to bring increased
efficiencies in this area of procurement, the Scottish
Government has supported the public sector bodies in
adopting an e-invoicing solution. This provides a means
to exchange information between public bodies and
suppliers electronically.
We are early adopters of this initiative and implemented
the e-invoicing solution, delivered by the Professional
Electronic Commerce Online System (PECOS), in March
2018 well ahead of the legislative deadline of December
2018. Three suppliers are currently using the new solution
with the Service looking to expand the use of e-invoicing
in the future.
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Sustainability Report
In this section we consider our societal, environmental
and economic impact. Scottish Government defines the
goal of sustainable development as enabling all people
throughout the world to satisfy their basic needs and enjoy
a better quality of life without compromising the quality
of life of future generations. Sustainable development is
integral to the Scottish Government’s overall purpose - to
focus government and public services on creating a more
successful country, with opportunities for all of Scotland to
flourish, through increasing sustainable economic growth.

Equality, Human Rights and Inclusion
We continue to recognise the role that public services
play in tackling inequality and improving the life chances
of the people of Scotland. Supporting individuals
and communities’ access to public services and their
participation in public life remains a priority for the Service.
The commitment to partnership working provides an
opportunity to extend the reach of the Service beyond its
core functions of emergency response and fire safety.
The Scottish Emergency Services Reform Collaboration
Group (RCG) is one such initiative that provides an
opportunity to work with key partners to improve public
services, remove unnecessary duplication and generate
sustainable methods of joint working. The ambitions set
for the group extends to:
• Improve outcomes for people
• Transform by rebalancing how we deploy resources
towards prevention activities
• Enhance the skills of our workforce
• Improve how we work in partnership and collaborate
with others
• Further build and strengthen community resilience
• Exploit new technology in redesigning our services
• Develop more flexible service models.
This is to be achieved by identifying and exploiting
at strategic level opportunities for co-locating; coresponding; sharing knowledge and integration. The
Scottish Emergency Services National Collaboration
Strategy sets out in detail the scope and mechanism by
which co-production, shared knowledge and resources
as well as service alignment can deliver improved,
responsive and more cost effective public services.
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Responding to Scotland’s changing demographic and
environmental context, and the associated emerging risks,
the RCG continues to work with other partner agencies,
third sector organisations and directly with communities.
In particular, cooperation with social care partners has
already proved to be worthwhile and opportunities to
work with local authorities remains a priority. Accepting
flexibility in participation amongst the three principal
bodies and other agencies allows initiatives to advance
at a pace appropriate to individual organisations without
stifling progress. Over time as the corporate operating
models of the three main organisations grows more
closely aligned it is envisaged that an increasing number of
initiatives will involve all three RCG partners.
Addressing social and economic inequality remains a
significant feature of our approach to equality, diversity
and inclusion and particular attention has recently been
directed towards our obligations for Corporate Parenting
and Community Justice. Key initiatives have been
targeted to improving the outcomes for individuals within
these groups. Our mentoring young people initiative
was recently awarded a special commendation by the
Glasgow Evening Times for its work with care experienced
young people and our work with Polmont Young
Offenders Institute was shortlisted for a national equality
award in September 2017. Our Equality and Human
Rights Impact Assessment process continues to reflect
the evolving nature of the equalities landscape and both
Corporate Parenting and Community Justice obligations
are now incorporated into that process.
Supporting colleagues in understanding and meeting
their obligations for mainstreaming equality continues to
be the primary focus of the Equality and Diversity Team. A
new e-learning package, enhanced online resources and
a revised Professional Behaviours and Equality induction
training programme have recently been introduced.
The Service’s Transformation Programme is being
developed with equality, diversity, human rights and
inclusion considerations pursued from the outset with
each project aligned with an equality practitioner in an
advisory capacity.
Equipping managers with the right tools to effectively
manage a diverse workforce is key to modernising the

workplace and we have recently reviewed the Dignity and
Integrity in the Workplace Policy, the Positive Action Plan
and developed a Balancing the Workforce Plan to address
the under representation of certain groups within the
workforce in both their retention and their appointment.
The introduction of a new self-service employee
monitoring system will assist the SFRS in developing
employment practices that reflect the needs of our
workforce and provide a mechanism to examine the
impact of our policies and practices on individuals
identified within the protected characteristics of the
Equality Act 2010.

Workforce Profile
As at 31 March 2018 13.34% of our overall staff are
women, this is an increase on last year’s figure which was
13.1%. Within the operational staff group (Wholetime, Day
Duty, Flexi Duty, Retained and Volunteer) women make up
5.9% of the workforce as at 31 March 2018, at 1 April 2017
this figure was 5.78%. It is acknowledged that whilst this
is a step in the right direction further work is required to
increase the representation of women in our operational
staff group and across the organisation as a whole.

		

To support and develop the work already underway to
address the under representation of women and other
groups within our workforce we have implemented the
Balancing the Workforce Plan. The key aims of this Action
Plan are to address the Gender Pay Gap and broaden our
workforce profile. This Action Plan incorporates actions
from the Positive Action Review Action Plan, Workforce
and Strategic Resourcing Plan as well as the Youth
Employment Strategy Action Plan.
At 31 March 2018 five of the ten Board members were
women. Over the course of this reporting year there have
been further changes to our Board membership with two
members retiring. A Board member recruitment process
has begun and expected to conclude in July 2018 with the
successful recruitment of six new members. Medium and
long term succession planning measures remain in place
reflecting our support of the Scottish Government vision
of achieving a 50:50 gender representation on Public
Service Boards by 2020.

Gender as at 31 March 2018

Headcount

Male

Female

Male

Female

2919

2778

141

95.17%

4.83%

Day Duty

355

323

32

90.99%

9.01%

Flexi Duty

259

255

4

98.46%

1.54%

Control

189

32

157

16.93%

83.07%

2867

2696

171

94.04%

5.96%

Volunteer

334

279

55

83.53%

16.47%

Support

846

370

476

43.74%

56.26%

7769

6733

1036

86.66%

13.34%

Wholetime

RDS

Total
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Young people remain under represented across our
workforce, as at 31 March 2018 under 25’s accounted
for 3.49% of our workforce. The development and
implementation of a specific Youth Employment Strategy
and Action Plan sets out to address this by introducing a
range of measures to extend the workplace opportunities
available for young people within SFRS and at the same
time promote the wide ranging career opportunities we
have to offer.
Age Bracket

% of staff as at 31 March 2018

<20

0.20%

20 – 29

10%

30 – 39

26%

40 – 49

37%

50 – 59

24%

60 +

3%

We remain committed to being a Disability Confident
employer. The Balancing the Workforce Plan includes
actions to ensure our recruitment processes whether
for new applicants or existing staff do not present
potential barriers to candidates with a disability and that
career opportunities with SFRS are promoted across
underrepresented groups. Further to this we will continue
to ensure our People policies are inclusive to employees
with a disability and that work continues to provide
appropriate and adequate support for staff with a disability
as and when it is required.

Economic Sustainability
The Pay and Reward Framework for SFRS support staff has
been in place for a number of years now and continues
to be reviewed to ensure that the benefits are being fully
realised. We are an accredited Living Wage Employer and
we will continue to monitor our pay and grading structure
to ensure that it helps us address our commitment to
addressing low pay measures.
We have undertaken a review of the terms and conditions
for our uniformed staff and we will implement new terms
and conditions for this group of employees during 2018.
We will develop and review our associated policies
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and working practices to ensure that we maximise the
benefits. We are also undertaking a review of the terms
and conditions specific to our Retained Firefighters and
their duty system with the aim of introducing revised terms
which meet service delivery needs.
We aim to continue to build on this new pay and reward
framework for uniformed staff by considering the
requirements of the future role of our firefighters and a
reward package which enables us to continue to recruit
and retain the right people.
We have developed and introduced a flexible benefits
framework that supports our ethos of providing a ‘Total
Reward Framework’. We will continue to improve this
and promote this to ensure that this assists in attraction,
retention and employee engagement and as part of our
commitment to remaining an employer of choice.
Over the course of the coming year we will see the
introduction of a pilot work experience/ mentoring
scheme in partnership with Career Ready. The aim
of this is to provide guidance and support to school
students over an extended period as well as offering the
opportunity to gain valuable work experience. Schemes
such as this provide us with an invaluable opportunity to
showcase the work we do and encourage young people
to consider us as a future employer. Work will continue to
introduce further Modern Apprenticeships within support
services and also explore the feasibility of a Firefighter
Modern Apprenticeship.
Recognising the substantial amount of youth engagement
activity across the Service, work is ongoing to identify
where specific youth employment initiatives could
complement this. To support this work we have linked
with Scottish Government’s Developing the Young
Workforce Group to explore further options for offering
work related experiences to young people.

Climate Change and
Environmental Sustainability
This report records and analyses SFRS environmental
sustainability performance for the 2017/18 financial year.
This report is also presented in line with the Scottish
Government’s Guidance on the preparation of Annual
Sustainability Reports 2012/13, which focusses on the
following key areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Energy Use
Waste Management
Water Use
Climate Change Adaptation
Biodiversity
Sustainable Procurement

Our Service maintains its pledge to being a sustainable
and environmentally conscious organisation in order to
support the Scottish Government’s obligation to increase
sustainable economic growth through a low carbon
economy. This commitment is embodied within the SFRS
Environmental Policy and Objectives 2017–2020.
Core sustainability reporting data is listed on the following
tables. These ‘Key Metrics’ are set against the SFRS
Climate Change (CC) Reporting Baseline Year (2015-16)
and our most recent financial year (2017-18) in order
to provide absolute figures which chart progress from
baseline (2015/16).
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Metric

Baseline
Performance
2015-16

Performance
2017-18

Percentage + / -

Total Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions
(from buildings and fleet)

22,379 tCo2e

19,473 tCo2e

-15%

Total energy consumption of buildings
(gas, electricity, Fuel Oil and LPG)

57,680,009 kwh

52,631,871 kwh

-5%

13,394 tCo2e

-20%

Total Greenhouse Gas (GHG) of buildings 16,832 tCo2e
(gas, electricity, Fuel Oil and LPG)
Total energy expenditure
(gas, electricity, Fuel Oil and LPG)

£4,305,891

£3,722,857

-14%

Total CRC related expenditure

Not applicable
until Phase 3

Not applicable
until Phase 3

Not applicable
until Phase 3

Total waste
(Controlled and Special Waste)

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Recycling Rate
(excluding special waste)

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Waste disposed to Landfill

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Total waste expenditure
(Controlled and Special Waste)

£271,727

£295,117

+8.5%

Total water GHG emissions

157 tCo2e

151 tCo2e

-4%

Total water consumption

154,635 m3

157,320 m3

+2%

Total water expenditure

£794,428

£722,840

-9%

Total fleet travel GHG emissions

5,390 tCo2e

5,682 tCo2e

+5.5%

Total fleet expenditure

£2,567,573

£2,617,833

+2%

Total business travel GHG emissions

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Total business travel expenditure

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

kWh = kilowatt hour (a measure of energy)

tCO2e = tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
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Summary of Performance

Boundary

The consolidation of service contracts remains our primary
aim in 2018/19.

The SFRS reporting boundary remains static with no
change since 2016/17, this boundary status confirmed by
both Bureau Services and Anglian Water.

Delivery of a single national commercial waste contract
will enable SFRS to capture and manage associated
information on all aspects of our waste streams and
collection processes and associated outputs. We have
extended the contract support of an energy and bill
validation bureau service to ensure the continued and
effective management of SFRS energy use, collating
and checking utility consumption. Sharing energy
and water information and tasking sites with inputting
their own meter readings has provided every site with
the opportunity to access their own energy and water
consumption and better manage their own consumption.
Access to this information remains key to enabling
individual sites to take ownership of their own utility
consumption and build on enhanced organisational
awareness of utility consumption.
The monthly water meter readings provided by SFRS
building users continues to play a vital role in this journey.
These readings have reduced estimated billing practices,
enabling more accurate billing, and they serve as an
invaluable check mechanism to better understand spikes
in consumption data.

•
•
•
•
•

Electricity supply points
Gas supply points
Water supply points
LPG supply points
Gas Oil / Kerosene supply points

439
154
435
1
5

The following environmental impacts (metrics) have been
excluded due to the unavailability of data:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Leased Sites Data (electricity, gas, water and waste)
Total Waste (Controlled and Special Waste)
Waste Disposed to Landfill
Recycling Rate (excluding Special Waste)
Construction Waste
Business Travel
Private Borehole Water Consumption
Paper Consumption

We aim to implement systems to capture the data gaps for
these metrics.

The implementation of an Environmental Management
System (EMS) and embedded objectives (2017-2020)
within our Service will enable further reductions in utility
consumption and enhance corporate awareness of utility
consumption. Environmental modules are incorporated
within the SFRS training system, LCMS, to enable further
behavioural change and associated efficiencies.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Metric

Performance
2015-16

Performance
2017-18

Percentage + / -

Gross emissions
(tCO2e)

Total under scopes
1 – 3 (excluding water)

22,379

19,076

-15%

Scope 1
emissions

Gas

6,432

7,156

+10%

220

+7%

Other fuels for buildings 205
Road fleet

5,390

5,682

+5.5%

Scope 2
emissions

Electricity

10,195

5,867

-43%

Scope 3
emissions

Business Travel

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Total Waste (controlled
and special waste)

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Figures unavailable
at this time

Water supplied and
disposed

157

151

-4%

Our carbon baseline year was established in 2013/14,
the financial year when the single SFRS was formed. Our
Service’s carbon footprint for this period was measured
at 24,759 tCO2e emissions. In order to ensure that
this baseline is valid our carbon baseline is reviewed
periodically to capture SFRS building projects and
disposals and to accurately report progress.
Our carbon footprint for the 2017/18 financial year was
calculated at 18,925 tCOte. This is 15.5% lower than the
carbon footprint of 22,379 tCo2e for the 2015/16 Climate
Change baseline year and marks a 30% reduction on the
2013/14 Carbon Management Plan.
Substantial carbon reductions of 43% have been achieved
from scope 2 (electricity) savings which have enabled a
cumulative saving of 15.5%, offsetting marginal increases
in scope 1 carbon (gas and other fuels) and fleet, set
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against the 2015/16 Climate Change reporting baseline
year.
SFRS electricity is now from renewable generation,
this significant achievement serves to underpin our
organisation’s environmental and sustainability credentials.
A baseline comparison of 2017/18 performance
provides evidence that we continue to reduce our carbon
emissions. Enhanced data capture and information
gathering continues to develop further. The availability of
this data will remove some of the remaining restrictions on
information availability and drive further reductions.

Actions for 2018/19
• Further implementation of the Environmental
Management System in order to reduce estate energy
and water consumption
• Regional Property Managers to consider energy and
water saving features as part of any estate essential
repairs or capital projects
• Continue to develop our Carbon Management Plan
to identify projects that will reduce further carbon
emissions from the Service’s estate.
• Move towards providing all electricity supply from
green energy sources
• Progress a programme of Automatic Meter Reading
(AMR) equipment installations to improve bill accurate
and allow early fault finding for Gas, Electricity and
Water.
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Scope 1 and 2 Energy Use Buildings
Metric

Performance
2015-16

Performance
2017-18

Percentage + / -

Gross emissions
(tCO2e)

Total under scopes
1 and 2

16,832

13,243

-21%

Scope 1
emissions

Electricity
(non-renewable)

10,195

5,867

-42%

Gas

6,432

7,156

+11%

Other fuels for
buildings

205

220

+7%

Energy
consumption
(kWh)

Total

57,680,009

54,631,090

-5%

Energy
consumption by
type (kWh)

Electricity

22,057,589

20,726,410

-6%

Gas

34,869,218

33,364,261

-4.5%

Other fuels for
buildings

753,202

541,200

-28%

Expenditure (£)

Total

£4,305,891

£3,722,857

-14%

Expediture by
type (£)

Electricity

£2,992,214

£2,700,861

-10%

Gas

£1,290,042

£993,772

-23%

Other fuels for
buildings

£23,635

£28,224

+19%

Total energy consumption figures evidence an overall
8% reduction from CC baseline. Electricity and gas
consumption in 2017/18 have reduced by 9% and 8.5%
respectively, consumption of other fuels for buildings
remains at 12.6% above baseline for the second year
running although the reporting boundary is now static, this
anomaly highlights that some adjustment may be required
to the baseline.

been the focus of rigorous inspection and testing in order
to ensure that this energy intensive equipment is running
as efficiently as possible and that SFRS is fully complying
with legislative requirements works being facilitated
by the Hard Facilities Management (FM) Contract. This
resultant equipment rationalisation has provided a
significant reduction in electrical consumption and Carbon
emissions.

Developing a better understanding of energy
consumption and associated impacts remains key to
identifying opportunities for further savings. For example,
over the past year all air conditioning equipment with a
combined cooling output of greater than 12 kilowatts has

SFRS estate has seen much change, both acquisitions and
disposals. In order to reflect this change and to ensure that
energy and carbon data remains valid, the baseline year
data will be normalised (adjusted) over the next reporting
year.
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Waste Management
We are currently unable to provide consistent and
accurate data in relation to the quantities of waste sent to
landfill and that which has been recycled throughout the
estate due to the wide range of waste contractors and
approaches inherited from legacy services.

SFRS have engaged with The Energy Savings Trust to
assess the adoption of electric vehicles for the SFRS grey
fleet and to determine if SFRS can assist with a publicly
accessible network of electric vehicle chargers across the
highlands.

In response, the Service will deliver a procurement
exercise to establish a single waste management contract.
This waste contract will form a core part of the SFRS
Soft FM Contract which is being delivered by Property
and Procurement Functions. Once in place the contract
will deliver a uniform waste processing service, enable
full legislative compliance and provide consistent and
accurate data for further analysis. Having a single waste
collection and recycling contract will enable SFRS to
extend our sustainability reporting further in line with
ANNEX B (waste) of the Scottish Government’s Guidance
on the preparation of Annual Sustainability Reports
2012/13.

The ultimate challenge for the Business Travel Policy and
for this procedure will be for employees to determine if
business travel is absolutely necessary and to emphasise
that other alternative methods of communication such as
phone calls and video conferencing can be used just as
effectively to replace any intended journeys.

Actions for 2018/19
• Procure a single service waste contract for all SFRS sites
• Ensure that recyclable paper, plastic, metal, glass,
cardboard and food waste are not disposed of via
general waste
• Produce an awareness briefing note and training course
for the completion of waste transfer notes

Business Travel
The Service is in the process of developing a method for
capturing and recording business travel mileage. The
Service’s new Business Travel Policy will assist in delivering
this element once fully agreed and implemented across
the Service. The implementation of our Environmental
Management System will introduce a new Operation
Control Procedure for Employee Transport and Travel.

In order to encourage the use of energy efficient vehicles,
there are vehicle charging points at the following sites:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

National Headquarters, Cambuslang
West Service Delivery HQ, Hamilton
East SDA HQ and ARC, Newbridge Edinburgh
Dunfermline Fire Station, Dunfermline
Kirkcaldy Fire Station, Kirkcaldy
Thornton Offices, Thornton
Invergordon Fire Station and District Office,
Invergordon
• Inverness Vehicle Workshops, Inverness

Property is working towards further extension of this
network over the coming financial year.
Actions for 2018/19
• The Sustainability team will work towards delivering
an enhanced network of vehicle charging points to
prepare the way for Ultra Low Emission Vehicles

This procedure will state the responsibilities of both
employer and employee with regards to sustainable travel
in addition to establishing our first Transport Hierarchy. This
will favour environmental modes of transport such as green
travel, public transport and car sharing in order to limit
personal vehicle use.
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Water Use
Metric

Performance
2015-16

Performance
2017-18

Percentage + / -

Gross emissions
(tCO2e)

Total under scope 3

157

151

-4%

Water volume
(tCO2e)

Supply

53

47

-9%

Disposal

104

104

0%

Water volume
(m3)

Supply

154,635

157,320

+2%

Disposal

146,903

149,454

+2%

Total

£794,428

£722,840

--9%

Expenditure (£)

During 2017/18 high consumption alerts from the SFRS
utility provider identified significant underground leaks
and triggered repair works which combined with rigorous
bill analysis and the engagement of Stations in providing
meter readings helped to enhance the cross functional
awareness within the SFRS of the need to better manage
consumption.

Actions for 2018/19
• Our Property Function will continue to respond to utility
high consumption alerts executing repairs as required
and advising on opportunities to better manage water
consumption.
• Regional Property Managers to consider water saving
measures as part of any estate essential repairs or
capital projects
• Our Sustainability Team will continue to raise
organisational awareness and investigate high
consumption alerts.

Climate Change Adaptation
SFRS is responding to the need for climate change
Adaptation delivering both climate change mitigation
and adaptation. Mitigation means identifying significant
sources of carbon emissions within the Service that
contribute to climate change while creating realistic
solutions to significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions
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within the Service. Adaptation means analysing any
potential risks posed to the Service as a result of climate
change.
SFRS continues to use the Carbon Management Plan
(CMP) as a mitigation tool to identify buildings within
the estate which generate significant greenhouse gas
emissions. The CMP together with energy consumption
reporting datasets will list potential energy saving projects
for our sites in order to reduce our greenhouse gas
emissions.
The SFRS Property Hard FM Contract continues to deliver
a comprehensive programme of planned preventative
and responsive maintenance activities ensuring that SFRS
infrastructure continues to run effectively and efficiently
and carbon/energy savings are maintained.
In addition to mitigation, SFRS will assess its own
vulnerability to climate change using the Climate Change
Assessment Tool in order to adapt to the changing climate
as a result of greenhouse emissions.
The majority of reportable emissions are the outcome of
building (site) usage within Service. We currently have 143
Energy Performance Certificates (EPC) displayed at sites
which meet the current threshold for occupied public
buildings. From the data collated, a total of 12 sites are
rated at the energy efficiency value of D and above with
the remaining 131 sites rated at E to G. 110 sites are rated at
the energy efficiency value of G, which represents 76.9%
of the total 143 sites which have an EPC.

This data indicates that there is considerable scope for
building improvements within our sites to significantly
improve the energy efficiency rating of the Service’s
properties. This is also concurrent with our reportable
emissions which indicate the majority of carbon emissions
are from buildings. We will add the recommendations
stated on each Energy Performance Certificate to the CMP
list of projects to reduce energy consumption and increase
the energy performance of the estate.

Our procurement governance model provides a
framework to ensure consideration is given to the three
key areas of economic, environmental, and social factors
when analysing the impact of sustainable procurement.
It is against these three areas that consideration is
given when undertaking pre market engagement and
completing the Commodity Strategy, which together with
the development of targeted outcomes, will ensure that
sustainability is integrated into the procurement process in
a proportionate manner.

Sustainable Procurement
We recognise our responsibility to carry out all our
procurement activities in an environmentally and socially
responsible manner whilst achieving value for money
on a whole life basis. We are committed to observing
our sustainable procurement duty as stated within
the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014 and
continue to review and update our internal policies and
procedures to reflect our legal duty and to ensure the
proper consideration of how best we can improve the
social, environmental and economic wellbeing of our
communities through our procurement activity.
In support of our commitment to our sustainable
procurement duty, we have a nominated a Sustainable
Procurement Champion who is responsible for ensuring
compliance with legislation across the Service and
promoting the adoption of sustainable procurement
practices.
Our Procurement Strategy which is currently being
revised for publication in August 2018, provides
guidance and direction on sustainability and we aim
to continually develop and embed our commitment
within our processes and procedures which are subject
to review and monitoring through the implementation
of our Procurement Strategy Action Plan and relevant
performance indicators.
We are committed to the inclusion and consideration of
community benefits in all relevant procurement activity and
we have successfully delivered these in our Hard Facilities
Management Contract, various other property contracts
and in front line operational contracts. We have delivered
significant benefits in these contracts to communities that
we serve through the creation and protection of jobs,
apprenticeships, work experience, training upskilling
and the involvement of SMEs through sub-contracting
opportunities. Work continues in the development of our
Community Benefits Policy and Supported Business Policy.

We shall also continue to ensure that our procurement
processes can facilitate the involvement of SMEs, third
sector bodies and supported business whilst promoting
innovation in the market place. We are members of the
Supplier Development Programme (SDP) which consists
of Local Authorities, Scottish Government and a range of
other public bodies working together to support SMEs in
all aspects of tendering.
We expect and encourage our contractors and their
wider supply chain partners to adopt a similar ethos to
sustainability and we will engage with them to make them
aware of the SFRS’s commitment to the issue. We actively
support current and potential suppliers to participate
in our procurement activity and we work with them to
remove barriers to their participation. Our commitment
to this is shown with our continued support of supplier
engagement initiatives both in a Scottish context and in
the wider UK Fire and Rescue Sector.
We have adopted the use of Sustainability and
Prioritisation Toolkits, which assists staff involved in the
Commodity Strategy development, to identify areas
which have the greatest impact in relation to economic,
environmental and social issues thereby assisting in the
achievement of Scottish Government National Outcomes.
Staff will continue to receive training to enhance their
development in order to meet knowledge gaps in the
understanding of sustainable procurement.
environmental and social issues thereby assisting in the
achievement of Scottish Government National Outcomes.
Staff will continue to receive training to enhance their
development in order to meet knowledge gaps in the
understanding of sustainable procurement.
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
Directors Report
Introduction
The Scottish Fire and Rescue Service (SFRS) presents
its Annual Accounts for the year from 1 April 2017 to 31
March 2018. The Accounts have been prepared in a form
directed by the Scottish Ministers in accordance with
Section 42A(1) of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005 (inserted
by section 118 of the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act
2012), and in accordance with the Government Financial
Reporting Manual (FReM).

Statutory Background
The Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act received Royal
Assent on 7 August 2012, with responsibility for Police
and Fire and Rescue Services transferring from local
government to new central government Other Significant
Public Bodies on 1 April 2013.
The SFRS is governed by the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005,
amended by the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act
2012. It is responsible for fire safety, fire-fighting, attending
road traffic collisions and dealing with other types of
emergency. The SFRS also works with partner agencies
to be prepared for major emergencies and disruptive
challenges.

Reserve of the SoFP (Statement of Financial Position) rather
than in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
(SoCNE). All other income and expenditure is included in
the SoCNE. The deficit for the period is transferred to the
General Reserve and is funded by GiA held there.
The cash GiA drawn down in financial year 2017/18 was
£283.740 million for both resource and capital purposes
against a cash Departmental Expenditure Limit (DEL)
budget of £287.146 million. The variance arose from
variations in the working capital requirements due to
changes in year-end creditors and accruals.
The key measure of financial performance is the
comparison of expenditure against the Departmental
Expenditure Limit (DEL) funding provided by the Scottish
Government. The Net Resource Expenditure variance for
the year ended 31 March 2018 of £0.343 million relates
to a combination of factors. There was an overspend
of £1.650 million in Employee Costs, mainly due to
legislation requiring the payment of overtime when staff
are on annual leave, and an under-recovery in income of
£0.048 million. This is offset by an underspend of £1.500
million in expenses, mainly within Property and Supplies
and Services, and £0.541 million due to the gain on asset
disposals being higher than anticipated.

Chief Officer and Board Members
Chair: Kirsty Darwent (appointed 11 December 2017)
Pat Watters (retired 10 December 2017)
Deputy Chair: Bill McQueen (appointed 14 December
2017)
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer: Alasdair Hay
Board Members: Bob Benson
		Anne Buchanan
		Jimmy Campbell (retired October 2017)
		Marieke Dwarshuis
		Michael Foxley
		Robin Iffla
		Sid Patten
		Primrose Stark
		Fiona Thorburn

The SoFP shows net liabilities of £3.532 billion, due mainly
to the inclusion of liabilities related to defined benefit
pension schemes required by IAS19. These liabilities
will fall due in future years and will be financed by grant
funding from the Scottish Government. Budgets have
been approved for financial year 2018/19 and there is no
reason to believe that these approvals will not be granted
in the future. These financial statements have therefore
been prepared on a going concern basis.

Financial Performance

The attached Accounts are prepared on an accruals basis,
meaning transactions are matched to the period in which
they occurred, not when physical cash transactions took
place. This results in accounting adjustments, such as
accruals and prepayments, and also in relation to pensions
as required by International Accounting Standards (IAS)
19 – Employment Benefits. These are reflected in Total
Comprehensive Net Expenditure before Grant from the
Scottish Government of £475 million for financial period
2017/18 (Net Expenditure of £959 million in 2016/17), as
shown in the financial statements contained in the Annual
Accounts section of this document.

The format of the Accounts is set by the FReM. One of the
reporting requirements is that Grant in Aid (GiA) provided
by the Scottish Government is included in the General

The significant difference between the two years is due to
actuarial losses of approximately £54 million experienced

A full list of the company directorships and other significant
interests can be found on the SFRS website.
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during 2017/18 in relation to the Pension schemes that the
SFRS participates in, compared to losses of approximately
£600 million during 2016/17.
The accounting policy on employee benefits is detailed
in Note 1. The Remuneration Report provides detail of
pension related benefits for senior employees. The most
significant element is the impact of future pension liabilities
which is explained further in Note 13 later in the Accounts.
The key risks relating to financial instruments (credit,
liquidity and market risks) are discussed in Note 23.

Charging Policy
The primary statutory functions of the Scottish Fire and
Rescue Service are set out in the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005
(“the 2005 Act”), as amended by the Police and Fire
Reform (Scotland) Act 2012, as well as the Fire (Additional
Function) (Scotland) Order 2005 (“the 2005 Order”).
In summary, SFRS is required to protect and prevent our
communities from fire, enforce fire legislation, investigate
fire and provide fire and rescue emergency response to
our communities. No charges are levied as these services
are funded through Scottish Government.
Charges may be levied for special services supplied
by SFRS in line with the powers set out within the Fire
(Scotland) Act 2005, Fire (Charging) (Scotland) Order
2005 and Fire (Additional Functions) (Scotland) Order
2005. Charges have been developed based on the
expected actual cost of delivery to SFRS, including
overheads as per Scottish Government requirements.

Future Events
There are no significant events affecting SFRS which
have occurred since the end of the financial year. Future
developments have been included in the strategic report.

Asset Management Strategy
Effective asset management ensures that our essential
frontline services have the right equipment, ICT, vehicles
and appliances available to them at all times, as well
as providing accommodation that is safe, secure and
strategically located for effective service delivery.
The Asset Management Strategy assists in ensuring
that the SFRS is entirely compliant with regards to the
regulatory, contractual and legislative commitments
but, more than that, it also ensures that we strive to
implement best practice wherever possible. Our
Strategy is underpinned by the SFRS Strategic Plan and
is now fully embedded within our Long Term Financial

Strategy. It’s our commitment to the environment and
our environmental vision to be ‘a high performing,
environmentally conscious and responsible organisation
through prevention, partnership, people and continuous
improvement’; we understand that we have a significant
role to play in protecting the environment, reflected in our
vision and strategy.

Staff Communications
We have continued to deliver our Communication and
Engagement Strategy during the year. We have further
extended communication channels, including the extensive
development of our social media platforms; the launch
of a new employee digital magazine – The Shout; the
introduction of an interactive online staff forum; the use of
digital engagement tools to directly engage geographicallyspread employees; and the wider use of video to
communicate key messages.
We have strengthened our capability through the
appointment of a series of experienced personnel, and have
further improved efficiencies through the use of templates
for graphics and selected media activity, as well as the
full utilisation of our online press office and stakeholder
engagement tool. We have also put in place stronger
measurement tools, now with the capability to track
engagement levels across a range of our communication
channels. Furthermore, we undertook a full review of the
SFRS brand and launched new, more contemporary, design
language supported by the organisations first ever set of
brand guidelines – ensuring greater consistency in use.
The primary focus has been on delivering communications
and engagement to support Transformation and,
specifically, the Public Consultation. This saw the delivery
of a fully integrated programme – utilising a range of
channels - which engaged staff, key stakeholders, the
public and utilised the media to reach a wide audience.
This programme to support the Consultation included:
Over 190 external stakeholder engagements; over 950
staff engagement sessions; 26 individual staff messages;
over 92,000 hits on the interactive staff forum; and over
450 column inches in the national media. Furthermore,
a comprehensive set of materials was produced for
managers, providing them with consistent briefing
materials for use with both employees and stakeholders.
Combined, these helped develop understanding of the
transformation vision and supported over 1550 responses
to the Consultation.
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Equal Opportunities
Details of our Equal Opportunities polices and activities are
included within the Sustainability Report section.

Government Actuary’s Department (GAD), Belford House,
59 Belford Road, Edinburgh, EH4 3UE

Banking
Sickness Absence Data
Details of our Sickness Absence are included within the
Performance Target Results section.

The SFRS operates within the Scottish Government
banking contract with the Government Banking Service
(GBS), which is a shared banking service for government
departments.

Research and Development
No research and development activities took place during
2017/18.

The main banks used by the SFRS within the GBS are Royal
Bank of Scotland and National Westminster Bank (part of
the Royal Bank of Scotland Group).

Policy and Practice on Payment of Creditors
The SFRS terms and conditions for payment of suppliers
is to pay suppliers within 30 days of the invoice date.
Analysis of our performance during 2017/18 shows that
95% of invoices were paid within this timescale (90% in
2016/17).

Independent Auditors and Professional Advisers
Under the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland)
Act 2000, auditors are appointed by the Auditor General.
Deloitte LLP has been appointed to carry out this duty for
the year ending 31 March 2018.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the SFRS auditor is not aware. The
Directors have taken all reasonable steps that they ought
to have taken in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the SFRS
auditor is aware of this information.

Bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland, PO Box51, 36 St Andrews Square,
Edinburgh, EH2 2AD
Royal Bank of Scotland, London Corporate SC,
PO Box 39952, 2 1/2 Devonshire Square,
London Corporate SC, EC2M 4XJ
National Westminster Bank, London Corporate SC,
CPB Services, 2nd Floor, 280 Bishopsgate,
London, EC2M 4RB

Contact Us
We appreciate all comments and will ensure all feedback is
kept confidential.
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters,
Westburn Drive, Cambuslang, G72 7NA.

The auditor’s remuneration for providing statutory audit
services for financial period ending 2017/18 is £0.1 million
(£0.105 million in 2016/17). No non-audit services were
provided in this period.

Auditor
Deloitte LLP, 110 Queen Street, Glasgow, United Kingdom,
G1 3BX

Accountable Officer: Alasdair Hay CBE, QFSM, Chief Officer
Organisation: Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

Actuaries

25 October 2018

Barnett Waddingham LLP, 163 West George Street,
Glasgow, G2 2JJ
Hymans Robertson, 20 Waterloo Street,
Glasgow, G2 6DB
Mercer, Exchange Station, Tithebarn Street,
Liverpool, L2 2QP
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
Under the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012, the
SFRS is required to prepare financial statements for each
financial period in the form and on the basis determined by
the Scottish Ministers. The Accounts are prepared on an
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the SFRS and of its income and expenditure,
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the
financial period.

Scottish Ministers have appointed the Chief Officer as the
Accountable Officer for the SFRS. The responsibilities of
an Accountable Officer, including responsibility for the
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which
the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper
records and for safeguarding SFRS’ assets, are set out in
the Memorandum to Accountable Officers for Other Public
Bodies issued by the Scottish Government and published
as part of the Scottish Public Finance Manual.

In preparing the Accounts, the Accountable Officer
is required to comply with the requirements of the
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular
to:
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish
Ministers, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting
policies on a consistent basis;

Accountable Officer: Alasdair Hay CBE, QFSM, Chief Officer
Organisation: Scottish Fire and Rescue Service
25 October 2018

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set
out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual have
been followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the financial statements; and
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis.

In addition, SFRS has general responsibility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to it to safeguard its assets
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Governance Statement
Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control, risk
management and corporate governance that supports
the achievement of the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service’s
(SFRS) policies, strategic aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which
I am personally responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me.
I am also responsible for ensuring that the SFRS is
administered prudently and economically and that
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the Principal
Officers Memorandum to Accountable Officers of Other
Public Bodies.

The SFRS Corporate Governance Framework
Members of the Board are appointed by the Scottish
Ministers in line with the Code of Practice for Ministerial
Appointments to Public Bodies in Scotland. During
2017/18 the SFRS Board (‘the Board’) comprised of twelve
Non-executive Members including the Non-executive
Chair. Throughout this reporting period this was reduced
to a total of ten Non-executive Members following the
retiral of the Non-executive Chair, Pat Watters and one
further Board Member towards the end of 2017.
The Deputy Chair of the Board Kirsty Darwent was
subsequently appointed as the new Chair of the Board to
coincide with these events with Bill McQueen, an existing
Board member, elected as the new Deputy Chair of the
Board. A process for appointing new Board members
started in April 2018 looking to appoint a further six during
2018/19 in anticipation of three further Board member
retirals. The normal term of office for Non-executives Board
Members is four years although lengths of appointments
may be varied of appointments may be varied to ensure
continuity of Board membership and maintenance of
appropriate skill sets.

The Board
The Board is responsible for providing strategic direction,
support and guidance to the SFRS, ensuring it discharges
its functions effectively and that Ministers’ priorities are
implemented. The SFRS Governance and Accountability
Framework Document sets out these responsibilities in
detail, along with the formal relationships between the
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SFRS and the Scottish Ministers and Officials.
The Board discusses, debates and makes decisions in a
number of areas and, in particular focuses on:
• the quality of the service being delivered and how this
can be improved;
• strategic decisions, including key areas for future
development, and
• financial position and performance, to ensure that the
SFRS is in line with its targets and statutory obligations.
(Further information on our Board can be found on the
SFRS Website)
The Board has approved Standing Orders and a Scheme
of Delegations (incorporating matters reserved to the
Board) in place that outline the responsibilities for the
Board, Chief Officer and Strategic Leadership Team
(SLT) on key issues such as governance and financial
transactions. All staff are required to comply with the
requirements set out in these documents.
During 2017/18, the Board met eight times in public and
made the minutes and papers of these meetings available
on the SFRS website. The Board also conducted one
meeting in private during this reporting period.
The highlights of the Board’s work during 2017/18 were
as follows:
• Existing Deputy Chair of the Board Dr Kirsty Darwent
was appointed as the new Chair of the SFRS Board
following the retiral of previous Chair of the Board Pat
Watters in December 2017
• Pat Watters, following his retirement in December
2017, was subsequently co-opted to sit on the
Remunerations Appointments and Nominations SubCommittee (RANSC) as a non-Board member through
to March 2018 as part of the ongoing negotiations on
remuneration
• The Board elected Bill McQueen as the Deputy Chair
of the Board replacing Dr Kirsty Darwent following her
appointment as the new Chair in December 2017
• Scrutinised and monitored the financial management
of the SFRS to ensure that the 2017/18 capital and
resource budgets were on target. Approved the
Long Term Financial Strategy 2017-2027, Budget
Strategy 2018/19, Resource Budget 2018/19, Capital

•
•

•
•
•

•

•

•

•
•

•

Programme 2018-2021 (indicative figures were used for
years 2 and 3 and these will be refined in the future)
Approved the Digital Strategy 2018-2021
Approved the Strategic Risk Register and supporting
risk action plans, incorporating the new agreed risk
appetite assessment and risk owners
Approved the Annual Operating Plan 2017/18
Approved three key projects to support Scottish
Governments Social Impact Pledge Initiative
Approved key corporate governance policies,
including the Strategic Risk Governance Framework
which outlines the proposed reporting framework for
strategic risks to SFRS Committees
Approved arrangements for reviewing the effectiveness
of the board. Considered the outcomes of the
Committee Review and approved the implementation
of the revised structure
Approved the review of the Scheme of Delegations,
approved revised Terms of Reference for the SFRS
Transformation Committee and a change of name to
‘Transformation and Major Projects Committee’
Approved the proposed format for Board Performance
Reporting with knowledge that further development
was still required
Approved the SFRS Re-design – Programme Mandate
Approved personnel policies, plans and reports
of major significance to the SFRS, including Equal
Pay Report 2016/17, Environmental Policy and
Environmental Objectives, Health, Safety and
Wellbeing Annual Report 2016/17
Received regular updates from the Board’s Standing
Committees, seeking assurances on specific matters
that were delegated to the Committees for scrutinising.

Board Members
The biographies and interests of Board members can be
found on the SFRS website at http://www.firescotland.
gov.uk/about-us/sfrs-Board.aspx. During the course
of the year, two Board members retired, a new Chair
was appointed December 2017 and Deputy Chair was
appointed December 2017. A public appointment
process started on 4 April 2018 looking to recruit six new
Board members between June and October 2018.
SFRS Board meetings attended by members during
2017/18 are detailed in the table below.
Name of
Board Member
		
		

Number of
meetings
attended
in year

Possible

P Watters (Past Chair –
Retired December 2017)

6

6

K Darwent (Deputy Chair –
Chair from December 2017)

9

9

R Benson

9

9

J Campbell (Retired October 2017)

4

4

M Dwarshuis

9

9

M Foxley

8

9

R Iffla

8

9

W McQueen
(Deputy Chair from December 2017)

9

9

S Patten

8

9

P Stark

8

9

F Thorburn

8

9

A Buchanan

9

9
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Committee Structure and Coverage
In order to manage the totality of its business and to enable
a detailed level of scrutiny work during 2017/18, the
Board had a Committee structure comprising four standing
Committees and one Sub-committee. Further to this an
Integrated Governance Group was formally established
in June 2017 to allow for the Chairs of all the Committees
to meet in order to provide assurance to the SFRS Board
that issues identified in specific governance Committees
are discussed across the Board thereby ensuring joined up
corporate governance. Each of these Committees have a
Terms of Reference, which were reviewed and approved
by the Board. The most recent review of the Committee
Structure was agreed at the March 2018 Board meeting.

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC)
The ARAC scrutinises the systems and processes in
place across the organisation to provide the Board and
Accountable Officer with assurance that it is effectively
governed, well run and on track to achieve its strategic
aims and objectives.
The ARAC comprises five non-executive members and
during 2017/18 met four times in public. Representatives
from the external and internal auditors attended all
meetings and were given the opportunity to speak to
the Committee members. The Accountable Officer and
senior officers, including the Director of Finance and
Contractual Services were invited to attend the ARAC,
as appropriate. Representatives from Her Majesty’s Fire
Service Inspectorate (HMFSI) were also invited to attend to
provide their annual report.

The highlights of the ARAC’s work during 2017/18 were as
follows:
• Agreed a programme of work with Internal Audit for
2017/18 and beyond and satisfied itself as to the
overall adequacy and appropriateness of internal audit
coverage
• Considered the assurance levels and recommendations
in reports issued by Internal Audit and the management
responses to them
• Monitored the implementation of recommendations
arising from prior year audits
• Noted that no significant control weaknesses were
identified in the course of Internal Audit’s work
• Noted the overall opinion given by Internal Audit in its
Annual Assurance Report, offering Interim Reasonable
Assurance in respect of SFRS’ governance, risk
management and control arrangements for 2017/18,
based on its completion of the agreed 2017/18 workplan and additional activities undertaken
• Agreed the scope, timetable for and planning of the
external audit for 2017/18, through consideration of the
Audit Plan presented by Deloitte
• Noted the positive management responses to
recommendations from the external auditors in the
Audit Findings Report
• Provided External Audit with the opportunity to meet
privately with the Committee and the Chair to discuss
matters in confidence. No matters were raised that
would require to be disclosed in this report

SFRS
Board

Integrated
Governance Group

Transformation
& Major Projects
Committee

SFRS Delivery
Committee

Audit and
Risk Assurance
Committee

Staff Governance
Committee

Remuneration,
Appointments and
Nominations
Sub Committee

Figure 1 - SFRS Board Committee Structure during 2017/18
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• Reviewed regular updates on risk management
arrangements and revisions to the Corporate Risks
through the Strategic Risk Register
• Received assurances that risk management is integrated
within the organisation’s business processes and that
suitable training takes place to ensure this is understood
throughout
• Reviewed the SFRS Assurance Framework that
will support ongoing assurances required by the
Committee and the Annual Governance Statement
noting that a comprehensive structure of assurance is in
place
• Received assurances that the recommendations
from Internal Audit 2016/17 in relation to the Annual
Governance Statement were being progressed
with regard the introduction of a Policy around the
Arrangements for preparing the Annual Governance
Statement, Training Packages and the introduction
of Improvement Action Plans in order that any areas
highlighted as part of the Internal Control Checklist are
progressed and monitored accordingly
• Noted that overall the SFRS continues to enhance
the risk management arrangements and assurance
framework within the organisation
• Received and reviewed the accounting policies that
underpin the financial statements
• Considered in more detail the accounting policies
relating to items of materiality in the financial statements
including going concern, pensions and fixed assets
• Received assurances around the financial systems and
controls that provide the figures for the accounts and
the changes to the Accounting Standards for 2017/18
confirming that there were no changes for SFRS
Accounting Policies for 2017/18
• Following agreement between the Committee
members and supported by the SFRS Risk and Audit
Manager, requested on behalf of the Committee for
senior responsible managers to attend to present a
‘spotlight report’ in relation to specific risks within
Strategic Risk register and this will be monitored going
forward as to its effectiveness
• Supported the mitigating of risk throughout the
organisation around ‘risk themes’ as agreed by the
Board and now incorporated across all Committees and
fed back through the Integrated Governance Group
• Completed a Value Added Statement to demonstrate
how the Committee had contributed to delivering the
Board’s role.

ARAC meetings attended by members during 2017/18
are detailed in the table below.
The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee
Name of
Board Member
		

Number of
meetings
attended in year

Possible

P Stark (Chair)

4

4

J Campbell
(Retired October 2017)

2

2

M Dwarshuis

4

4

A Buchanan

3

4

F Thorburn

4

4
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Transformation & Major Projects Committee (TMPC)
The TMPC provides oversight and direction on the
development and achievement of the Transformation
Programme and Benefits Realisation Plan.
The TMPC comprises five Non-executive Members and
during 2017/18 met five times in public. Representatives
from the Fire Brigades Union (FBU), Deputy Chief
Officer, Director of Strategic Planning, Performance and
Communication and other senior officers were invited to
attend the meetings as appropriate.

The highlights of the TMPC’s work during 2017/18 were
as follows:
• Transitional year for the Committee and its work, moving
from overseeing and formally closing down the 20132016 Transformation Programme (through which the
integration of eight previous Services into the SFRS
was managed), to establishing the governance routes
through which the next phase of transformation of the
SFRS will be overseen and scrutinised, and agreeing the
building blocks of the new Transformation Programme
• Workshops sessions held, reflecting the fast changing
and developing nature of the transformation agenda
during this period

• Agree the programme governance methodology,
clarifying roles of Programme Office, Programme Board,
Transformation and Major Projects Committee and the
Board
• Met with the (Executive) Programme Board to review
and clarify the respective roles and relationship
• Initiated an SG Gateway review of the new SFRS
Transformation Programme
• Developed a new approach for risk management and
reporting for individual projects within the Programme
Office as well as the totality of its work, aligning this
more closely to the Risk Registers of the relevant
Directorates as well as the Corporate Risk Register
• The Committee reviewed, in private session where
appropriate, programme plans and project dossiers
amongst others for, High Level SFRS Redesign Plan (and
Communications and Engagement Strategy), Rapid
Response Units, Business Process Review Phase 1, Rural
Full-Time Posts and Command and Control Futures
Phase 2 (new mobilising system)
• The Committee reviewed its Terms of Reference (and
name) in light of the establishment of the Programme
Office (and its role in relation not only to transformation
projects, but to other major projects as well), and
proposed amendments which have subsequently been
agreed by the Board

• In relation to the scrutiny of the 2013-2016
Transformation Programme, the Committee agreed
the ongoing reporting requirements for those projects
closing after 2016, whereby detailed ongoing scrutiny
would be in place for key projects (in terms of profile/
risk/value), and exception reporting only would be
required for less critical ongoing projects of the old
programme

• Completed a Value Added Statement to demonstrate
how the Committee had contributed to delivering the
Board’s role.

• The Committee continued (and continues) to oversee
these projects, and to agree their closure upon receipt
of satisfactory evidence of benefits delivered. The
Committee also agreed closure of individual projects
where developments within the SFRS or the wider
environment have meant that these were no longer
relevant

Transformation & Major Projects Committee

• The Programme Office within SFRS was established,
following a key recommendation from the 2013-16
Programme’s closure report. The Committee worked
with the Programme Office team to establish criteria for
inclusion of projects (whether transformation or BAU) in
the Programme Office, and so within the scrutiny of the
Committee
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TMPC meetings attended by members in the year during
2017/18 are detailed in the table below.

Name of
Board Member
		

Number of
meetings
attended in year

Possible

M Dwarshuis (Chair)

5

5

M Foxley

2

5

R Benson

5

5

R Iffla

4

5

P Stark

4

5

Service Delivery Committee (SDC)
The SDC was formed in April 2017, as such it is in the early
stages of establishing itself as a key part of the governance
framework of the organisation. The overall purpose of the
SDC is to scrutinise, monitor and review performance,
and provide assurances to the Board relating to quality of
Service Delivery nationally through operational efficiency
and effectiveness, operational safety, and delivery of
approved Prevention and Protection and Response and
Resilience strategies.

-

Workshops on Response and Resilience and 		
Prevention and Protection related issues; Home
Fire Safety Visits (HFSV), Unwanted Fire 		
Alarm Signals (UFAS), Major Incidents

-

Oversight of the production and publication of
SFRS National Statistics

-

Liaison with other SFRS Committees on Service
Delivery related matters

-

Early consideration of the opportunities for 		
meaningful benchmarking

The SDC comprises five Non-executive Members and
during 2017/18 met five times in public. The Deputy
Chief Officer and Director of Response and Resilience,
Prevention and Protection and Strategic Planning,
Performance and Communication and other senior officers
were invited to attend the meetings as appropriate.

• Completed a Value Added Statement to demonstrate
how the Committee had contributed to delivering the
Board’s role.

The highlights of the SDC’s work during 2017/18 were as
follows:

Although not an exhaustive list of the Committee’s activity
over 2017/18 and since its conception this provides an
indication of not only the work undertaken to date, but
also the amount of ongoing activity and development
work to be undertaken during 2018/19 .

• Examined a number of important areas on behalf of the
SFRS Board: (i) the challenges faced in the collection
and scrutiny of performance data; (ii) the opportunities
presented in supporting evidence based decision
making, (iii) the advantages to be gained from sharing
information with related organisations, (iv) the levels
and status of operational assurance across Service
Delivery and (v) improved clarity on a number of
processes and issues
• Some specific examples are:
-

The formation of Statements of Assurance for 		
both Response and Resilience and Prevention 		
and Protection

-

The detailed scrutiny of operational performance
data and proposals for improvements in design
and presentation

-

Presentations to the Board on Critical Incident 		
and Service Delivery Models, the Operational 		
Assurance Process, and the Board Performance
Dashboard

-

Proposals for further improvements in data 		
collection procedures

-

Response and scrutiny in relation to relevant 		
HMFSI Reports

SDC meetings attended by members during 2017/18 are
detailed in the table below.

Service Delivery Committee
Name of
Board Member
		

Number of
meetings
attended in year

Possible

S Patton (Chair)

5

5

R Benson

5

5

F Thorburn

5

5

M Foxley

3

5

K Darwent (attendances as
full member of the Committee
prior to being appointed
as Chair of Board)

2

3

J Campbell –
(Retired October 2017)

3

3

Annual Report and Accounts 2017-2018

54

Staff Governance Committee (SGC)
The SGC provides strategic advice and direction on
matters affecting employees and ensures that staffing and
remuneration arrangements support the strategic aims and
objectives of the SFRS, and are affordable.
The SGC comprises five Non-executive Members and
during 2017/18 met four times in public. The Director
of People and Organisational Development (POD) and
other senior officers were invited to attend the meetings as
appropriate.

The highlights of the SGC’s work during 2017/18 were as
follows:
• Consideration of POD Policy updates regarding new
and existing policies due for review, either as a result of
legislative changes, best practice or procedural change.
SGC also made recommendations, via the forward plan,
about which specific policies should go forward to the
Board for approval
• Monitoring the performance of SFRS in relation to
agreed POD performance indicators and ensuring
compliance with relevant statutory obligations as an
employer
• Supporting the work of the RANSC in advising on
the remuneration and appointments strategy and
supporting frameworks. In addition to four scheduled
meetings of the RANSC, some fifteen additional
meetings were required to lead negotiations on behalf
of the employer for the harmonisation of uniformed staff
terms and conditions, both whole-time and retained
duty, and in respect of uniformed and support staff pay
claims
• Review of SFRS’s activities in relation to the Working
Together Framework, in order to maintain an
environment of productive employee relations. These
include preparations to report facility time under the
Trade Union Act from July 2018 and to ensure a smooth
transfer of responsibility for chairing the Employee
Partnership Forum to the FBU
• Receiving updates regarding the whole-time duty
system and the people-related impacts of the change to
a universal five watch duty system
• Considering appeals against dismissals and as required
by SFRS employment and pension policies
• Reviewing proposals to enhance the SFRS Employee
Benefits Framework in support of SFRS’s strategic aim to
be an employer of choice
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• Ensuring SFRS’s achievement of the Living Wage
Accreditation and considering its associated impacts
• Reviewing SFRS’s ‘Balancing the Workforce Profile
plan’, developed to improve the attraction of underrepresented groups across all SFRS vacancies and
diversify the SFRS’s workforce profile. As part of this,
there was a specific review of Equal Pay and Gender Pay
Gap information prior to formal reporting
• Reviewing the work of the National Joint Council’s
Inclusive Fire SFRS Group (including information
regarding the Inclusive Fire Service Group 2017 Cultural
and Behavioural Survey)
• Consideration of SFRS implications in relation to the
Redundancy Modification Order and approval of an
extension to the indemnity until a clearer position is
established via legislation
• Reviewing the content of, and timescales for the
implementation of, the SFRS Staff Survey
• Review and approval of the Health, Safety and
Wellbeing Annual Report to ensure the overarching
approach to the health, safety and wellbeing of staff is
sufficient
• Consideration and approval of the Leadership and
Management Framework and associated Executive and
Strategic Development Centres
• Scrutiny and approval of the Workforce and Strategic
Resourcing Plan 2018 – 2021
• Consideration of Scottish Public Pensions Agency Board
updates in relation to the Firefighter Pension Scheme
• Completed a Value Added Statement to demonstrate
how the Committee had contributed to delivering the
Board’s role.
SGC meetings attended by members during 2017/18 are
detailed in the table below.
Performance Committee
Name of
Board Member
		

Number of
meetings
attended in year

Possible

W McQueen (Chair)

4

4

K Darwent
(attended as full member of
the Committee prior to
becoming Chair of Board)

1

2

R Iffla

3

4

A Buchanan

3

4

S Patten

3

4

P Stark (from December 2017)

2

2

Integrated Governance Group (IGG)
The IGG was formed in June 2017 to provide assurance
to the SFRS Board that issues identified in specific
governance Committees are discussed across the Board,
thereby ensuring joined up corporate governance.
The Group comprises five Non-executive Members and
during 2017/18 met three times in private. The Chief
Officer and other senior officers were invited to attend the
meetings as appropriate.

Review of Board Effectiveness
The Board continues to be committed to developing its
capacity and capability to be effective, and ensures that
its performance as a whole, as well as the performance of
individual Committees and individual Board Members is
regularly reviewed. During 2017/18, the Board’s review of
how well it was performing was primarily informed by:
• The annual appraisal of the Chair and each Board
Member
• A review of the effectiveness of the Board’s Committees

IGG meetings attended by members during 2017/18 are
detailed in the table below.

Integrated Governance Group
Name of
Board Member
		

Number of
meetings
attended in year

Possible

K Darwent (Chair)

3

3

M Dwarshuis

3

3

W McQueen

3

3

S Patten

2

3

P Stark

2

3

• Concluding Audit Scotland’s recommendations to the
SFRS.

During 2017/18, the Chair of the Board carried out an
annual appraisal for each Board member on how they
had performed. The senior civil servant responsible for
the SFRS in the Scottish Government also appraised the
Chair’s performance.
The outcomes of Board Members appraisals and
production of a skills matrix was used to consider the
Board’s strengths and weaknesses and therefore helped
to inform its medium to long term succession planning
arrangements. These arrangements included supporting
the Scottish Government’s strategy of having a 50:50
gender representation on the Boards of public bodies by
2020.
A non-executive workshop was held on 16 February 2017
to review Board effectiveness. This included a session
facilitated by Chief Executive of the Improvement Service
on ‘The Changing context for Scottish public services,
challenges and issues for the SFRS’ and a review of the
outcomes from an online Board Effectiveness Survey
completed by Board members. The feedback from this
session continues to be used to inform the future direction
of the Board.
A further development day was programmed for all Board
members in April 2018, facilitated by Margaret Williamson
from Board Room Development. The objectives being to:
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• Reflect on the 2017/18 Board review and the themes
emerging from Board member appraisals, identify any
areas for improvement and create an action plan
• Share views on a preferred style of chairing the Board
• Reach consensus about how the Board engages with
the wider system (partners, collaborators, stakeholders,
staff etc.)

the year to the IGG, highlighting potential emerging
governance issues to its Members for noting and feedback
to ensure continuous improvement.
Published in May 2015, Audit Scotland’s report into the
SFRS recommended that it should:

• Discuss what needs to happen to ensure a smooth
transition (integrating new members and continuing to
value the contribution of those who will leave during
2018).

“Provide board papers that are timely with an
appropriate level of detail. There should be
a balance between quantity and quality and
papers should differentiate between operational
information and information that the board
needs for strategic decision-making”.

The Board continues to adopt a Zero-based Committee
structure, whereby all committees are stood-down
automatically at the end of each year and the Board then
re-evaluates their committee’s needs. As a basis for the
2017/18 Committee review, and the annual review of
the Boards effectiveness, it was identified that the future
scrutiny needs of the Board needed to be aligned to the
Board’s future priorities, outcomes and ambitions. As
a result the Board fully approved the implementation
of these recommendations in April 2017, whereby the
Engagement Committee and Performance Committee
were stood down with the formation of a new Service
Delivery Committee and Integrated Governance Group.

In response to this recommendation a number of
improvement actions were undertaken within SFRS
including an extensive lessons learned exercise from the
reform process with a final report being published. The
last of the recommendations was the implementation of a
standard template and guidance for preparing Corporate
level papers, which was approved by the Board at its
meeting on 27 April 2017 a further review of this template
took place at the start of 2018 to further improve aspects
of corporate governance, with a revised template being
approved for 2018/19 onwards.

Most recently a further Committee Structure review was
completed, which primarily focused on membership
in relation to the new structure. This was approved by
the Board in March 2018, followed closely by a review
of the Committees Terms of References, which were all
subsequently approved in April 2018.
To support our approach the SFRS have developed a
Code of Corporate Governance (The Code) that was
published on our website in May 2017. ‘The Code’ is
intended to be a living document that will evolve in line
with best practice through our processes for continuously
reviewing and improving the effectiveness of our
governance arrangements. It fully supports the outcomes
and priorities set out in our Strategic Plan for 2016-19, in
particular the strategic priority of Governance and Social
Responsibility.
Following the formation of the SFRS Integrated
Governance Group, arrangements were discussed to
consider the routine reporting of performance against
‘The Code’. As a result, performance reporting is now
presented against ‘The Codes’ six principles throughout
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Risk and Control Framework

• Internal and External Audit

SFRS provides a diverse range of services to the
communities of Scotland and is committed to improving
community safety and response and resilience, whilst
addressing inequalities and enhancing safety and
wellbeing.

• Business Planning

The provision of these critical services is undertaken within
an ever changing and challenging environment that
presents risks that have to be effectively managed. SFRS
is fully committed to the development, implementation
and ongoing monitoring and review of an integrated
risk management framework, identifying, managing
and scrutinising those risks which may impact upon the
successful achievement of the key priorities of the SFRS.
The aim of the SFRS is to be risk aware, allowing innovation
and aspiration, whilst actively managing risk through a
range of measures to ensure key priorities are met. The
framework will follow the principles of the International
Standard in Risk Management ISO 31000 establishing a
consistent and effective framework integrated within the
Governance and Assurance arrangements of the SFRS.
The SFRS recognises that it cannot entirely eliminate
the risk of disruption to its service delivery and that a
residual level of risk will always remain. However, the risk
management framework has been developed in order to
minimise the likelihood of and the impact of risk causing
disruption to daily activities.
The focus throughout 2017/18 was the continued
development of a risk aware culture through the
management of risk integrated within the business
planning processes of the organisation.

• Financial Management
• Fraud Policies and Procedures
• A Procurement Framework
• Human Resources
• Health, Safety and Wellbeing
• Information Governance
• Operational Assurance
Further evidence of the internal control environment is
provided through the SFRS’s Assurance Framework and
Certificates of Assurance.
Robust review, monitoring and scrutiny arrangements
reflect the priority placed upon the effective management
of risk within the SFRS. The Audit and Risk Assurance
Committee (ARAC) advises the Board and the
Accountable Officer on the effectiveness of strategic
processes for risk management and internal controls.
During 2017/18, quarterly written and verbal reports to
the ARAC and periodic reports from the Chair of the ARAC
to the Board, provided assurance that appropriate systems
of risk management and internal control were in place.
Similar reporting arrangements were adopted by the
Strategic Leadership Team (SLT), to ensure awareness and
ownership of risk was retained throughout the Directorates
of the SFRS. Integration of the Strategic Risk Register
within the SFRS Assurance Framework and associated
assurance reporting processes further enhances scrutiny
arrangements.

The SFRS’s Risk Management Procedures provide a single,
consistent approach for the identification, recording,
assessment and reporting of risk across the entire SFRS.
These procedures are integrated within the SFRS’s
Planning and Performance Framework, and are used as
a management tool to understand and mitigate the risks
causing uncertainty in the delivery of the SFRS’s strategic
aims and objectives. It is, however, only one component of
the SFRS’s internal control arrangements and is supported
by other mechanisms that include:
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Risk Assessment
The most significant risks identified by the SFRS are
reported through the Strategic Risk Register with
escalation processes ensuring that Directorate and Project
Registers support and inform the Strategic Risk Register.
Prioritisation of each risk is undertaken in line with the
SFRS’s risk assessment matrix, with guidance provided to
staff around probability and likelihood ratings.
During 2017/18 a review of the strategic register was
undertaken. The new Strategic Risk Register is aligned
to the SFRS 2016-2019 Strategic Plan, reflecting the
revised values and priorities of the SFRS. Workshops
and individual meetings with Board Members, Strategic
Leadership Team (SLT) and the Senior Management Team
(SMT) have shaped the new register, further increasing
awareness and ownership of risk across the SFRS.
The Strategic Risk Register identifies 8 strategic risk themes
and a number of supporting sub-risks, or Corporate Risks,
which collectively will manage the most significant risks of
the SFRS.

The eight strategic risks are outlined below:
• Failure to minimise communities exposure to risk and
harm
• Failure to protect the Health, Safety and Wellbeing of
firefighter and other employees
• Failure to deliver SFRS Transformation
• Failure to ensure financial sustainability
• Failure to ensure Legal Compliance is maintained
• Failure to have in place a suitably skilled, engaged and
flexible workforce, ensuring capacity, to deliver SFRS
priorities
• Failure to maintain effective systems of control
• Failure to maintain confidence in the SFRS
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Strategic risks will be managed collectively by the SLT
whilst each Corporate Risk has been allocated to an
identified Deputy Assistant Chief Officer (DACO) or
Head of Function. Risk owners provide information
on current controls in place and additional actions still
required to mitigate the impact or probability of a risk
occurring. Scrutiny and assurance as to the adequacy and
effectiveness of controls is undertaken through quarterly
reporting to the ARAC and the SLT, and annually through
the SFRS Assurance Framework.

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
As Accountable Officer, I am responsible for reviewing
the effectiveness of systems of risk management, internal
control and corporate governance. My review is informed
by many sources, and includes the work of the Executive
Directors, the ARAC, and the views of the organisations
internal and external auditors and the outcomes of
inspection work carried out by independent bodies such
as HMFSI.
The key findings of the review are outlined below.

Assurance Framework
The SFRS Assurance Framework provides a structured
means of identifying and mapping the main sources of
assurance in the organisation, and co-ordinating this
evidence to provide an overall opinion of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the SFRS’s risk management, and
internal control arrangements.
During 2016/17 a report provided by SFRS Internal Audit
identified further improvements relating to our governance
arrangements, in particular the Annual Governance
Statement, on behalf of the Accountable Officer. As
a result a significant amount of work was completed
during 2017/18 with all recommendations from the audit
being fully incorporated into the SFRS Assurance Plan and
reported back through the Internal Audit team and ARAC.
This work also confirmed that the assurance mapping
exercise conducted in previous years had evolved and
matured in order to ensure robust governance and internal
control measures, aligning to the SPFM. Duplication
has subsequently been reduced wherever possible and
the overall framework has strengthened our governance
arrangements through the preparation of a formal Policy
for Preparing the Annual Governance Statement on
behalf of the Accountable Officer. Together with this a
specific e-learning training programme, Improvement
Action Plans, and Executive monitoring through the newly
formed Corporate Assurance Board (CAB) have also been
introduced looking forward to 2018/19. This additional
monitoring increases the level of scrutiny as part of our
continuous improvements and prior to being put before
the ARAC.

the assurance evidence being gathered and assessed was
focussed on the most appropriate areas of the SFRS. Prior
to its implementation, the assurance plan was considered
by the ARAC at its meeting held on 28 March 2018. The
evidence gathered and assessed was rated using the same
categories adopted by our Internal Auditors (Substantial,
Reasonable, Limited and Insufficient).
Following receipt of the Certificates of Assurance from
my Directors I can report that there are no significant
matters that have been identified and I can therefore
provide assurance that effective and standardised systems
of control are in place and operating effectively. Any
necessary action will be taken by responsible managers
to ensure continuous improvement is made in areas
of development that have been identified during this
process, and adequately addressed in order to enhance
the effectiveness of our risk management and internal
control arrangements.
These areas of further development are fully captured
within the Improvement Actions Plans which link where
appropriate to Corporate Risk through Strategic and
Directorate Risk Registers, building this into our business
as usual processes. This will be closely monitored through
the Corporate Assurance Board and ARAC to provide
assurances that suitable progress is being made.

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee
The ARAC provides an Annual Report to the Accountable
Officer and the Board, summarising its evaluation of
the SFRS’s risk management, governance and internal
control arrangements. The ARAC has submitted its
Annual Report based upon the work it conducted during
2017/18 and is of the opinion that the SFRS has effective
risk management, governance and internal control
arrangements in place that are sufficient to give me, as the
Accountable Officer the necessary assurance in relation to
the preparation of this Annual Governance Statement.

As a result of these improvements during 2017/18, a
risk-based assurance plan was followed, to ensure that
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Internal Audit
Internal Audit activity was undertaken in accordance
with UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors International
Professional Practices Framework, and also with the
standards set out in the Scottish Public Finance Manual.
These standards require Internal Audit to provide an
objective opinion supported by sufficient, reliable and
relevant evidence.
The Internal Audit framework for assessing assignment
and overall assurance opinions is set out at Annex 1 of
the Annual Assurance Report to ARAC for its meeting
on 14 June 2018. After careful consideration of all of the
evidence, Internal Audit have provided “reasonable”
assurance for 2017/18, which means in general terms that,
controls were adequate but require improvement.
The table below provides additional information in relation
to individual audits undertaken during 2017/18.

Audit Area
HR/Payroll System Payments and Allowances for
Retained Duty System (RDS)

Limited Assurance

SFRS Income arrangements including invoice raising and
receipting processes

Reasonable Assurance

SFRS Fire Fighter Training Programme

Reasonable Assurance

Corporate Responsibility arrangements
(Health, Safety and Welfare)

Reasonable Assurance

Fuel Management
ICT Security of SFRS systems

The approved SFRS audit programme for 2017/18 has
now been sufficiently covered and Internal Audit are able
to provide SFRS with a Reasonable Assurance in respect
of SFRS’ risk management, control and governance
arrangements.
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Limited Assurance
Reasonable Assurance

External Audit

Executive Directors

The Auditor General for Scotland has appointed Deloitte
LLP as auditors to the SFRS covering a 5 year period from 1
April 2016 ending 1 April 2021.

Executive Directors have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the risk management
and internal control arrangements within their area of
responsibility. As stated they provide me with a Certificate
of Assurance covering a self-assessment of areas
including risk management, business planning, financial
management, project management, procurement, human
resources, security and health and safety. The Directors,
in turn receive individual Certificates of Assurance and
supporting Internal Control Checklists from their Deputies
together with relevant Improvement Action Plans
demonstrating how identified risks are being addressed.
During 2017/18, this exercise culminated in a total of 22
individual Certificates of Assurance being prepared.

A Planning Report was submitted to the Audit and Risk
Assurance Committee on 28 March 2018 updating the
Committee on Deloitte’s External Audit activity for the
SFRS for the period 2017/18.
The conclusions of the Audit will be reported to ARAC on
9 October 2018 and included within the Annual Report
and Accounts for 2017/18.

Her Majesty’s Fire Service Inspectorate (HMFSI)
The SFRS has a duty under the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005 to
have regard to any report given to it by HMFSI and, having
had regard to it, to take such action as it thinks fit. During
the period under review, HMFSI published the local area
inspection reports listed below:
• Moray
Further to this the HMFSI conducted an inspection and
published a report on:
• Fire Safety Enforcement by the Scottish Fire and Rescue
Service
Further to this HMFSI produce a routine quarterly report
that is now presented by the Chief Inspector at the SDC
meetings. The report allows for monitoring of general
progress against the HMFSI inspections and reporting
activity. Our response to the recommendations and other
key findings from the inspection reports published during
2017/18 continue to be monitored by the Performance
Improvement Forum, with oversight and scrutiny of this
work through the SDC. These mechanisms form part
of SFRS’s broader corporate governance arrangements
and ensure that we are meeting our statutory obligation
to have regard to HMFSI inspection reports, and taking
action to continuously improve and transform the services
we deliver to the communities of Scotland.

Significant Issues
My review confirms that overall the SFRS has a sound
system of risk management and internal control
arrangements in place that supports the achievement our
strategic aims and objectives which is under pinned by
our policies and procedures. No significant issues during
2017/18 have been identified.
As part of our on-going work and our commitment
towards continuous improvement, we have identified
areas for development in our risk management and internal
controls arrangements. These will therefore be addressed
through specific Improvement Action Plans for relevant
managers.

Accountable Officer:
Alasdair Hay CBE, QFSM, Chief Officer
Organisation:
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service
26 October 2018
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Remuneration and Staff Report
The sections marked “*” in this Remuneration Report
have been audited by the SFRS’s external auditor, Deloitte
LLP. The other sections of the Remuneration Report are
reviewed by Deloitte LLP to ensure they are consistent with
the financial statements.
Remuneration of Board Members
Fees for Non-executive Board Members are determined
in accordance with guidelines prescribed by the Scottish
Government – Public Sector Pay Policy for Senior
Appointments. The normal term of office for a member is
a period not exceeding 4 years. The average time spent
on SFRS business was 49 days in 2017/18 and 39 days in
2016/17. The amounts paid to each Board Member are
shown in the following table.

Board Member

2017/18
£000

2016/17
£000

Pat Watters (Chair to December 2017)

60

60

Kirsty Darwent (Deputy Chair to December 2017 then Chair)

39

17

Robert Benson

11

9

James Campbell (retired on 23/10/17)

5

7

Marieke Dwarshuis

15

15

Michael Foxley

15

10

Robin Iffla

10

10

Bill McQueen (Deputy Chair from December 2017)

22

17

Sid Patten

17

16

Neil Pirie (retired on 23/10/16)

0

6

Martin Togneri (retired on 23/10/16)

0

8

Grant Thoms (retired on 23/10/16)

0

3

Anne Buchanan (appointed on 24/10/16)

10

3

Primrose Stark (appointed on 24/10/16)

11

3

Fiona Thorburn (appointed on 24/10/16)

11

1

226

185

TOTAL
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*Remuneration of Senior Employees of the Board

The salary, allowances, benefits in kind and pension
related benefits of the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) are
shown by band in the following table. Full time equivalent
salaries are shown in brackets where appointments started
or finished during the year.

Reporting bodies are required to disclose a single total
figure for remuneration for each senior employee.
The salary of senior uniformed employees is set by the
National Joint Council for Brigade Managers. Other
benefits received by senior employees include those
relating to transport and other ancillary expenses. The
salaries of other senior employees is currently set by
CoSLA.

The Government Actuary Department carried out a
revaluation of the uniformed members’ pension values
resulting in variations to figures previously reported in
2016/17. The comparative figures shown in the following
tables have been prepared on the same basis.

2017-18
Name and Title

Salary Bands
of £5000

Benefits
In Kind to
nearest
£100

Annual
Long-term
Performance- Performancerelated
related
Bonuses bands
Bonuses
of £5000

Pension-related
Benefits annual increase
in pension
entitlement
bands of
£2500

Total Bands
of £5000

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Alasdair Hay, Chief Officer

170 - 175

5.1

0

0

(27.5) - (30.0)

145 - 150

Iain Bushell, Deputy Chief Officer
(appointed 19 June 2017)

105 - 110
(135 - 140)

8.0

0

0

22.5 - 25.0

135 - 140

Robert Scott, Assistant Chief Officer
(retired 1 October 2017)

60 - 65
(125 - 130)

1.1

0

0

(2.5) - (5.0)

60 - 65

Lewis Ramsay, Assistant Chief Officer

125 - 130

3.0

0

0

80.0 - 82.5

210 - 215

David McGown, Assistant Chief Officer

125 - 130

1.0

0

0

230.0 – 232.5

360 - 365

Sarah O’Donnell, Director of Finance and
Contractual Services $

100 - 105

7.3

0

0

40.0 - 42.5

150 - 155

Mark McAteer, Director of Strategic
Planning, Performance and
Communications $

100 - 105

0

0

0

32.5 – 35.0

135 - 140

Diane Vincent, Director of People and
Organisational Development $
(resigned on 8 February 2018)

115 - 120

7.3

0

0

37.5 - 40.0

165 - 170

Elizabeth Barnes, Acting Director of
People and Organisational Development
$ (from 8 January 2018)

80 – 85
(100 - 105)

0

0

0

30.0 - 32.5

110 - 115

£000s

The dollar sign ($) denotes support staff, the others are members of the uniformed pension schemes.
The salary for Diane Vincent includes a payment of £30,000 as compensation for loss of office.
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The comparative 2016/176 figures are shown in the following table.
2016-17
Name and Title

Salary Bands
of £5000

Benefits
In Kind to
nearest
£100

Annual
Long-term
Performance- Performancerelated
related
Bonuses bands
Bonuses
of £5000

Pension-related
Benefits annual increase
in pension
entitlement
bands of
£2500

Total Bands
of £5000

£000s

£000s

£000s

0

0

(5.0) – (7.5)

165 – 170

2.2

0

0

(27.5 - 30.0)

100 - 105

125-130

1.0

0

0

22.5 - 25.0

150 – 155

Lewis Ramsay, Assistant Chief Officer

125-130

2.3

0

0

20.0 - 22.5

150 -155

David McGown, Assistant Chief Officer
(started 22 July 2016)

110–115

1.9

0

0

417.5 - 420.0

530 -535

Sarah O’Donnell, Director of Finance and
Contractual Services $

100-105

7.2

0

0

32.5 – 35.0

145 – 150

Diane Vincent, Director of People and
Organisational Development $

100-105

4.3

0

0

32.5 – 35.0

140 – 150

Mark McAteer, Director of Strategic
Planning, Performance and
Communications $

100-105

0

0

0

30.0 - 32.5

130-135

£000s

£000s

Alasdair Hay, Chief Officer

165-170

s4.1

Alex Clark, Deputy Chief Officer
(retired 13 February 2017)

125-130
(135-140)

Robert Scott, Assistant Chief Officer

The dollar sign ($) denotes support staff, the others are members of the uniformed pension schemes.
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*Employees Remuneration by Pay Band
The employees of the Service receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the period (including those named above,
but excluding employer’s pension contributions) were paid the following amounts:

Remuneration Band £s
		

2017/18
Number of employees

2016/17
Number of employees

50,000 - 54,999

114

109

55,000 - 59,999

58

52

60,000 - 64,999

62

61

65,000 - 69,999

5

6

70,000 - 74,999

12

12

75,000 - 79,999

4

7

80,000 - 84,999

4

6

85,000 - 89,999

7

3

100,000 - 104,999

1

1

105,000 - 109,999

1

1

110,000 - 114,999

1

1

115,000 - 119,999

0

1

125,000 - 129,999

1

2

130,000 - 134,999

2

1

170,000 - 174,999

0

1

175,000 - 179,999

1

0

273

264

TOTAL
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*Ratio of Median Remuneration of All Staff
Compared to Chief Officer’s Remuneration
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship
between the remuneration of the highest-paid director
in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The table below includes the median remuneration of the
SFRS staff, and the ratio between this and the mid-point
of the highest paid director (the Chief Officer), including
salary and benefits in kind.

			
		£000s

2017/18
£000s

2016/17
£000s

Chief officer’s mid-point
banded remuneration
including benefits in kind

177.5

172.5

Median remuneration of staff

29.9

29.6

Ratio

5.9

5.8
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The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director
in SFRS in the financial year 2017/18 was £177,500
(£172,500 in 2016/17). This was 5.94 times higher
than the median remuneration of the workforce (5.83 in
2016/17), which was £29,934.
In 2017/18, none of the employees (nil in 2016/17)
received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director. Remuneration ranged from £11,613 to £176,611
(£15,451 to £173,920 in 2016/17). The increase in range
for 2017/18 is due to the employment of apprentice
personnel.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated
performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does
not include severance payments, employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of
pensions.

*Pension Benefits
The pension entitlements of Senior Employees for the
period to 31 March 2018 are shown in the table below,
together with the contribution made by the Service to
each Senior Employee’s pension during the period.
Pension benefits for the Chief Officer and Assistant Chief
Officers are provided through the Firemen’s Pension
Scheme (FPS), with the Deputy Chief Officer’s benefits
being provided through the Firefighters’ 2015 Pension
Scheme. These are both unfunded schemes, meaning
there are no investment assets built up to meet pension
liabilities, and cash has to be generated to meet actual
pension payments as they eventually fall due. The normal
retirement age for those in the FPS is 55, or between 50
and 55 on reaching 30 years’ service, and 60 for the 2015
Scheme.

Name

Accrued Benefits
age 60 at
31 March 2018

The 2015 Scheme is a Career Average Revalued Earnings
(CARE) Scheme whereby pension benefits are based
on earnings received within each year worked, which
are index linked and totalled on retirement to provide
an annual pension. Pension benefits for the Director of
Finance and Contractual Services, the Director of People
and Organisational Development and the Director of
Strategic Planning, Performance and Communications are
provided through the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS), which is a CARE Scheme. The normal retirement
age is the State Pension Age. The pension figures shown
in the following table relate to the benefits that the person
has accrued as a consequence of their pensionable service
within the scheme, and not just their current appointment.
The disclosure requirement is to reflect pension benefits
within bandings of £2,500, however only the top of the
range is shown in the following tables.
Real increases
as at
31 March 2018

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value

Pension

Lump
Sum

Pension

Lump
Sum

At
31 March 2018

At
31 March 2017

Real
increase

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

110 - 115

0

0.0

0

2,011

1,940

(7)

0-5

0

0 - 2.5

0

18

0

3

Robert Scott, Assistant Chief Officer
(retired 1 October 2017)

80 - 85

0

(2.5) - 0

0

1,280

1,251

(1)

Lewis Ramsay, Assistant Chief Officer

85 - 90

0

2.5 - 5

0

1,230

1,148

32

David McGown, Assistant Chief Officer

85 - 90

0

10 – 12.5

0

1,236

1,045

153

75.5

2.5 - 5

0

647

602

20

0-5

0

0 – 2.5

0

49

25

13

30 - 35

50.3

0 – 2.5

0.6

503

466

17

0-5

0

0 – 2.5

0

33

2

15

Alasdair Hay, Chief Officer
Iain Bushell, Deputy Chief Officer
(appointed 19 June 2017)

Sarah O’Donnell, Director of Finance and 40 - 45
Contractual Services $
Mark McAteer, Director of Strategic
Planning, Performance and
Communications $
Diane Vincent, Director of People and
Organisational Development $
(resigned 8 February 2018)
Elizabeth Barnes, Acting Director of
People and Organisational Development
$ (from 8 January 2018)

The dollar sign ($) denotes members of the LGPS, the others are members of the Firemen’s Pension Scheme.
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The table below shows comparative figures for 2016/17 year:

Accrued Benefits
age 60 at
31 March 2017

Name

Real increases
as at
31 March 2017

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value

Pension

Lump
Sum

Pension

Lump
Sum

At
31 March 2017

At
31 March 2016

Real
increase

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

110 - 115

0

0 -2.5

0

1,940

1,872

(8)

Alex Clark, Deputy Chief Officer
(retired 13 February 2017)

85 -90

0

0

0

1,242

1,217

(26)

Robert Scott, Assistant Chief Officer

85 - 90

0

0 - 2.5

0

1,251

1,191

12

Lewis Ramsay, Assistant Chief Officer

80 - 85

0

0 - 2.5

0

1,148

1,069

30

David McGown, Assistant Chief Officer
(started 22 July 2016)

70 - 75

0

20 - 22.5

0

1,045

714

298

Sarah O’Donnell, Director of Finance
and Contractual Services $

35 - 40

75.0

0 - 2.5

0.2

602

542

36

Diane Vincent, Director of People and
Organisational Development $

30 - 35

49.7

0 - 2.5

0.1

466

416

31

0-5

0

0 - 2.5

0

25

2

13

Alasdair Hay, Chief Officer

Mark McAteer, Director of Strategic
Planning, Performance and
Communications $

The Government Actuary Department carried out a revaluation of the uniformed members’ pension values resulting in variations to figures
previously reported in 2016/17. The comparative figures shown in the table above have been prepared on the same basis as for 2017/18.

69

Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

Notes
1. The employer’s contribution rate for the FPS is 29.6%
of pensionable pay. The employer’s contribution
for those in the LGPS is 19.3% of pensionable pay
in 2017/18. No change in contribution rates from
2016/17.
2.

The Firemen’s Pension Scheme and LGPS have
different contribution rates and different benefits. The
uniformed officers’ pension benefits are presented
as unreduced pension benefits, i.e. there is no
automatic lump sum, as members have the option not
to commute an element of their annual pension until
the point at which they retire. Benefits accrue on a
1/60th basis per year, which increases to 2/60ths per
year when the employee reaches 20 years of service.
An employee can elect to commute, or give up, up to
25% of their annual pension in order to receive a lump
sum. For example, an officer aged 50 with 30 years
of service would receive a lump sum of £22,400 for
every £1,000 annual pension commuted, although
this figure is variable dependent on age and service.
The employee contribution rates are tiered based on
salary; those noted above contributed 17% of their
salary in 2017/18.

3.

Assistant Chief Officer Robert Scott retired during
2017/18 resulting in a negative increase in pension
figures. Accrued pension figures are taken at the date
of leaving for this member.

4.

The accrued pension benefits for the Director of
Finance and Contractual Services and the former
Director of People and Organisational Development,
who are members of the LGPS, include elements for
both lump sum and annual pension, having joined the
LGPS before 1 April 2009. This guarantees a pension
based on 1/80th accrual rate, and a lump sum based
on 3/80th of final pensionable salary and years of
pensionable service prior to this date. The conditions
of the LGPS changed with effect from 1 April 2009,
after which benefits are accrued on 1/60th basis with
no automatic right to a lump sum. The employee
may however, elect to reduce their annual pension to
receive a lump sum in the same manner as members
of the Firefighters Pension Schemes. For example, an
employee would receive a lump sum of £12,000 for
every £1,000 annual pension commuted, irrespective
of age or service. The Director of Strategic Planning,
Performance and Communications joined the LGPS
in March 2016 and the current Director of People and
Organisational Development joined in October 2016,
both have not yet met the two year vesting period
to qualify for a pension. The employee contribution
rates are tiered based on salary; those noted above
contributed 9.9% of their salary in 2017/18.
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Exit Packages
a payment to the pension fund for the increased costs
associated with the exit package.

The following table shows the number of exit packages,
all of which were voluntary, agreed at each cost band. The
total cost includes redundancy payments and strain on
pension fund costs. Strain on pension fund represents

There were 40 new exit packages in 2017/18.

2017-18

2016-17

Exit package
cost band

Number of voluntary
severance packages

Total cost of exit
packages in each
band (£000s)

Number of voluntary
severance packages

Total cost of exit
packages in each
band (£000s)

£0 - £20,000

29

281

0

0

£20,000 - £40,000

7

228

0

0

£40,001 - £60,000

4

198

0

0

40

707

0

0

TOTAL

Off-payroll Engagements
The table below shows all off-payroll engagements, or
those that reached six months in duration, within 2016/17
and 2017/18 financial years, for more than £220 per day
and that last for longer than six months.
2017-18
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2016-17

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration

0

2

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the department the
right to request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

0

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

0

2

Of which:
assurance has been received

0

2

assurance has not been received

0

0

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0

0

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility, during the year

0

0

Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or senior
officers with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure
includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

0

0
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Staff Numbers and Related Costs
Details of Staff numbers and costs are shown below as well
as in Note 4 to the financial statements.
The average number of persons employed in the year
ended 31 March 2018 was 7,823 (7,971 in previous year).
Staff costs are shown in the following table:

			Year ended 31 March 2018		
		
Permanent
Others
Total
£000s
£000s
£000s
Wages and Salaries
Other Pension Costs
Social Security Costs

179,470
142,549
17,198

0
0
0

Sub-total
339,217
0
				
IAS19 pension costs
(15,006)
0
charged to net expenditure
Other staff related costs
Total net costs

Year ended 31 March 2017
Permanent
Others
Total
£000s
£000s
£000s

179,470
142,549
17,198

176,315
129,338
16,860

0
0
0

176,315
129,338
12,844

339,217

322,513

0

322,513		

(15,006)

(35,157)

0

(35,157)

9,083

682

9,765

8,279

1,011

9,290

333,294

682

333,976

295,365

1,011

296,646

Note that the total of £0.682 million shown under
“Others” for the year ended 31 March 2018, (£1.011
million for the year ended 31 March 2017) represents the
costs of staff employed on temporary contracts through
employment agencies. The Other Pension Costs of
£142.549 million in 2017/18 reflects an increase in lump
sums and pensions paid compared to the previous year
(£129.338 million in 2016/17).
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Workforce Structure
Our workforce structure is monitored and reviewed on an
ongoing basis and is formally reported on a monthly and
quarterly basis. Consideration is given to the authorised
Target Operating Model (TOM) against the current full
time equivalent headcount. The variance is identified
by analysing the leaver profile across all uniformed and
support staff roles. Information on our workforce data is
published in our Fire Safety and Organisational Statistics
(Scotland) 2017/18.
Our staff turnover remains fairly high. This year 423
new starts were recorded against 586 leavers (47.4%
through retirements, 46.6% through resignations and the
remaining 6% through other reasons).
			
The year we ran a very successful Wholetime Firefighter
campaign. Following a response of 4,373 applications,
332 candidates were placed in a holding pool, 105
of which commenced employment in early 2018. A
Firefighter Control campaign was also carried out which
realised a total of 35 successful candidates from 299
applicants.
We have also run several national uniform campaigns at
Station Manager, Group Manager and Area Manager
levels and carried out support staff recruitment to manage
current and future vacancies in areas and functions which
are identified as more challenging to resource.
To meet the demand of resourcing our RDS Units there
is an ongoing recruitment process which is considered
both nationally and locally with training intakes every two
months.
To attract more underrepresented groups to the Service,
we carried out several Positive Action recruitment session
and remain committed to being a “Disability Confident”
employer.
To underpin the workforce planning and resourcing
arrangements a Workforce and Strategic Resource
Plan is being produced which will also highlight the
organisational drivers for transforming the role of the
Firefighter and also the current and future challenges
faced in resourcing the appropriate individuals in the
correct location at the right time. The Plan highlights the
continued requirement for effective interdependencies
between LSO Areas and Directorate functions to ensure
that not only the correct resourcing numbers are in place
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but also there is an appropriate balance of skills to enable
our crews to deploy effectively to operational incidents.

Gender Pay Gap
The Gender Pay Gap information published in 2017,
recognised that whilst some progress had been made to
reduce the gender pay gap further work was required.
In this reporting year significant progress has been made
towards this in terms of working towards an agreement
on the harmonisation of uniformed terms and conditions,
a project to improve the collection of sensitive employee
data and the implementation of the Balancing the
Workforce Profile Action Plan. These measures will enable
more meaning reporting and a clearer measurement of the
gender pay gap.

Employee Relations
Trade Unions play an important role in the modern
workplace and there are considerable benefits to both
employers and employees when organisations and unions
work well together. The Scottish Fire and Rescue Service is
committed to working in partnership with our recognised
trade unions. This commitment is demonstrated through
the Working Together Framework and is supported by
ongoing Recognition Agreements.
The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements)
Regulations 2017 came into effect on the 1st April 2017.
These regulations place a legislative requirement on
relevant public sector employers to collate and publish,
on an annual basis, a range of data on the amount and cost
of facility time within their organisation. The purpose of
these regulations is to promote transparency and allow for
public scrutiny of facility time.

Trade Union Act 2016: Facility Time Reporting from
1 April 2017- 31 March 2018 (not included in statutory audit)
Table 1 - Relevant union officials
The total number of SFRS employees who were relevant
union officials during the relevant period is shown in the
following table:

Table 2 - Percentage of time spent on facility time
The following table shows the number of SFRS employees
who were relevant union officials employed during the
year ending 31 March 2018 and the percentage of their
working hours spent on union duties:

Table 3 - Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
The following table provides the percentage of the total
pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant
union officials for facility time during the year ended 31
March 2018.

Number of employees who
were relevant union officials
during the relevant period

Full-time equivalent
employee number

154*

153.5

*This number also includes all those who are recognised as
representatives who would be eligible to take time off for trade union
duties but have not requested any time off during the reporting
period.

Percentage of time

Number of
employees

0%

113

1-50%

33

51-99%

3

100%

5

Percentage of time

Figures

Total cost of facility time

£344,051*

Total pay bill

£198,814,365

Percentage of the total pay bill
spent on facility time, calculated
as: (total cost of facility time ÷ total
pay bill) x 100

0.17%

*The total cost of facility time of £344,051 noted above includes
employer costs such as NI and pension contributions where
applicable.

Table 4 - Paid trade union activities
As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, the
number of hours spent by employees who were relevant
union officials during the relevant period on paid trade
union activities is shown in the following table:

1815 ÷ 18066 x 100 = 10%
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage
of total paid facility time hours calculated as: (total hours
spent on paid trade union activities by relevant union
officials during the relevant period ÷ total paid facility
time hours) x 100
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Absence Data
Sickness absence data is detailed below as well as in the Performance Target Resultst.
One of our key transformation projects was to amalgamate eight legacy HR/Payroll systems into a single iTrent database. This is
now complete and allows the Service to consistently and accurately monitor absence and equality data.
Following on from the rolling completion of the payroll amalgamation project in 2015-16, we now have staff absence data for two
complete fiscal years (2016-17 and 2017-18). In the 2017-18 fiscal year there was no specific target allocated for staff absences as
such, although there will be a set of targets derived from 2018-19 onwards.
To provide some indication of the relative levels of staff absences in SFRS the tables below provide the number of recorded staff
absences by staff group, for the two available fiscal years (2016-17 and 2017-18).

Long-Term Absence
2016-17

2017-18

Staff Group

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Overall

Wholetime

63

73

48

43

Retained

84

75

70

71

Volunteer

3

2

3

2

10

Volunteer

4

Control

8

9

2

8

27

Control

11

Support

27

28

25

36

116

Support

27

185

187

148

160

680

Total

Staff Group

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Overall

227

Wholetime

56

52

61

50

219

300

Retained

88

85

63

70

306

4

4

3

15

11

3

3

28

33

29

29

118

186

185

160

155

686

Staff Group

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Overall

Total

Short-Term Absence
2016-17

2017-18

Staff Group

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Overall

Wholetime

732

758

850

837

3,177

Wholetime

677

775

818

837

3,107

Retained

296

257

264

342

1,159

Retained

254

236

300

378

1,168

Volunteer

-

1

-

-

1

1

2

2

-

5

Control

54

48

55

71

228

Control

57

57

64

62

240

Support

171

156

201

232

760

Support

188

163

194

250

795

1,253

1,220

1,370

1,482

5,325

1,177

1,233

1,378

1,527

5,315

Total

Volunteer

Total

Short term absence is defined as any single period of absence up to a maximum of 28 days. Long term sickness is defined as
a period of absence lasting longer than 28 days. The recorded number of long-term and short-term absences each year is very
similar across staff groups over the past two years.

Context
Attendance rate is an important indicator for any employer. It can give an early warning of safety concerns or welfare problems.
Careful management of attendance also gives us the tools to step in and bring staff back to work in a reduced capacity if we can.
The public sector as a whole sees good attendance ratings as important indicators that absence is being effectively managed.
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Improving health, safety and wellbeing
arrangements
We continue to develop our approach to the management
of health and safety based upon the principles of the
well-established and proven Health and Safety Executive
guidance document HS (G) 65 “Successful Health and
Safety Management”.
In support of our Health and Safety Plan for 2018/19 and
to drive improvement at a local level, Service Delivery Area
and Directorate Annual Health and Safety Improvement
Plans are also now in place. These focus on specific
actions and emerging risk and are progressed through
formal business partner arrangements. The harmonisation
of health and safety management arrangements across
the SFRS continues in support of the Health, Safety
and Wellbeing Policy. This all recognises the differing
needs across the organisation whilst ensuring a
common approach, efficiency in the use of health and
safety resources and promoting collective legislative
compliance.
We are developing a Health and Wellbeing Framework. In
preparation we have undertaken significant work to review
and revise our psychological support services. These
new services will incorporate both a counselling service
and a post incident support service and are designed to
support the mental wellbeing of our workforce, ensuring
employees have access to the right type of support at the
right time.
Our post incident support service will deliver an enhanced
level of provision designed to ensure all operational
staff in attendance at critical incidents are automatically
screened, offered support and if appropriate referred for
specialist trauma focussed treatment. A communications
plan to promote the launch of these new services is in
development. Looking forward, further work is planned
for 2018/19 to scope the potential use of the Blue Light
Wellbeing Framework within SFRS.
Health and safety performance reports continue to be
enhanced to assist business partners in the scrutiny of
health and safety performance at a local level and to
promote the embedding of robust health and safety
management. We have also developed and implemented
a series of accident reporting and investigation training
to identified staff to support robust investigation and

the identification of lessons to be learnt. To support
our management of information a bespoke IT based
health and safety management system is currently in
development. These systems will also support the Board
and its Committees in their role in scrutinising health and
safety across the SFRS.

Equality, Human Rights and Inclusion
We continue to recognise the role that public services
play in tackling inequality and improving the life chances
of the people of Scotland. Supporting individuals and
communities access public services and participate
in public life remains a priority for the Service. The
commitment to partnership working provides an
opportunity to extend the reach of the Service beyond
its core functions of emergency response and fire safety
prevention.
The Scottish Emergency Services Reform Collaboration
Group (RCG) is one such initiative that provides an
opportunity to work with key partners to improve public
services, remove unnecessary duplication and generate
sustainable methods of joint working. The ambitions set
for the group extends to:
• Improve outcomes for people
• Transform by rebalancing how we deploy resources
towards prevention activities
• Enhance the skills of our workforce
• Improve how we work in partnership and collaborate
with others
• Further build and strengthen community resilience
• Exploit new technology in redesigning our services
• Develop more flexible service models.
This is to be achieved by identifying and exploiting
at strategic level opportunities for co-locating; coresponding; sharing knowledge and integration. The
Scottish Emergency Services National Collaboration
Strategy sets out in detail the scope and mechanism by
which co-production, shared knowledge and resources as
well as service alignment can deliver improved, responsive
and more cost effective public services.
Supporting colleagues in understanding and meeting
their obligations for mainstreaming equality continues to
be the primary focus of the Equality and Diversity Team. A
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new e-learning package, enhanced online resources and
a revised Professional Behaviours and Equality induction
training programme have recently been introduced.
The Service’s Transformation Programme is being
developed with equality, diversity, human rights and
inclusion considerations pursued from the outset with
each project aligned with an equality practitioner in an
advisory capacity.
Equipping managers with the right tools to effectively
manage a diverse workforce is key to modernising the
workplace and we have recently reviewed the Dignity and
Integrity in the Workplace Policy, the Positive Action Plan
and developed a Balancing the Workforce Plan to address
the under representation of certain groups within the
workforce in both their retention and their appointment.
The introduction of a new self-service employee
monitoring system will assist the SFRS in developing
employment practices that reflect the needs of our
workforce and provide a mechanism to examine the
impact of our policies and practices on individuals
identified within the protected characteristics of the
Equality Act 2010.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Scottish Fire
and Rescue Service, the Auditor General for Scotland and the
Scottish Parliament
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it
is addressed in accordance with the Public Finance
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no
other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of
the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor
General for Scotland, we do not undertake to have
responsibilities to members or officers, in their
individual capacities, or to third parties.

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements in the annual
report and accounts of Scottish Fire and Rescue Service
for the year ended 31 March 2018 under the Police
and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012. The financial
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the
Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers Equity and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2017/18
Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2017/18
FReM).
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements:
• give a true and fair view in accordance with the Police
and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 and directions
made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers of the state
of the body’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of its net
expenditure for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and
adapted by the 2017/18 FReM; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland)
Act 2012 and directions made thereunder by the
Scottish Ministers.

Basis of opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the body in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK including the Financial
Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern basis of
accounting
We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:
• the use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or
• the body has not disclosed in the financial statements
any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about its ability to continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting for a period of
at least twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the
financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of the
Accountable Officer Responsibilities, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
the financial reporting framework, and for such internal
control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for assessing the body’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless deemed
inappropriate.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements

Report on regularity of expenditure and income

Our objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Opinion on regularity

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of
our auditor’s report.

Other information in the annual report and accounts
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other
information in the annual report and accounts. The other
information comprises the information other than the
financial statements, the audited part of the Remuneration
and Staff Report, and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters
prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland to the
extent explicitly stated later in this report.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read all the other information in the
annual report and accounts and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
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In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure
and income in the financial statements were incurred or
applied in accordance with any applicable enactments
and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers.

Responsibilities for regularity
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the
regularity of expenditure and income. We are responsible
for expressing an opinion on the regularity of expenditure
and income in accordance with the Public Finance and
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.

Report on other requirements
Opinions on matters prescribed by the Auditor
General for Scotland
In our opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and
Staff Report has been properly prepared in accordance
with the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 and
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit
• the information given in the Performance Report for
the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements
and that report has been prepared in accordance with
the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 and
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers;
and
• the information given in the Governance Statement
for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements
and that report has been prepared in accordance with
the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 and
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.

Matters on which we are required to report by
exception
We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to
report to you if, in our opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept; or

•

the financial statements and the auditable part of the 		
Remuneration and Staff Report are not in agreement 		
with the accounting records; or

•		 we have not received all the information and 		
		 explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it
is addressed in accordance with Part VII of the Local
Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and for no other
purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code
of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts Commission,
We do not undertake to have responsibilities to members
or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties.

Pat Kenny CPFA (for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP)
110 Queen Street
Glasgow
G1 3BX
29 October 2018
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for Year Ended 31 March 2018
						
		
Note
Year ended
Year ended
			
31 March 2018 31 March 2017
			
£000s
£000s
Expenditure			
Staff costs
Depreciation and Impairment
Other Operating Charges

4

333,976

296,646

24

30,067

48,892

3

46,000

47,335		

			

410,043

392,873

Income			
Income from activities

6

(408)

Other Income

7

(139,310)

			

(139,718)

Net Expenditure from Operating Activities		
270,325
Interest payable
Net gain on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment
Net interest cost of IAS19 assets and liabilities

(377)
(126,878)		
(127,255)
265,618

8

3,181

3,452

26

(4,141)

(4,948)

13b

105,719

111,395

104,759

109,899

			

Net Expenditure after Interest		
375,084
375,517		

Taxation

11

376

964

Net Expenditure after Taxation		
375,460
376,481

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure			
Actuarial loss on IAS19 Pension disclosures

13b

53,508

599,365

24

46,086

(16,821)

Comprehensive Net Expenditure before Grant from		
the Scottish Government

475,054

959,025

Net loss on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2018
		
Note
			
			

As at 31
March 2018
£000s

As at 31
March 2017
£000s

ASSETS
Non-current assets			
Property, Plant and Equipment

24

476,373

Heritage Assets

24

933

512,704		
933

Intangible Assets

24

331

374

Long-term debtors

20

2,236

3,285

Total non-current assets		
479,873
517,296		
Current assets			
Assets classified as held for sale

25

375

8,818		

Inventories

21

2,430

2,154

Trade and other receivables

9

8,871

6,946

Cash and cash equivalents

12

532

2,741

Total current assets		
12,208
20,659
Total assets		

492,081

537,955		

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables

10

32,545

26,911

Short-term provisions

16

1,875

1,915		

Short-term borrowing

23

4,799

4,517

Total current liabilities		
39,219
33,343
Total assets less current liabilities		

452,862

504,612

Non-current liabilities			
Long-term borrowing

23

51,450

Long-term provisions

16

698

820		

Other long-term liabilities (Pensions)

13c

3,863,039

3,715,218		

Other long-term liabilities (Injury Benefits)

13c

69,962

Total non-current liabilities		

3,985,149

Total Assets less liabilities		

(3,532,287)

55,985

73,562
3,845,585
(3,340,973)		

Taxpayers equity			
General Reserve

280,632

Revaluation Reserve

269,578		

120,082

178,229

13c

(3,933,001)

(3,788,780)

Total Taxpayers Equity		

(3,532,287)

(3,340,973)

Pensions Reserve

Alasdair Hay
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer
The Accountable Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 25th October 2018.
The notes on pages 85 to 126 form part of these Accounts.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2018
		
Note
			
			

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017		
£000s

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Net deficit from operating activities		

(270,325)

(265,618)

Adjustments for non-cash transactions			
IAS19 Pensions

13b

(15,006)

(35,157)

Depreciation and Impairments

24

30,067

48,892

Corporation Tax

11

(376)

(964)

Movements in working capital			
Increase in trade and other receivables

9

(1,925)

421

Increase in inventories

21

(276)

(675)

Decrease in long term debtors

20

1,049

1,346

Increase in trade and other payables

10

5,634

(1,509)

Decrease in provisions

16

(163)

269

Net cash outflow from operating activities		

(251,321)

(252,995)

			
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

24

(39,731)

(21,206)

Proceeds of disposals of property, plant and equipment		

12,538

8,417

Net cash outflow from investing activities		

(27,193)

(12,789)

			
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Grant in Aid from the Scottish Government

19

283,740

274,857

Repayment of borrowing

23

(4,254)

(4,049)

Bank interest paid

23

(3,181)

(3,452)

Net cash inflow from financing activities		

276,305

267,356

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents		

(2,209)

1,572

2,741

1,169

			
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period

12

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

12

532

2,741

(Decrease) / Increase in cash for the year		

(2,209)

1,572
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity for year ended 31 March 2018
		
Note
			
			

General
Fund
£000s

Revaluation
Reserve
£000s

Pensions
Reserve
£000s

£000s

Balance at 31 March 2017		

269,578

178,229

(3,788,780)

(3,340,973)

Net Expenditure after taxation		

(375,460)

0

0

(375,460)

13b

0

0

(53,508)

(53,508)

24

0

(46,086)

0

(46,086)

Total Comprehensive Net Income / (Expenditure)		

(375,460)

(46,086)

(53,508)

(475,054)

13b

90,713

0

(90,713)

0

Grant in Aid from the Scottish Government

19

283,740

0

0

283,740

Other Reserve Movement

30

12,061

(12,061)

0

0

Balance at 31 March 2018		

280,632

120,082

(3,933,001)

(3,532,287)

Total

IAS19 Pensions Remeasurement Losses
Revaluations credited to the Revaluation Reserve

Transfer of pensions transactions to the
Pensions Reserve

Total

				
		
Note
			
			

General
Fund
£000s

Revaluation
Reserve
£000s

Pensions
Reserve
£000s

£000s

Balance at 31 March 2016		

293,719

162,653

(3,113,177)

(2,656,805)

Net Expenditure after taxation		

(376,481)

0

0

(376,481)

13b

0

0

(599,365)

(599,365)

24

0

16,821

0

16,821

Total Comprehensive Net Income / (Expenditure)		

(376,481)

16,821

(599,365)

(959,025)

13b

76,238

0

(76,238)

0

Grant in Aid from the Scottish Government

19

274,857

0

0

274,857

Other Reserve Movement

30

1,245

(1,245)

0

0

Balance at 31 March 2017		

269,578

178,229

(3,788,780)

(3,340,973)

IAS19 Pensions Remeasurement Gains
Revaluations credited to the Revaluation Reserve

Transfer of pensions transactions to the
Pensions Reserve
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Notes to the Annual Accounts
1.

Accounting Policies

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the 2017/18 Government Financial
Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury. The
accounting policies contained in the FReM apply
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adapted or interpreted for the public sector context. The
SFRS has selected the most appropriate accounting policy
or estimation technique, as permitted by the FReM, to
ensure the statements present a true and fair view

the year ended 31 March 2018, which will be considered
for application during financial year 2018/19.
IFRS5: Non-current Assets held for sale and Discontinued
Operations: Change in methods of disposal,
IAS19 Employee Benefits – Discount rate: regional market
issue,
IAS1 – Disclosure Initiative,
IAS16 and IAS38 – Clarification of acceptable methods of
depreciation and amortisation.

The particular policies adopted by the SFRS in preparing
these financial statements are described below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items that are
considered material to the Accounts.

The application of the Standards as revised would not have
a material impact on the financial year ended 31 March
2018 if applied in that year.

The Accounts have been prepared with reference to the
following objectives:

These Accounts have been prepared under the historical
cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment.

• to provide information about the financial position, 		
performance and cash flows in a way that meets the 		
“common need of most users”, and
• to show the results of the stewardship and
accountability of Board members and management for
the resources entrusted to them.

Accounting Period

The following underlying assumptions have also been
adhered to:

Accounting Convention

The accounting period commenced on 1 April 2017 and
ended on 31 March 2018.

Going Concern
The Resource Budget for the financial year ended
31 March 2018 has been approved by the Scottish
Government and is considered adequate to allow the
SFRS to meet its liabilities in the foreseeable future. These
financial statements have therefore been produced on a
going concern basis.

• Accruals – with the exception of cash flow information,
the statements have been prepared using the accrual
basis of accounting, where the non-cash effects of
transactions are included in the financial statements in
the year in which they occur, not the year in which cash
is paid or received, and
• Going concern – the Accounts have been prepared on
the basis that the SFRS will continue to function for the
foreseeable future.

To the extent that the pension deficits are not met from
SFRS sources of income it may only be met by future
Grant in Aid from the sponsoring department, the Safer
Communities Directorate. This is because, under the
normal conventions applying to parliamentary control over
income and expenditure, such grants may not be paid in
advance of need.

Application of Accounting Standards issued but have
not yet been adopted

The SFRS is operated as a single service and is also
reported in this same format. Costs and support service
overheads are not allocated to other parts of the
organisation, and therefore there are no requirements for
segmental reporting, however, a reconciliation between
the management accounts position and the accounting
statements is included in the Notes to the Accounts.

As noted above, these financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the FReM issued by HM
Treasury. The FReM applies IFRS as adapted or interpreted
for the public sector context, but does not require the
following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in
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Segmental Reporting

Revenue Recognition

Expenditure Recognition

Revenue is recognised net of VAT to the extent that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the SFRS
and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are
consumed – where there is a gap between the date
supplies are received and their consumption, they are
carried as inventories on the Statement of Financial
Position (SoFP).

Grant in Aid and Revenue Grants
SFRS is funded by the Scottish Government. Grant in Aid
is received throughout the year and is intended to meet
SFRS estimated expenditure for both capital and revenue
purposes. It is accounted for as financing on a cash basis,
not income, and is therefore credited to SFRS reserves and
not incorporated within the SoCNE. Grant in Aid cannot
be drawn down in advance of need.
Grants in aid, whether for revenue or capital purposes,
are to be treated as contributions from controlling parties
giving rise to a financial interest in the residual interest
of the reporting entity, and are to be credited to general
reserves and not to income or deferred income.
Where grants are subject to conditions such that noncompliance would result in the grant being repaid, the
potential liability to repay, and the conditions to be met,
should be disclosed in a note to the Accounts.
The profit or loss on disposal of an asset financed by grant
or grant-in-aid is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure.

Capital Grants
Capital grants are accounted for in accordance with IAS20
Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance, and recognised in the SoCNE
once conditions are met. Grant is treated as a capital grant
received in advance where carry forward is permitted and
any conditions have not been met.

Provision of Services
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when
the SFRS can measure reliably the percentage completion
of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits
or service potential associated with the transaction will
flow to the SFRS.

Rental Income
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the lease.

Expenses in relation to services received (including
those rendered by the SFRS employees) are recorded as
expenditure when the services are received, rather than
when payments are made.
Interest payable on borrowings is accounted for on the
cash flows that have been fixed or determined by the
contract, or based on an annuity basis where borrowings
have been provided by a local authority.
Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised
but cash has not been received or paid, a receivable or
payable for the relevant amount is recorded in the SoFP.
Where there is evidence that debts are unlikely to be
settled, the balance of receivables is written down and a
charge made to revenue for the income that might not be
collected.

Benefits Payable During Employment
Short-term employee benefits (those that fall due wholly
within 12 months of the year end), such as wages and
salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses
and non-monetary benefits for current employees, are
recognised as an expense in the year in which employees
render service to the SFRS. An accrual is made in the
SoCNE for the year for the cost of holiday entitlements
and other forms of leave earned by employees but not
taken before the year end and which employees can carry
forward to the next financial year. The accrual is made at
the remuneration rates applicable in the following financial
year.

Post Employment Benefits
As at 31 March 2018, the SFRS participates in four
pension schemes, the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) for support staff, the Firefighter’s Pension
Scheme 1992, New Firefighters Pension Scheme 2006
and the Fire 2015 Scheme for Wholetime/Retained
uniformed personnel. For the year ended 31 March
2018, the administration of Firefighters’ Schemes was
undertaken by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency
(SPPA) and the administration of LGPS remained with local
authorities.
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• Local Government Pension Scheme (Scotland)
The LGPS provides members with defined benefits
related to pay and service. It is supported by
contributions from both employer and employee.
There are 8 schemes covering staff in Scotland,
detailed in Note 13. The LGPS is a Career Average
Revalued Earnings (CARE) Scheme whereby pension
benefits are based on earnings received within each
year worked, which are index linked and totalled on
retirement to provide an annual pension.
• Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 1992
The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 (FPS) is a
final salary unfunded defined benefit scheme where
payments are made on a “pay as you go” basis. This
is funded through contributions from employees, the
SFRS and the Scottish Government.
• New Firefighters Pension Scheme 2006
The new Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 (NFPS)
was introduced on 6 April 2006, and is also a final
salary unfunded defined benefit scheme, similar to
the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme, the differences
being a lower contribution rate, and different
retirement criteria. Funding is provided in the same
way as the FPS. The normal retirement age from this
scheme is 60.
A recent development within this Scheme has been
to allow retained firefighters who were employed
by the Service between 1 July 2000 and 5 April
2006, access to this Scheme to provide them with
comparable pension benefits to those enjoyed by
wholetime firefighters during this period. Those
individuals who were employed between these dates
are now eligible to purchase pension rights under the
terms of these new pension arrangements. This sub
Scheme is known as the Retained Duty System (RDS)
Modified Pension Scheme.
• Fire 2015 Scheme
The Fire 2015 Scheme was introduced on 1 April
2015 and is a CARE scheme rather than a final salary
pension scheme. Funding is provided in the same
way as the FPS. All new employees entering the
Service will join this Scheme automatically. Under
the new arrangements the normal pension age for
firefighters will be 60 which reflects the current
retirement age for the 2006 Scheme.
Firefighters who were previously in the 1992 or 2006
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Schemes joined the 2015 Scheme automatically on
1 April 2015 where no protection was in place. A
further group have transferred to this scheme, or will
transfer, between now and 2022 depending on their
individual circumstances. The remaining group of
firefighters will remain in their existing schemes.
Contributions to the schemes are calculated to spread
the cost of pensions over employees working lives, in
line with IAS19 Employee Benefits. The contributions
are determined by an actuary on the basis of triennial
valuations using the Age Attained Method and, in the
intervening years, by rolling forward the scheme assets
and liabilities in a desk top review.
Variations from regular cost are spread over the expected
average remaining working lives of scheme members,
taking into account future withdrawals. The expected
cost of providing staff pensions to contributing employees
is recognised in the SoCNE in accordance with IAS19,
recognising retirement benefits as they are earned not
when they are due to be paid.

Pension Scheme Assets
The FPS, NFPS and Fire 2015 Schemes, being unfunded,
have no assets built up to meet pension liabilities. The
attributable assets of the various Local Government
Pension Schemes (LGPS) have been measured at fair value
and are identified in the Notes to the Accounts.

Pension Scheme Liabilities
The attributable liabilities of each scheme are measured
on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method
– i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be
made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by
employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates,
employee turnover rates, etc.
The change in the Net Pension Liability shown in the SoFP
consists of the following:

Current Service Cost
This refers to the increase in liabilities as a result of years
of service earned this year and is allocated to the cost of
services in the SoCNE.

Expected Net Return on Assets
The expected annual investment return on assets for the
LGPS is based on long-term expectations as at 31 March
2018. This is shown net of the interest cost of each

scheme, based on the discount rate and the present value
of the scheme liabilities as at 31 March 2018.

Past Service Costs
This refers to the increase in liabilities arising from current
year decisions whose effect relates to years of service
earned in previous years. This is debited to the surplus/
deficit on the SoCNE.

Gains/Losses on Settlements and Curtailments
The result of actions to relieve the SFRS of liabilities or
events that reduce the expected future service or accrual
of benefits of employees – debited/credited to the
SoCNE.

Actuarial Gains and Losses
Changes in the net pensions liability that arise because
events have not coincided with assumptions made at
the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have
updated their assumptions – debited to the Pensions
Reserve.

Contributions Paid to the LGPS Pension Funds
Cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension
fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an
expense.

Discretionary Benefits
The SFRS also has restricted powers to make discretionary
awards of retirement benefits in the event of early
retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of
an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of
the decision to make the award, and accounted for using
the same policies as those applied to the relevant pension
schemes.

Injury Awards
The SFRS also has powers to make awards of injury
benefits in the event of firefighters leaving through injury.
Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to
any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision
to make the award and accounted for using the same
policies as those applied to the relevant compensation
schemes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held with banks.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, for
rental to others or for administrative purposes and that are
expected to be used during more than one financial year
are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.

Asset Recognition
All expenditure on the acquisition, creation or
enhancement of property, plant and equipment has
been capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it
is probable that the future economic benefits or service
potential associated with the item will flow to the SFRS and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure
that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to
deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e.
repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when
it is incurred.

Asset Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:
• the purchase price,
• any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the 		
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by 			
management,
• the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and
removing the item and restoring the site on which it is
located.
Land and Buildings are included at Depreciated
Replacement Cost (DRC) where there is no market-based
evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of
the assets. In all other cases, Existing Use Value (EUV)
has been used. As a minimum, five yearly valuations of
Land and Buildings are carried out as part of a rolling
programme, on the basis of current market value for
land and depreciated replacement cost for buildings. In
addition, impairment reviews are carried out on major
assets and assets on which there has been significant
expenditure, to determine if there has been any change in
value in the years between valuations.
Assets included in the SoFP at fair value are revalued
regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not
materially different from their fair value at the year-end,
but as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations
are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to
recognise unrealised gains.
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During 2017/18 the rules regarding the recovery of input
VAT were amended following an announcement by the
Chancellor in his autumn budget speech. An amendment
to S33 of the 1994 VAT Act was made, changing the status
for Police and Fire authorities allowing them to reclaim VAT.
The date of Royal Assent for the amendment was 16 March
2018. As a result of this change in VAT status for the SFRS,
all land, buildings and dwellings valued at Depreciated
Replacement Cost were re-valued by the SFRS’s in-house
Estates and Valuations Surveyor, Russell Munn (BSC MRICS),
to allow the deduction of VAT from the value of the assets.
At 31 March 2018, all land, buildings and dwellings assets
due for valuation under the five year rolling programme,
were re-valued by the SFRS’s in-house Estates and Valuations
Surveyor, Russell Munn (BSC MRICS). Where decreases in
value are identified, the revaluation loss is accounted for:
• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the
asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount
of the asset is written down against that balance (up
to the amount of the accumulated gains),
• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve
or insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the
asset is written down against the relevant line in the
SoCNE.

Donated Assets
Assets classified as donated are measured at fair value on
receipt. The funding element is recognised as income
and taken to the SoCNE. Any subsequent revaluations are
taken to the Revaluation Reserve.

Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there
is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where
indications exist and any possible differences are estimated
to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of
the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are
accounted for:
• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the
asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of
the asset is written down against that balance (up to the
amount of the accumulated gains),
• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or
insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is
written down against the relevant line in the SoCNE.
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• Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the
reversal is credited to the relevant line in the SoCNE, up to
the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation
that would have been charged if the loss had not been
recognised.

Disposals
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an
asset will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as
an Asset Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately
before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a
subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss
is posted to Other Operating Charges in the SoCNE. Gains
in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any
previously recognised losses. Depreciation is not charged
on Assets Held for Sale. Assets that are to be abandoned or
scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the
carrying amount of the asset in the SoFP (whether Property,
Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off
to the Other Operating Charges line in the SoCNE as part
of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if
any) are credited to the same line in the SoCNE also as part
of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).

Assets Held for Sale
An asset is classified as held for sale when it meets all of the
following criteria:
• It is available for immediate sale,
• A plan agreed by management is in place and steps 		
are actively being taken to conclude a sale, and
• It is actively being marketed with an expectation of a 		
sale within the next 12 months.
Assets meeting these criteria are revalued and measured
at the lower of their carrying amount immediately prior to
reclassification and fair value less costs to sell. There is no
depreciation on Assets Held for Sale.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and
Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their
depreciable amounts on a straight line basis over their
useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a
determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land, Heritage
Assets, surplus assets and assets held for sale) and assets that
are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).

Useful economic lives as estimated by experts are as
follows:
Category

Useful economic life

Buildings
Cars & Vans

10-64 years
5 years

Fire Appliances (including specialist appliances)

10-15 years

Equipment

3-20 years

Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land
and building elements are considered separately for
classification.
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease
but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment are
accounted for under this policy, where fulfilment of the
arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets.

Operating Leases

Assets under construction are recognised at cost and not
depreciated until the asset is brought into use.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
SoCNE on a straight-line basis, over the term of the lease.

Componentisation

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets

In accordance with IAS16 Property, Plant and Equipment
a componentisation policy for material assets has
been adopted with effect from 1 April 2013. SFRS will
componentise material assets with a carrying value over
£0.5 million, unless, in the expert opinion of our professional
valuer, it does not lend itself to componentisation by its
complex nature. This will be carried out where material assets
are acquired, revalued or enhanced.
The SFRS policy noted above has been applied to all relevant
assets brought on from legacy services and will continue to
be applied as they are revalued through the five year rolling
programme of valuations.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets have no physical substance but are
identifiable and controlled by the SFRS. It can be
established that there is an economic benefit or service
potential associated with the item which will flow to the
SFRS. This expenditure is mainly in relation to software
licenses purchased by legacy services. Expenditure on
the acquisition, creation or enhancement of intangible
assets is capitalised on an accruals basis when it will bring
benefits of longer than one year.
Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and
included in the SoFP at net historical cost. Intangible
assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the life
of the asset (3 years).

Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that
gives the Board a legal or constructive obligation that
probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place
that gives the SFRS a possible obligation whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the SFRS. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is
not probable that an outflow of resources will be required
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the
SoFP but disclosed in a note to the Accounts.

Reserves
The General Reserve represents the excess of expenditure
over income on grant in aid funded operations, or other
grant income streams, e.g. transitional funding.
The Revaluation Reserve represents the increase in value of
land and buildings over their historical costs.

Taxation
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms
of the lease transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or
equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

During 2017/18 the rules regarding the recovery of input
VAT were amended following an announcement by the
Chancellor in his autumn budget speech. An amendment
to S33 of the 1994 VAT Act was made changing the status
for Police and Fire authorities allowing then to reclaim VAT.
The date of Royal Assent for the amendment was 16 March
2018. Up until this date VAT was included as an expense
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in the Accounts only to the extent that it is not recoverable
from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC). VAT
receivable is excluded from income.
Corporation Tax is payable on profit generated from
business activities (including the disposal of assets no
longer required) undertaken by SFRS. Income from GiA is
not subject to Corporation Tax.

Financial Instruments
Financial Assets
Financial assets held by the SFRS consist of Trade and
Other Receivables and Cash and Cash Equivalents. Trade
receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market.
As the Cash requirements of the SFRS are met through
Grant-in-Aid provided by the Safer Communities
Directorate, financial instruments play a more limited
role in creating and managing risk than would apply to
a non-public sector body. Cash balances are held with
the Government Banking Service (GBS) and SFRS is not
therefore exposed to significant credit, liquidity or market
risk in respect of financial assets. There is no difference
between book value and fair value for cash and cash
equivalents shown in the SoFP.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities within the SFRS consist of Trade and
Other Payables, and Borrowings. Trade payables are
held at fair value, and are typically non-derivative financial
liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They arise when SFRS receives
goods or services with no intention of trading the liability.
There are two types of Borrowings held by the SFRS:
i)
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans were taken
out by legacy services that carried out the Treasury
Management function (i.e. borrowings and
investments) in their own right. These are recognised
on the SoFP at the point when the SFRS becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument and are initially measured at fair value
and carried at their amortised cost, i.e. including
accrued interest.
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For borrowings held by the SFRS therefore, the
amount presented on the SoFP is the outstanding
principal repayable including accrued interest, and
annual charges to the SoCNE for interest payable is
the amount payable in the year on an accruals basis.

ii)
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

The second type of financial liability arises where the
Treasury Management function for legacy Fire
Services was carried out by the lead authority.
Schedules have been provided by the lead
authorities showing total outstanding debt, amounts
of principal repayable each year, and indicative
amounts of related interest payable each year. The
interest is calculated by each former lead authority
using a pooled interest rate which is applied to all
loans in their portfolio.

		 In these cases, financial liabilities are shown in the
		 SoFP at the values provided by the former lead
		 authorities. Annual charges to the SoCNE for
		 interest payable are based on the carrying amount of
		 the liability multiplied by the effective rate of interest
		 for the instrument, as calculated by each former lead
		 authority.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Review of Accounting Policies and Estimation
Techniques
These financial statements have been prepared under
IFRS incorporating any departures required by the FReM,
and all accounting policies have been reviewed to ensure
their continued relevance. Estimates and judgements
are regularly evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and underlying assumptions are continuously
reviewed.
The main areas of estimation relate to the following:
•
		
		
		

The valuation of land and buildings, where the
services of professionally qualified surveyors are used
to ensure that best practice and consistency of
approach is applied, and

•
		
		
		

The valuation of Pension Scheme assets and
liabilities, where professionally qualified actuaries
are employed to provide the information required
under IAS19 Employee Benefits.

Changes in Accounting Estimates
Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for
prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected
by the change.

Events after the Reporting Period
Events after the reporting period end represent those
events which occur between the end of the reporting
period and the date when the Annual Report and
Accounts are authorised for issue by the Board.
Material events for which conditions exist at 31 March are
reflected on an accruals basis within the financial year. The
Notes to the Accounts contain details of material events
where their conditions did not exist as at 31 March.

Inventories
Inventories are included in the Statement of Financial
Position at the lower of cost or net realisable value on an
average cost basis.

2. Assumptions made about the future
and other major sources of estimation
uncertainty
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that
are based on assumptions made by the SFRS about the
future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made
taking into account historical experience, current trends
and other relevant factors. However, because balances
cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could
be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.
The SFRS SoFP contains the following item for which
there is a significant risk of material adjustment in the
forthcoming year:

Item

Uncertainties

Effect if actual result differs from
assumptions

Property, Plant and
Equipment

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are
dependent on assumptions about the level of
repairs and maintenance that will be incurred
in relation to individual assets. The current
economic climate makes it difficult for the
Board to spend adequate funds on repairs and
maintenance, bringing into doubt the useful
lives assigned to assets.

If the useful life of assets is reduced,
depreciation materially increases and the
carrying amount of the assets falls.

Pensions liability

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions
depends on a number of complex judgements
relating to the discount rate used, the rate
at which salaries are projected to increase,
changes in retirement age, mortality rates
and expected returns on pension fund assets.
Consulting actuaries are engaged to provide
the Board with expert advice about the
assumptions to be applied.

The effects on the net pension liability of
changes in individual assumptions can be
measured. For instance, a 0.1% decrease in
the discount rate assumption would result in
a decrease in the pension liability of £78.999
million. An increase of 0.1% in the salary rate
and the pension rate would increase the
liability by £8.847 million and £63.343 million
respectively.

Short Term
Accumulated
Absences

This relates to the value of annual leave that
is either owed to or by employees at the end
of the financial year. This is calculated by
extrapolating from a sample taken of a number
of locations and employee types.

If the level of actual annual leave owed to
staff is higher than estimated, there would
be an increased charge to the Statement of
Comprehensive Expenditure.
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3. Other Operating Charges
		
		
		

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s

Property Costs

20,188

20,450

Supplies and Services

16,832

18,184

8,856

8,558

100

105

24

38

46,000

47,335

Transport Costs
External Auditors (fee for audit of financial statements)
Transport Costs - Members
Total

4. Staff Numbers and Related Costs
The average number of persons employed in the year ended 31 March 2018 was 7,823 (7,971 in previous year). Staff costs
are shown in the following table:
			Year ended 31 March 2018		
		
Permanent
Others
Total
£000s
£000s
£000s

Year ended 31 March 2017
Permanent
Others
Total
£000s
£000s
£000s

Wages and Salaries

179,470

0

179,470

176,315

0

176,315

Other Pension Costs

142,549

0

142,549

129,338

0

129,338

Social Security Costs

17,198

0

17,198

16,860

0

16,860

339,217

0

339,217

322,513

0

322,513

0

(35,157)

Sub-total

						
IAS19 pension costs
(15,006)
0
(15,006)
(35,157)
charged to net expenditure
Other staff related costs
Total net costs

9,083

682

9,765

8,279

1,011

9,290

333,294

682

333,976

295,635

1,011

296,646

Note that the total of £0.682 million shown under “Others” for the year ended 31 March 2018, (£1.011 million for the year
ended 31 March 2017) represents the costs of staff employed on temporary contracts through employment agencies.
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5. Reconciliation of Net Resource Expenditure
		
		
Staff costs

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s

210,262

205,796

Other Operating Charges

49,018

50,498

Gain on sale of assets (included in RDEL in 2017/18)

(4,141)

0

163

(269)

255,302

256,294

(999)

(744)

254,303

255,281

(Increase) / decrease in Provisions
Total Expenditure
Income
Net Expenditure for year

Reconciliation to annual accounts:		

Less:		
Gain on sale of assets (used to fund capital assets in 2016/17)

0

(4,948)

Add:		
Pensions Interest adjustment

90,713

76,238

Remeasurement loss / (gain) on Pension Schemes

53,508

599,365

Impairments and Revaluations charged to the Revaluation Reserve

46,086

(16,821)

Depreciation and Impairment

30,067

48,892

376

964

1

54

475,054

959,025

Corporation Tax
Net Pensions Account
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

6. Income from Activities
		
		
		
Fees and Charges
Training Course Income
Total

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017			
£000s

(408)

(372)

0

(5)

(408)

(377)
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7. Other Income
		
		
£000s
Pensions

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended		
31 March 2017		
£000s

(138,153)

(126,153)		

Seconded Officers

(565)

(360)		

External Funding Grants

(332)

(178)		

Other Property Income

(260)

(187)		

Total

(139,310)

(126,878)

8. Interest Payable
		

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

		
		
Interest Payable on Outstanding Debt

3,181

Total

3,181

Year ended		
31 March 2017
£000s
3,452		
3,452

9. Trade and Other Receivables
Analysis by Type
Amounts falling due within one year
		
		

As at 31 March
2018
£000s

As at 31 March
2017
£000s

Prepayments

2,417

5,875

Trade Receivables

1,831

765

Other Receivables
Accrued Income
Total
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621

204

4,002

102

8,871

6,946

Analysis by Organisation
Amounts falling due within one year
		
		

As at 31 March
2018
£000s

As at 31 March
2017
£000s

Other Entities and Individuals

7,141

5,200

Central Government Bodies

1,452

1,630

272

108

Other Local Authorities
Public Corporations
Total

6

8

8,871

6,946

Included within the figure of £1.452 million for Central Government Bodies is a balance of £0.337 million (£0.043 million
for the year ended 31 March 2017) which relates to Firefighters’ Pensions. This is receivable from the Scottish Government.
Further analysis is shown in Note 29.

10. Trade and Other Payables
Analysis by Type
Amounts falling due within one year
		
		
Accruals and deferred income

As at 31 March
2018
£000s

As at 31 March
2017
£000s

23,900

13,385

Trade and Other Payables

3,734

8,038

Other Taxation and Social Security

4,911

5,488

32,545

26,911

As at 31 March
2018
£000s

As at 31 March
2017
£000s

18,060

10,929

Total

Analysis by Organisation
Amounts falling due within one year
		
		
Bodies External to Government
Central Government Bodies

8,855

10,427		

Accumulated Absences

4,435

3,755		

Local Authorities

1,080

1,593		

115

207		

Public Corporations
Total

32,545

26,911

Included within the figure of £10.427 million for Central Government Bodies as at 31 March 2017 was a balance of £1.987
million which related to Firefighters’ Pensions. There is no corresponding amount falling due as at 31 March 2018. Further
analysis is shown in Note 29.
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11. Corporation Tax
Corporation Tax is due on profits generated by the SFRS, mainly arising through the sale of properties. £0.376 million is
payable to HMRC for the year ended 31 March 2018 (£0.964 million year ended 31 March 2017). The large total payable
at 31 March 2017 was primarily due to chargeable gains experienced following the sale of a legacy Service Headquarters
building.

12. Cash and Cash Equivalents
		
		
		

As at 31 March
2018
£000s

As at 31 March
2017
£000s

Government Banking System bank account

532

2,741		

Total

532

2,741

13. Pensions
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its
employees, the SFRS offers retirement benefits. Although
these benefits will not actually be payable until employees
retire, the SFRS has a commitment to disclose the
payments to be made in the future.
The SFRS currently participates in the four defined benefits
pension schemes and a discretionary injury benefits
scheme set out below:
• The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for
support staff is a funded scheme, meaning that the
SFRS and employees pay contributions into a fund,
calculated at a level intended to balance the pension
liabilities with investment assets. The employer
contribution rate in 2017/18 was between 17.0%
and 24.4% of the employees’ pensionable pay, and
has been set at rates between 17.0% and 23.7%
in 2018/19, depending on which local authority
the employee’s pension is held with. Employee
contribution rates are tiered dependent on salary. This
is now a CARE scheme, whereby pension benefits are
based on earnings within each year worked, not final
salary as previously, which are index linked and totalled
on retirement to provide an annual pension.
• The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 (FPS) for
wholetime uniformed personnel. This is an unfunded
scheme, meaning there are no investment assets built
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up to meet pension liabilities, and cash has to be
generated to meet actual pension payments as they
eventually fall due. This scheme was closed to new
members as at 5 April 2006.
• The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 (NFPS) is for
wholetime and retained uniformed personnel, and
is also unfunded, similar to the FPS. As this scheme
came into effect on 6 April 2006, the pension
liabilities and service costs are lower in comparison
to the FPS. The majority of personnel in this Scheme
transferred to the Fire 2015 Scheme on 1 April 2015.
A recent development within this Scheme has been to
allow retained firefighters who were employed by the
Service between 1 July 2000 and 5 April 2006, access
to purchase benefits to this Scheme to provide them
with comparable pension benefits to those enjoyed
by wholetime firefighter’s during this period. This sub
Scheme is known as the Retained Duty System (RDS)
Modified Pension Scheme.
• The Fire 2015 Scheme was introduced on 1 April
2015 and is a CARE scheme rather than a final salary
pension scheme. All new employees entering the
Service will join this Scheme automatically. Under
the new arrangements the normal pension age for
firefighters will be 60 which reflects the current
retirement age for the 2006 Scheme. Firefighters
who were previously in the 1992 or 2006 Schemes
joined the 2015 Scheme automatically on 1 April 2015

where no protection was in place. A further group have
transferred to this scheme, or will transfer, between
now and 2022 depending on their circumstances.
The remaining group of firefighters will remain in their
existing schemes.
• The SFRS has powers to make awards of injury benefits
in the event of firefighters leaving through injury. Any
liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any
member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision
to make the award and accounted for using the same
principles as those applied to the relevant pension
schemes. Similar to the FPS and NFPS, there are no
assets held to back the liabilities of this scheme, and
cash must be generated to meet actual payments as
they fall due.
From 1 April 2015, the Scottish Public Pensions Agency
(SPPA) became responsible for administering the
Firefighters Schemes. The LGPS are currently administered
by the following local authorities: Dumfries and Galloway
Council, Dundee City Council, Falkirk Council, Fife
Council, Highland Council, Lothian Pensions Fund, North
East Scotland Pension Fund and Strathclyde Pension Fund.
The liabilities in respect of Pensions are significant,
however statutory arrangements are in place to fund the
deficits:
• LGPS deficits will be funded through increased
contributions over the remaining working lives of
employees as assessed by the various Scheme
actuaries.

a) Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
Four actuaries (Government Actuary’s Department (GAD),
Barnett Waddingham LLP, Hymans Robertson LLP and
Mercer) were engaged to assess the value of the SFRS’
liability as at 31 March 2018, as they were the actuaries for
each of the respective Pension Funds noted above.
A full valuation of the LGPS was undertaken as at 31 March
2017 for all the 8 Schemes. The full actuarial valuation
involved projecting future cashflows to be paid and placing
a value on them. These cashflows include pensions that
may be payable in future to members of all schemes or
their dependents. The balance sheet position and the
projected charge to the SoCNE for 2018/19 are based on
this new roll forward from the 2017/18 formal valuation.
This differs to the balance sheet position as at 31 March
2017 and the charge to the SoCNE for 2017/18, which
was based on a roll forward from the 2014 formal valuation.
This ‘step change’ can lead to sizeable asset and liability
‘remeasurement’ in the reconciliation of the balance sheet
from 31 March 2017 to 31 March 2018.
The Firefighter’s Pension Schemes liability as at 31 March
2018 has been calculated by rolling forward the liabilities
determined from full actuarial valuation calculations carried
out as at 31 March 2016 in a consistent manner to that used
last year. Whilst it is not possible to assess the accuracy of
the Firefighter’s Pension Schemes liability as at 31 March
2018 without completing a full valuation, the actuaries are
satisfied that the approach of rolling forward the previous
valuation data to 31 March 2018 will not materially distort
results, providing actual experience is in line with underlying
assumptions.

• Firefighters’ Pension Schemes will be funded through
increased contributions over the remaining working
lives of employees as assessed by national pension
administrators and specific grant receivable from the
Scottish Government to meet any funding
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The projected unit method of valuation has been used to
calculate the service cost, as required by IAS19.
The main assumptions used in their calculations are shown
in the following table:
Assumption

LGPS

Firefighters’ Schemes

Injury Benefits

		

Year ended

Year ended

Year ended

Year ended

Year ended

Year ended

		

31 Mar 2018

31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2018

31 Mar 2017

31 Mar 2018

31 Mar 2017

Long-term expected rate of
return on assets in the scheme			 					
Equity Investments		

3.8%

-

-

-

-		

Bonds		

3.8%

-

-

-

-		

Property		

3.8%

-

-

-

-		

Cash		

3.8%

-

-

-

-		

Mortality assumptions:

		

					

Longevity at 60 for
current pensioners

		

					

Men		

-

25.4

25.8

25.4

25.8

Women		

-

25.4

25.8

25.4

25.8

Longevity at 60 for
				

future pensioners				
Men		

-

27.4

28.1

27.4

28.1

Women		

-

27.4

28.1

27.4

28.1

Longevity at 65 for
current pensioners

		

					

Men

20.3-22.7

21.4-22.7

20.6

21.1

20.6

21.1

Women

23.7-24.3

23.5-24.9

20.6

21.1

20.6

21.1

Longevity at 65 for
future pensioners								
Men

22.6-24.7

23.7-24.8

22.5

23.2

22.5

23.2

Women

24.1-27.9

25.8-27.8

22.5

23.2

22.5

23.2

Rate of inflation (RPI)

3.3%-3.4%

3.4%-3.6%

-

-

-

-

Rate of inflation (CPI)

2.1%-2.4%

2.3%-2.7%

2.45%

2.55%

2.45%

2.55%

Rate of increase in salaries

2.9%-4.1%

3.6%-4.4%

3.95%

4.5%

3.95%

4.5%

Rate of increase in pensions

2.2%-2.4%

2.3%-2.7%

2.45%

2.55%

2.45%

2.55%

Rate for discounting
scheme liabilities

2.55%-2.7%

2.6%-2.7%

2.55%

2.8%

2.55%

2.8%

In year ended 31 March 2018, membership consists of those employees who transferred from legacy Fire
and Rescue Services on 1 April 2013 plus new entrants.
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With regards the discount rates used in the valuation the
actuaries have applied different discount rates as shown
below. Sensitivity analysis is included in Note 2.
• GAD: the discount rate used is the rate published in
the HMT Public Expenditure System note dated 11
December 2017 for Annual Accounts prepared under
FReM.
• Barnett Waddingham: an estimate of the Employer’s
future cashflows is made using notional cashflows
based on the estimated duration of 20 years. These
estimated cashflows are then used to derive a Single
Equivalent Discount Rate (SEDR). The discount rate
derived is such that the net present value of the notional
cashflows, discounted at this single rate, equates to the
net present value of the cashflows, discounted using
the Merrill Lynch AA rated corporate bond yield curve
(where the spot curve is assumed to be flat beyond the
30 year point) for the LGPS. The approach has changed
from the spot rate approach adopted at the previous
accounting date to reflect national auditor preferences.
This actuary measured 6% of the total LGPS pension
liability.
• Hymans Robertson: a Corporate Bond yield curve
has been constructed using the UBS corporate bond
curve (derived by applying the UBS delta curve fitting
methodology to the constituents of the iBoxx £
Corporate AA index) for durations up to 8 years and
from 12 years onwards use a gilts curve plus a long
term average credit spread of 0.9% p.a. Interpolation
between the two approaches is used for durations
between 8 and 12 years. This actuary measured 79% of
the total LGPS pension liability.

The RPI increase assumptions for each actuary are also
different, as follows:
• Barnett Waddingham: the RPI assumption is set using
the Single Equivalent Inflation Rate (SEIR) approach,
using the notional cashflows described above. The
approach has changed from the spot rate approach
adopted at the previous accounting date to reflect
national auditor preferences.
• The Hymans Robertson rate is typically derived from
yields available on fixed interest and index linked
government bonds, and should be consistent with the
derivation of the discount rate.
• Mercer also uses the yield curve approach, deriving
inflation from spot rates of conventional and indexlinked gilts applicable to each duration at which
liabilities are projected to be paid in the future.

Expected Return on Assets
The FPS is unfunded and therefore no assets back the
scheme.
For the LGPS, the expected return and the interest cost
for accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2013
has been replaced with a single net interest cost, which
effectively sets the expected return equal to the IAS19
discount rate. The assets held by the Pension Funds are
valued at fair value, principally market value for investments.

• Mercer: the discount rate has been determined from
a yield curve including all corporate bonds with an
AA rating from one of the three main agencies and
that meet Mercer’s criteria for inclusion. This actuary
measured 14% of the total LGPS pension liability.
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b) Statement of Net Comprehensive Expenditure
The following transactions have been made in the SoCNE in relation to the LGPS and both Firefighter schemes.
		
Narrative
		
		

LGPS Combined FPS
Year ended
Year ended
31 March 2018 31 March 2018
£000s
£000s

Current service costs / (gains)

Injury Benefits
Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

LGPS
Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s

Combined FPS Injury Benefits		
Year ended
Year ended		
31 March 2017 31 March 2017		
£000s
£000s

1,700

6,428

62,700

600		

9,364

84,900

Past service costs / (gains)

0

2,500

0

1,405

0

0		

Losses / (gains) on curtailments
and settlements

0

0

0

778

0

0		

Admin Expenses

13

0

0

14

0

0		

Total Service cost

9,377

87,400

1,700

8,625

62,700

600		

Employer contribution

(5,283)

(106,100)

(2,100)

(5,782)

(99,300)

(2,000)		

Deducted from Staff Costs

4,094

(18,700)

(400)

2,843

(36,600)

(1,400)		

Net Interest Cost *

2,219

101,400

2,100

1,595

107,300

2,500		

Impact on Net Expenditure
after Interest

6,313

82,700

1,700

4,438

70,700

1,100		

Remeasurements recognised in
Other Comprehensive Income						
Actuarial losses / (gains)

(54,592)

113,400

(5,300)

34,665

561,300

3,400

* Note: the following table extracts figures from above to allow easier reconciliation to the figures shown for total Net
Interest Cost and Actuarial Gains and Losses in the SoCNE and Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity (SoCITE), for
LGPS, Combined FPS and Injury Benefits.
		
		
		

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s

Net Interest Cost		
LGPS
Combined FPS
Injury Benefits
		 Total Net Interest Cost

2,219

1,595		

101,400

107,300		

2,100

2,500		

105,719

111,395

Actuarial Losses / (Gains)		
LGPS

(54,592)

34,665		

Combined FPS

113,400

561,300		

Injury Benefits

(5,300)

3,400		

		 Total Actuarial Losses / (Gains)

The table above reflects a significant change from the
2016/17 position with the actuarial loss reducing from
£599.365 million to £53.508 million. The main reason
for this within the Combined FPS and Injury Benefits
Scheme is due to a change in the financial assumptions
in comparison to the previous year. For year ending
31 March 2017 there was a significant reduction in the
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53,508

599,365

discount rate from the previous year end from 3.6% to
2.8% which was the main reason for the large actuarial
loss. The difference in the discount rate between year end
31 March 2017 and 2018 was a smaller reduction of 2.8%
to 2.55%. In addition to this there has been a change to
the projected improvements in mortality as at 31 March
2018 which has had a positive effect on the actuarial loss.

With regards the LGPS the balance sheet position is based
on the new roll forward from the 2017 valuation which
differs from the last financial year position as it was based
on a roll forward from 2014. Once again within the LGPS,

there have also been gains in investment markets over the
period which has resulted in an increase in asset values
(total assets of £258.260 million in 2017/18 compared to
£243.589 million in 2016/17, see table 14(d) below).

c) Statement of Financial Position
IAS19 requires the SFRS to account for pension liabilities of £3.863 billion as at 31 March 2018, (£3.715 billion as at 31
March 2017) as valued by the actuaries mentioned above.
		
		
		

As at Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

As at Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s

Present value of liabilities:		
- Local Government Pension Scheme
- Firefighters Pension Schemes
- Injury Benefits
Fair value of assets in the Local Government Pension Scheme
Total

(293,705)

(327,314)		

(3,827,593)

(3,631,493)		

(69,962)

(73,562)		

258,260
(3,933,000)

243,589		
(3,788,780)

Deficit in the scheme:		
- Local Government Pension Scheme
- Firefighters Pension Schemes
			
- Injury Benefits
Total

The liabilities as at 31 March 2018 show the underlying
commitments that the SFRS has in the long-run to
pay retirement benefits. The total liability of £3.933
billion has a substantial impact on the net worth of the
SFRS as recorded in the SoFP, resulting in a negative
overall balance of £3.532 billion. However, statutory
arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial
position of the SFRS remains healthy:
• The deficit on the local government scheme will be
made good by increased contributions from the SFRS
over the remaining working life of employees, as
assessed by the scheme actuary, to ensure that accrued
benefits can be paid. The total future contributions
expected to be made to the LGPS in the year ending 31
March 2019, based on current membership in the year
ended 31 March 2018, is £4.759 million.

35,445

83,725		

3,827,593

3,631,493		

3,863,038
69,962
3,933,000

3,715,218		
73,562		
3,788,780

• Finance is only required to be raised to cover
firefighters’ pensions and injury benefits when the
payments are actually made. GAD have calculated
that the expected future contributions to be made year
ending 31 March 2019 (based on current membership
in the year ended 31 March 2018) will be 64.6%
of pensionable salaries for the Firefighters Pension
Schemes and 0.65% of pensionable salaries for injury
benefits. Under recent arrangements, Firefighters’
Pensions will be funded by the Scottish Government.
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The table below shows the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members for each of
the schemes.

LGPS
Years
		
		
		
Weighted average
duration of the defined
benefit obligation

Firefighters’ Schemes
Years

Injury Benefits				
Years		

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2017
20.8
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20.6

20.5

18.0

20.5

18.0

d) Asset and Defined Benefit Obligation Reconciliation
Reconciliation of opening and closing
surplus / (deficit)

(Deficit) at beginning of year
Current Service Cost
Employer Contributions
Past Service Costs

£000s

Combined
FPS
Year ended
31 March
2018
£000s

Injury
Benefits
Year ended
31 March
2018
£000s

(83,725)

(3,631,493)

(73,562)

(9,364)

(84,900)

(1,700)

5,283

106,100

0

(2,500)

LGPS
Year ended
31 March
2018

LGPS
Year ended
31 March
2017
£000s

Combined
Injury
FPS
Benefits
Year ended Year ended
31 March
31 March
2017
2017
£000s
£000s

(44,622) (2,999,493)

(69,062)

(6,428)

(62,700)

(600)

2,100

5,782

99,300

2,000

0

(1,405)

0

0

0

0

0

(778)

0

0

(13)

0

0

(14)

0

0

Net Interest Cost

(2,219)

(101,400)

(2,100)

(1,595)

(107,300)

(2,500)

Actuarial (losses) / gains

54,592

(113,400)

5,300

(3,400)

(35,445)

(3,827,593)

(69,962)

(561,300)
(34,665)
(83,725) (3,631,493)

Curtailments / Settlements
Admin Expenses

(Deficit) at end of year

(73,562)

Reconciliation of opening and closing
balances of the present value of the
defined benefit obligation
Opening Defined Benefit Obligation

(242,193) (2,999,493)
(6,428)
(62,700)

(327,314)

(3,631,493)

(73,562)

Current Service cost

(9,364)

(84,900)

(1,700)

Interest Cost

(8,597)

(101,400)

(2,100)

(8,589)

(107,300)

(2,500)

Member Contributions

(1,546)

0

0

(1,471)

0

0

Curtailments / Settlements

0

0

0

(778)

0

0

Past Service Costs

0

(2,500)

0

(1,405)

0

0

Transfers In from Other Authorities

0

(900)

0

0

(800)

0

Transfers In from Other Authorities

0

0

0

0

100

0

Estimated Benefits paid

5,499

107,000

2,100

5,819

100,000

2,000

Actuarial (losses) / gains

47,617

(113,400)

5,300

(72,269)

(561,300)

(3,400)

(293,705)

(3,827,593)

(69,962)

(73,562)

LGPS
Year ended
31 March
2018

LGPS
Year ended
31 March
2017
£000s

(327,314) (3,631,493)
Year ended
31 March
2016

Closing Defined Benefit Obligation
Reconciliation of opening and closing
balances of the fair value of Scheme
assets

(69,062)
(600)

£000s

£000s
Opening fair value of Scheme assets

243,589

197,571

Expected return on Scheme assets

6,378

6,994

Member Contributions

1,546

1,471

Employer Contributions

5,283

5,782

(13)

(14)

Admin Expenses
Estimated Benefits paid

(5,499)

(5,819)

Actuarial (losses) / gains

6,975

37,604

258,260

243,589

Fair value of Scheme assets at end of
period
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During 2017/18 there have been gains in the investment markets, as can be seen below, which has resulted in an increase
in the LGPS asset values (overall 5.6% increase in asset values). The FPS however, has no assets to cover its liabilities. LGPS
assets are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments. The expected return on LGPS assets is based on the
long-term future expected investment return for each asset class. These assets consist of the following categories:

			
Year ended 31 March 2018		
Year ended 31 March 2017
Asset
Quoted
Prices not
Total
Quoted
Prices not
Total
			
Prices in
quoted in		
Prices in
quoted in
			
Active
an active		
Active
an active
			
Markets
market		markets
market			
			
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
					

Equity Securities
		

Consumer

20,967

23

20,990

23,151

1

23,152

		

Manufacturing

18,071

20

18,091

20,422

19

20,441

		

Energy and Utilities

6,004

0

6,004

8,660

0

8,660

		
Financial Institutions

15,352

0

15,352

16,124

0

16,124

7,440

33

7,473

9,531

1

9,532

		

Health and Care

		

Information Technology

11,969

1

11,970

12,735

3

12,738

		

Other

16,974

2,982

19,956

17,061

5,370

22,431

		

Sub-total

96,777

3,059

99,836

107,684

5,394

113,078

Debt Securities						
		

Corporate Bonds

8,115

1,582

8,899

2,285

1,063

		

UK Government Bonds

7,227

676

9,697

8,199

0

		

Other

		

Sub-total

8,199

600

639

1,239

1,074

0

1,074

15,942

2,897

18,838

11,558

1,063

12,621

Private Equity
Property

3,348		

131

17,124

17,254

0

12,999

12,999

5,039

16,617

21,656

2,594

21,455

24,049		

					

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts
		

Equities

51,066

3,303

54,368

10,429

41,011

51,440		

		

Bonds

6,713

10,160

16,873

3,034

7,830

10,864

74

0

74

204

0

204

521

5,876

6,397

3,645

189

3,834

4,394

261

4,655

3,437

2,768

6,205

19,599

82,366

20,749

51,798

72,547

		
Commodities
		

Infrastructure

		

Other

		

Sub-total

62,767

					

Derivatives
		
Foreign Exchange
		
Other
		

Sub-total

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total

19

0

19

(1)

16

3

0

3

10

0

15		
10

22

0

22

9

16

25

11,905

6,382

18,287

8,070

200

8,270

192,582

65,678

258,260

150,664

92,925

243,589
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e) Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity
The actuarial gains and losses identified as movements on the Pensions Reserve for the year ended 31 March 2018 can be
analysed into the following categories, measured as a percentage of assets or liabilities and amounts as at 31 March 2018:

		
Year ended 31 March 2018			Year ended 31 March 2017
		
LGPS
FPS
				
		
£000s
£000s
Actual return less expected return
on pension scheme assets
Changes in assumptions underlying the
present value of the scheme liabilities

Injury
LGPS
FPS
Injury
Benefits			 Benefits		
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

6,975

0

0

37,604

0

0

47,617

(113,400)

5,300

(72,269)

(561,300)

(3,400)

Actuarial (losses) / gains in
pension scheme

54,592

(113,400)

5,300

(34,665)

(561,300)

(3,400)

Actuarial (losses) / gains recognised in
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity

54,592

(113,400)

5,300

(34,665)

(561,300)

(3,400)

15. Related Party Transactions
SFRS is an Other Significant Public Body sponsored by the Scottish Government Safer Communities Directorate. The
Scottish Government is regarded as a related party. During the year, SFRS had various material transactions with the
Scottish Government and in addition had a number of material transactions with other government bodies (HMRC, Debt
Management Office (DMO), local authorities and LGPS offices). During the year, apart from their service contracts, no
Board member or senior employee or related parties have undertaken any material transactions with the SFRS. Further
information on Board members is contained within the Annual Governance Statement in the Annual report and can also be
found on the SFRS website (www.firescotland.gov.uk/about-us/sfrs-board/board-members.aspx)

16. Operating Leases
SFRS as Lessee
The SFRS inherited a number of leases after the transfer of assets and liabilities from the legacy Fire and Rescue Services on
1 April 2013. Leases were entered into for a number of reasons including office accommodation; land on which to locate
Community Fire Stations and garages to house fire appliances; radio masts for communications purposes; and leased cars
for employees who meet the criteria.
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The following tables show the future minimum payments committed to by the SFRS by category, and assumes charges will
be in line with those paid for the year ended 31 March 2018.
Land and Buildings (including radio masts)		
			
			

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s

Not later than one year		

274

287

Later than one year but not later than 5 years		

749

437

Later than 5 years		

951

1,199

1,974

1,923

Total		

The total charged to the SoCNE in the year ended 31 March 2018 for leases relating to Land and Buildings was £0.291
million (£0.335 million in the year ended 31 March 2017). Many of the above leases are on a rolling basis and can therefore
be cancelled at any time; therefore future lease payments for such leases have not been included in the above table.

		 Vehicles, Plant and Equipment (Car leases)		
				
				

Year ended		
31 March 2018		
£000s		

Not later than one year		

749		

Later than one year but not later than 5 years		

642		

Total		

1,391		

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s
922		
937

1,859

The total charged to the SoCNE in the year ended 31 March 2018 for car leases was £1.183 million (£1.175 million in the
year ended 31 March 2017).
SFRS as Lessor
SFRS leases out property and equipment under operating leases for a number of purposes, including radio masts and
accommodation to various agencies. These leases can be cancelled at any time by SFRS and therefore no future lease
payments can be guaranteed after 2018. Rents receivable in the year ended 31 March 2018 totalled £0.260 million
(£0.187 million in the year ended 31 March 2017). Included within rent receivable for 2017/18 was £0.064m in relation to
contingent rents, being recharge of utility costs for one of the leased premises.
During 2017/18 there were 25 different lease agreements in place with 10 different organisations. Of the 25 lease
agreements, 19 of these related to rental of office space or accommodation, 3 related to rental of land and 3 related to rental
of radio masts to accommodate equipment.

		
		

Provisions less than one year			Provisions over one year
Insurance
Employee
Sub-total
Insurance
Employee
Sub-total
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Total

16. Provisions
The following table shows the provisions transferred from legacy services and adjusted/added to by the SFRS. The
provision for Insurance relates to obligations due in respect of all known insurance claims as at 31 March 2018, for example
claims relating to Personal Liability, Employee Liability, Property and Motor. Whilst the SFRS knows about these claims when
they arise, and can use past experience to estimate the likely liability, the actual timing of these payments is uncertain as a
result of the claims process having to run its course and agreement be reached with the insurers.
Other provisions represent obligations due in respect of various employment liabilities, such as restructuring costs, ill-health
retirals and uninsured claims; all based on the latest information on likely liabilities available at the time.
The additional provision added during 2017/18 to Other Employee Liabilities, related to ill health retirement costs that
SFRS may be liable for in the future. The provision was calculated using the salaries of the individuals that were about to be
referred to the Independent Qualified Medical Practitioner (IQMP) as at 31 March 2018 and it is anticipated that any costs
arising from the IQMP’s decision would be made by SFRS during 2018/19.
Provisions less than one year
			 Public &
			Employee
		
Insurance Liability
			 Exposure
		
£000s
£000s
Balance as at 1 April 2017
Additional provisions made
year ended 31 Mar 2017

Provisions over one year

Other			
Other
Employee			Employee
related Sub-total
Insurance
related
liabilities			 liabilities
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

Sub-total

Total

£000s

£000s

448

908

240

1,596

870

0

870

2,466		

3

41

381

425

25

0

25

450

Amounts used
year ended 31 Mar 2017

(78)

(65)

0

(143)

0

0

0

(143)		

Unused amounts reversed
year ended 31 Mar 2017

(38)

0

0

(38)

0

0

0

(38)

Transfer from Long Term
Provisions
Balance as at 31 March 2017
Additional provisions made
year ended 31 Mar 2018
Amounts used
year ended 31 Mar 2018
Unused amounts reversed
year ended 31 Mar 2018
Transfer from Long Term
Provisions
Balance as at 31 March 2018

75

0

0

75

(75)

0

(75)

0

410

884

621

1,915

820

0

820

2,735

0

0

387

387

0

0

0

(177)

(10)

(356)

(543)

0

0

0

(543)

(6)

0

0

(6)

0

0

0

(6)

122

0

0

122

(122)

0

(122)

349

874

652

1,875

698

0

698

387		

0		
2,573
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17. Future Capital Commitments
The following table reflects commitments to capital projects for the financial year ending 31 March 2018 of £23.736 million
(£3.909 million in previous year).

			
Year ended		
			 31 March 2018
			
£000s
McDonald Road Fire Station Refurbishment (including Fire Museum)			

6,180

East Training Facility			

8,634

Property Project Costs			

200

Minor Works - Condition			

1,200

Frontline Appliances			

2,519

Water Rescue Vehicles			

100

Specialist Vehicles			

200

Light Fleet - Cars			

20

Command & Control System			

2,200

Breathing Apparatus			

160

Operational Equipment			

323

Personal Protective Equipment			

2,000

Total			23,736

18. Finance Leases
The SFRS has inherited finance leases from legacy services covering a fire station and garage at Lochaline.
This is an arrangement with Highland Council which commenced on 29 March 2012 with a duration of 30 years. A
grassum was paid at the time and therefore there is no outstanding lease obligation.
The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered
into, such as adjustments following rent reviews.
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19. Grant In Aid
		
		
		
Cash GIA received to meet operational expenditure
Cash GIA received to fund replacement capital expenditure
Total

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s

252,405

262,064

31,335

12,793

283,740

274,857

Grant in Aid income received from the Scottish Government for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 was £283.740
million compared to a budget of £287.146 million. The variance of £3.406 million relates to working capital due to
changes in year-end creditors and accruals.
No funds were drawn down in advance of need, as cash was only requested to meet expenditure as and when it was
forecast to be required.

20. Long Term Debtors
Long term debtors consist of arrears payable to the Retained Duty System (RDS) Modified Pension Scheme and loans to
employees in relation to payroll transition for a legacy service.
		
		
£000s
Employee Pension Arrears repayment

As at
31 March 2018
£000s
2,099

2,533

0

588

137

164

2,236

3,285

Employee soft loans relating to service payroll transition
Employee soft loans relating to legacy service payroll transition
Total

As at
31 March 2017		
£000s

21. Inventories
The main categories of inventory held are shown below.

Category
			
			
Consumables
Fuel

Total

As at
31 March 2018
£000s

As at
31 March 2017
£000s

1,975

1,739

455

415

2,430

2,154
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22. Resource limit – Outturn Year Ended 31 March 2018
Year ended 31 March 2018
					
Expenditure Type
Outturn
Budget
Variance
		
£000s
£000s
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017
Variance
£000s

Department Expenditure Limit (DEL)				
Net Resource Expenditure

254,303

254,646

(343)

(126)		

Net Capital Expenditure

31,335

32,500

(1,165)

(7)

Total DEL expenditure

285,638

287,146

(1,508)

(133)

Ring-fenced DEL
Depreciation
Total Ring-fenced DEL
Impairment
Provisions
Pension
Corporation Tax
Total AME expenditure
Total Managed Expenditure

				
12,706

24,679

(11,973)

(1,216)		

12,706

24,679

(11,973)

(1,216)		

17,361

12,000

5,361

(2,970)		

(162)

2,000

(2,162)

(1,731)		

6,313

5,000

1,313

(562)		

376

500

(124)

23,888

19,500

4,388

322,232

331,325

(9,093)

964		
(4,299)		
(5,648)

The outturn figures above are shown on an accruals basis. The total variance of £9.093 million represents both cash and
non-cash underspends in the year ended 31 March 2018; the major contributing reasons are below.
Our key measure of financial performance is the comparison of expenditure against Departmental Expenditure Limit (DEL)
funding provided by the Scottish Government. The Net Resource Expenditure variance for the year ended 31 March 2018
of £0.343 million relates to a combination of factors. There was an overspend in relation to employee costs of £1.650
million, mainly due to legislation requiring the payment of overtime when staff are on annual leave, and an under-recovery
in income of £0.048 million. This is offset by an underspend of £1.500 million in expenses, mainly within Property and
Supplies and Services, and £0.541 million due to the gain on asset disposal being higher than anticipated.
Legislation changed earlier than anticipated on 16 March 2018 which allowed the SFRS to reclaim VAT. This resulted in an
underspend of £1.165 million on Capital DEL however the SFRS was unable to spend this fully by the end of the financial
year.
Ring Fenced DEL budget cover of £24.679 million was provided for Depreciation, however not all of this was required in
2017/18, with the actual requirement being £12.706 million. The variance of £11.973 million is due to the implications of
being able to reclaim VAT from 16 March 2018. All properties were required to be revalued as at this date, with the VAT
element previously included being deducted from the valuations. Depreciation is normally calculated from the date of the
previous revaluation (31 March 2017), but due to the VAT revaluations that were required, depreciation was calculated from
17 March 2018 to 31 March 2018.
The AME Impairment budget of £12 million reflects the impairment of properties through the normal rolling programme of
property valuations. The actual impairment in 2017/18 includes the impact of the deduction of VAT from SFRS properties,
which were revalued as at 16 March 2018. The actual impairment in 2017/18 is therefore £17.361 million, £5.361 million
higher than budget.
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A further consequence of property sales is Corporation Tax which is due when a chargeable gain arises when assets are
sold. The value of Corporation tax due in 2017/18 is £0.376 million (£0.964 million in 2016/17). This is also charged to
AME and is £0.124 million under the budget of £0.500 million.
The AME Provisions budget of £2 million was not fully required during the year.
AME budget of £5 million was provided to cover the impact on the SoCNE of LGPS IAS19 adjustments (see Note 13,
Statement of Net Comprehensive Expenditure). The effect of these adjustments is £6.3 million, resulting in an overutilisation of budget cover of £1.3 million. This follows the completion of the three year actuarial valuation carried out as at
31 March 2017, whereby the impact on the SOCNE and SOFP are based on the new roll forward from the 2017 position.
The valuation takes account of actual salary increases, pension increases and membership movements over the last three
years, which will all have an impact on the current service cost, which reflects a significant change in comparison to the
previous year (£9.364 million in 2017/18, £6.428 million in 2016/17).

23. Financial Instruments
Disclosure of Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments
Key Risks
As the cash requirements of the Board are met through Grant in Aid provided by the Scottish Government, financial
instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risks than would apply to a non-public sector body. The
majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the Board’s expected purchase and
usage requirements and the Board is therefore exposed too little credit, liquidity or market risk.
The main elements of risks that the Board are exposed to are:
• Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Board;
• Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Board might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments;
		 and
• Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Board as a result of changes in such measures as interest
		 rates and stock market movements.
Overall Procedures for Managing Risk
The Board’s overall risk management procedures focus on the unpredictability of financial markets, and implementing
restrictions to minimise these risks. The Board formally adopts the requirements set out within the Financial Reporting
Manual (FReM) and the Scottish Public Finance Manual and through The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee, ensures that
appropriate risk management, governance and internal control systems, principles and policies are in place and operating
effectively. These principles are implemented and followed by the Finance Department.
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Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks as well as credit exposure to customers.
For banks, funds are only held and transacted through Government Banking Scheme accounts and therefore there is little
exposure to credit risks from these deposits.
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Board if a customer fails to meet their contractual obligations. Customers for
goods and services are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors, with
individual credit limits being set in accordance with internal ratings in accordance with parameters set by the Board.
The following analysis summaries the Board’s maximum exposure to credit risk on other financial assets, based on
experience of default, adjusted to reflect current market conditions.
Narrative

As at 31 March 2018

As at 31 March 2017

£000s

£000s

Trade Receivables

1,831

765

Total

1,831

765

		

Of the £8.871 million total Trade and Other Receivables figure, £1.831 million relates to trade receivables. The SFRS does
not generally allow credit for its trade receivables, and all efforts will be made to ensure that debts are paid.
The past due amount can be analysed by age as shown in the following table:

		

As at 31 March 2018

		
Less than three months

£000s
1,725

As at 31 March 2017		
£000s
678		

Three to six months

48

10		

Six months to one year

12

37

More than one year
Total

46

40

1,831

765

Collateral – During the reporting period the Board held no collateral as security.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Board will not be able to meets its financial obligations as they fall due. This risk is managed
by ensuring that enough funds are available to meet liabilities as they fall due by carrying out rigid and close monitoring of
cashflow on a daily basis and regular reviews of expenditure requirements during the month. The Board’s main source of
income is Grant in Aid income provided by the Scottish Government. Therefore, there is no significant risk that it will be
unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments.
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Financial Instruments Balances
The borrowings disclosed in the SoFP are made up of the following categories of financial instruments:
Financial Liabilities by Category
Loans and Payables
		
		
Loans direct from PWLB / National Loans Fund

As at 31 March 2018
Current
Non-Current
£000s
£000s
2,786

33,282

As at 31 March 2017
Current Non-Current
£000s
£000s
2,147

Loans direct from Commercial Lenders

0

1,500

0

Loans from Scottish Local Authorities*

2,013

16,667

2,370

Trade and other payables not including non-financial liabilities
Total Financial liabilities

36,105
1,500
18,380		

3,734

0

8,038

0

8,533

51,449

12,555

55,985

*The SFRS is responsible for loans from legacy services, including a mix of PWLB and market borrowing made by several Councils
which was passed on to the former services. These loans are accounted for in the Councils’ loans fund, and the SFRS is liable to
make interest and principal repayments to the Councils.

Financial Assets by Category
Other Financial Assets
		
		
Trade and other receivables not including non-financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Financial assets

As at 31 March 2018
Current
Non-Current
£000s
£000s
1,831

0

As at 31 March 2017
Current Non-Current
£000s
£000s
765

0		

532

0

2,741

0

2,363

0

3,506

0

Unusual Movements
There have been no unusual movements throughout the year.
Reclassification
There has been no reclassification of a financial instrument throughout the year.
Derecognition of instruments
There has been no derecognition of a financial instrument throughout the year.
Defaults and Breaches
There have been no defaults and breaches throughout the year.
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Financial instruments Gains/Losses
The gains and losses recognised in the SoCNE in relation to financial instruments are made up as follows:
Financial Instruments (Gains) / Losses Year ended 31 March 2018

		
		
Interest expense
Impairment losses
Interest payable and similar charges
Interest income
Interest and investment income
Net (gain)/loss for the year

Financial Liabilities
Other Liabilities
£000s

Financial Assets
Loans and receivables
£000s

Total
£000s

3,181

0

3,181

0

0

0

3,181

0

3,181

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,181

0

3,181

Financial Liabilities
Other Liabilities
£000s

Financial Assets
Loans and receivables
£000s

Total
£000s

3,452

0

3,452

Financial Instruments (Gains) / Losses Year ended 31 March 2017

		
		
Interest expense
Impairment losses
Interest payable and similar charges

0

0

0

3,452

0

3,452

Interest income

0

0

0

Interest and investment income

0

0

0

3,452

0

3,452

Net (gain)/loss for the year
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Fair value of Assets and Liabilities
Financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and receivables are carried on the SoFP. Their fair value can be
assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows that take place over the remaining life of the instruments, using
the following assumptions:
• For loans from the PWLB and other loans payable, premature repayment rates from the PWLB have been applied to
provide the fair value under PWLB debt redemption procedures;
• For loans receivable prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to provide the fair value;
• No early repayment or impairment is recognised;
• Where an instrument has a maturity of less than 12 months, or is a trade or other receivable, the fair value is taken to be
the carrying amount or the billed amount;
• The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount.

The fair values calculated are as follows:

		
		
		
		
Loans direct from PWLB / National Loans Fund
Loans direct from Commercial Lenders
Loans from Scottish Local Authorities
Total debt
Other financial liabilities
Total Financial liabilities

As at 31 March 2018
Carrying
Fair value
amount		
Non-Current
Non-Current
£000s
£000s
33,282

48,579

As at 31 March 2017
Carrying
Fair value
amount
Non-Current Non-Current
£000s
£000s
36,105

53,782

1,500

2,834

1,500

2,862

16,667

19,578

18,380

24,513

51,449

70,991

55,985

81,157

0

0

0

0

51,449

70,991

55,985

81,157

The fair value is greater than the carrying amount because the Board’s portfolio of loans includes a number of fixed rate
loans where the interest rate payable is higher than the rates available for similar loans in the market at the SoFP date.
The fair values for financial liabilities have been determined by reference to the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB)
redemption rules and prevailing PWLB redemption rates as at each SoFP date, and include accrued interest. The fair
values for non-PWLB debt has also been calculated using the same procedures and interest rates and this provides a sound
approximation for fair value for these instruments.
The fair values for loans have been determined by reference to the PWLB redemption rules which provide a good
approximation for the fair value of a financial instrument. The comparator market rates prevailing have been taken from
indicative investment rates at each SoFP date. In practice, rates will be determined by the size of the transaction and the
counterparty, but it is impractical to use these figures, and the difference is likely to be immaterial.
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Heritage
Assets
£000s

Surplus
Total
		
Assets 			
£000s
£000s

NON-OPERATIONAL ASSETS

ICT Infrastructure Assets under
Equipment 		 construction
£000s
£000s
£000s

Tangible Assets as at 31st March 2018

0

Disposals
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121,438

279,609

(63,334)

0

10,443

7,486

325,014

804

(40)

0

0

0

844

79,151

0

(51)

(52)

3,736

75,518

27,632

0

0

0

7,047

20,585

19,096

0

0

0

3,092

16,004

91

0

0

0

0

91

21,296

0

0

(10,684)

17,498

14,482

933

0

0

0

0

933

(438)

(514)

(57)

293

0

(160)

549,612

		

(81,785)			

(108)			

0			

38,862			

592,643		

6,672

(683)

Impairments – Revaluation Reserve

Impairments – SoCNE

14,743

(15,733)

6,826

6,142

(760)

(25,549)

121,092

132,276

Net Book Value
as at 31 March 2018

Net Book Value
as at 31 March 2017

299,465

265,278

(14,331)

259

228
48,168

45,147

(34,004)

0

0

(576)

0

0

0

(6,654)

(27,350)

0

0

9

0

(585)

11,251

15,403

(12,229)

0

0

0

0

(2,895)

(9,334)

6,604

7,579

(11,517)

0

0

0

0

(2,117)

(9,400)

87

79

(12)

0

0

0

0

(8)

(4)

14,482

21,296

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

933

933

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

112

271

709

0

(149)

0

586

0

272

513,637

477,306

Carrying amount
as at 31 March 2018

Donated

Finance Leased

Owned

0

265,278

0

121,092

0

265,278

68

121,024

228

0

0

228

45,147

419

0

44,728

Asset Financing:
Land
Buildings
Dwellings
Vehicles
						

15,403

392

0

15,011

Operational
Equipment

7,579

0

0

7,579

79

0

0

79

21,296

0

0

21,296

ICT Infrastructure Assets under
Equipment 		 construction

933

0

0

933

Heritage
Assets

271

0

0

271

477,306

811

68

476,427

Surplus
Total
Assets 		

		

		

(72,306)			

15,464

(16,565)

13,498

6,737

(12,434)			

(79,006)

												

(346)

As at 31 March 2018

				

721

0

Revaluation decrement – Rev Reserve

0

Depreciation – Revaluation Reserve

(7,056)

Depreciation charge for the year

As at 1 April 2017

DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT												

As at 31 March 2018

			

(17,897)

0

Transfers in/out

Revaluation - Revaluation Reserve

3

139,332

Additions

As at 1 April 2017

COST OR VALUATION												

Operational
Equipment
£000s

OPERATIONAL ASSETS				

Tangible Assets
Land
Buildings
Dwellings
Vehicles
						
		
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

24 Non-Current Assets

			
Heritage
Assets
£000s

Surplus
Total
		
Assets 			
£000s
£000s

NON-OPERATIONAL ASSETS

ICT Infrastructure Assets under
Equipment 		 construction
£000s
£000s
£000s

1,455

0

(967)

0

138,844

139,332

325,014

(3,205)

0

197

1,172

326,850

844

0

0

0

0

844

75,518

0

(329)

556

3,605

71,686

20,585

0

0

0

2,022

18,563

16,004

0

0

171

2,114

13,719

91

(13)

0

0

0

104

14,482

0

0

(10,933)

12,134

13,281

933

0

0

0

0

933

(160)

11

0

230

0

(401)

592,643

		

(1,752)			

(329)			

(10,745)			

21,047			

584,422		
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Impairments – Revaluation Reserve

135,546

Net Book Value
as at 31 March 2017

Net Book Value
as at 31 March 2016

301,367

299,465

(25,549)

(13,229)

10,636

11,861

(9,334)

(25,483)

268

259

(585)

0

0

0

(9)

(576)

51,308

48,168

(27,350)

0

0

0

(6,972)

(20,378)

11,978

11,251

(9,334)

0

0

0

(2,750)

(6,585)

7,604

6,604

(9,400)

0

0

0

(3,285)

(6,115)

86

87

(4)

3

(1)

22

(10)

(18)

13,281

14,482

0

0

0

0

0

0

933

933

0

0

0

0

0

0

319

112

272

(382)

(56)

13

(22)

719

522,689

513,637

Carrying amount
as at 31 March 2017

Donated

Finance Leased

Owned

0

299,465

0

132,276

0

299,465

78

132,198

259

0

0

259

48,168

569

0

47,599

Asset Financing:
Land
Buildings
Dwellings
Vehicles
						

11,251

565

0

10,686

Operational
Equipment

6,604

0

0

6,604

87

0

0

87

14,482

0

0

14,482

ICT Infrastructure Assets under
Equipment 		 construction

933

0

0

933

Heritage
Assets

112

0

0

112

513,637

1,134

78

512,425

Surplus
Total
Assets 		

		

		

(79,006)			

(17,509)			

10,722			

11,896			

(22,382)			

(61,733)			

												

(7,056)

132,276

As at 31 March 2017

		

(3,901)

0

Impairments – SoCNE

0

Depreciation – Revaluation Reserve

(3,298)

Depreciation charge for year

As at 1 April 2016

DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT												

As at 31 March 2017

			

Revaluation - Revaluation Reserve

Disposals

Transfers in/out

Additions

As at 1 April 2016

COST OR VALUATION												

Operational
Equipment
£000s

OPERATIONAL ASSETS				

Tangible Assets
Land
Buildings
Dwellings
Vehicles
						
		
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

Tangible Assets as at 31st March 2017
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Note 1: Donated assets shown in the table above include vehicles and operational equipment provided to the legacy
services which transferred to the SFRS on 1 April 2013. These will be used for fire and rescue purposes in accordance with
terms and conditions set out by Scottish Government.
Note 2: The Depreciation and impairment figures shown in the SoCNE reconcile to the following figures in the previous
tables:
2017/18

Depreciation charge in the year – Tangible Assets
Depreciation charge in the year – Intangible Assets
Impairments – SOCNE – Tangible Assets
Impairments - SOCNE - Assets held for sale
Depreciation and Impairment
Total Depreciation and Impairment

2016/17

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Note 24

SoCNE

Note 24

SoCNE

12,434		
272		
16,565		
796		
-		30,067
30,067
30,067

22,382
1,080
17,509
7,921
48,892

48,892
48,892

Note 3: The Revaluation Loss figure shown in the SoCNE comes from the following figures in the tables above:
2017/18

Revaluation – Revaluation Reserve – Tangible Assets
Revaluation – Revaluation Reserve – Assets held for Sale
Depreciation - Revaluation Reserve – Tangible Assets
Impairments - Revaluation Reserve – Intangible Assets
Impairments – Revaluation Reserve – Tangible Assets
Impairments – Revaluation Reserve – Assets held for Sale
Revaluation decrement – Revaluation Reserve
– Tangible Assets
Revaluation (Loss)/Gain
Total Revaluation Loss
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2016/17

£000s

£000s

Note 24

SoCNE

£000s

£000s

Note 24

SoCNE

(81,785)

-

(1,752)

-

2

-

(3,789)

-

6,737

-

11,896

-

-

-

2

-

13,498

-

10,722

-

-

-

(258)

-

15,464

-

-

-

(46,086)

(46,086)
(46,086)

16,821

16,821
16,821

Intangible Assets as at 31st March 2018
Intangible Assets
		
		

Software
£000s

Total
£000s

Cost or valuation		
As at 1 April 2017
Additions
As at 31 March 2018

3,525

3,525		

229

229

3,754

3,754

Depreciation		
As at 1 April 2017
Depreciation charge for the year
As at 31 March 2018

(3,151)

(3,151)		

(272)

(272)

(3,423)

(3,423)		

Net Book Value as at 31 March 2018

331

331		

Net Book Value as at 31 March 2017

374

374

Asset Financing:		
Owned

331

331		

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2018

331

331
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Intangible Assets as at 31st March 2017
Intangible Assets
		
		

Software
£000s

Total
£000s

Cost or valuation		
As at 1 April 2016
Additions
As at 31 March 2017

3,368

3,368

157

157

3,525

3,525

Depreciation		
As at 1 April 2016

(2,072)

(2,072)

Depreciation charge for the year

(1,080)

(1,080)

1

1

Impairments – Revaluation Reserve

(3,151)

(3,151)

Net Book Value as at 31 March 2017

As at 31 March 2017

374

374

Net Book Value as at 31 March 2016

1,297

1,297

		

Asset Financing:		
Owned

374

374		

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2017

374

374
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25. Assets held for sale as at 31 March 2018
Assets held for sale
		
		

Non Operational
Assets
£000s

Total
£000s

Cost or valuation		
As at 1 April 2017

25,120

25,120

Additions

640

640

Disposals

(8,289)

(8,289)

2

2

17,473

17,473

Revaluation - Revaluation Reserve

As at 31 March 2018

Impairment		
As at 1 April 2017

(16,302)

(16,302)		

Impairments – SoCNE

(796)

(796)

As at 31 March 2018

(17,098)

(17,098)

Net Book Value as at 31 March 2018

375

375

Net Book Value as at 31 March 2017

8,818

8,818

		

Asset Financing:		
Owned

375

375		

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2018

375

375
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Assets held for sale as at 31 March 2017
Assets held for sale
		
		

Non Operational
Assets
£000s

Total
£000s

Cost or valuation		
As at 1 April 2016
Additions

13,380

13,380

2

2

Transfers in/out

10,745

10,745

Disposals

(3,138)

(3,138)

4,131

4,131

Revaluation - Revaluation Reserve

As at 31 March 2017

25,120

25,120		

Depreciation		
As at 1 April 2016

(203)

(203)		

Impairments – Revaluation Reserve

(8,178)

(8,178)

Impairments – SoCNE

(7,921)

(7,921)

As at 31 March 2017

(16,302)

(16,302)

Net Book Value as at 31 March 2017

8,818

8,818

Net Book Value as at 31 March 2016

13,177

13,177

		

Asset Financing:		
Owned

8,818

8,818		

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2017

8,818

8,818
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26. Net Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets
Disposals in the year comprised sales of properties, vehicles and operational equipment assets. The properties to be
disposed of (North Anderson Drive, Former Kinlochleven and excess land at Balloch, Tongue and Beauly) were re-classified
as Assets Held for Sale in the prior year and revalued at Market Value. Where possible, some of the vehicles were reclassified as Surplus in the prior year and some of the vehicles and operational equipment were still classified as operational
until the point of disposal.
The following table analyses the subsequent gain shown in the SoCNE following disposal over the three categories:

Asset
		

Sale Proceeds
£000s

Net Book Value
£000s

Gain/(Loss)
£000s

12,408

8,289

4,119

Assets held for sale
Vehicles – Surplus

49

51

(2)

Vehicles - Operational

64

57

7

Operational Equipment

17

0

17

12,538

8,397

4,141

Total

27. Impairments and Revaluations
At 31 March 2018, all land, buildings and dwellings assets due for valuation under the five year rolling programme of
valuations, were valued by the in-house Estates and Valuations Surveyor (Russell Munn BSc MRICS). The basis of these
valuations was as follows:
• Land and Buildings, where there is no market-based evidence of fair value: Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC)
• All other Land and Buildings: Existing Use Value (EUV)
This resulted in impairments of £17.361 million, reflected as a charge in the SoCNE, and revaluation decreases of £46.086
million, shown as a loss in the SoCNE and a credit to the Revaluation Reserve.
Other non-current assets are valued at depreciated historic cost.
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28. Contingent Liabilities
a) It has been previously identified that provision should
be made in the Annual Accounts for all liabilities in
relation to insurance claims against the SFRS, both
known and unknown. The provisions shown in Note
16 represent those claims that are known. Values
cannot be placed upon those claims that have been
incurred but not reported, i.e. incidents have occurred
but claims have still to be submitted, and therefore a
contingent liability exists.
b) Members of the Firefighters Pension Scheme (FPS)
brought about an age discrimination case against the
Government in relation to the transitional protection
arrangements implemented with the introduction
of the Fire 2015 Pension Scheme. At the beginning
of 2017 an Employment Tribunal (ET) ruled that the
transitional provisions were a proportionate means of
achieving a legitimate aim and so did not give rise to
unlawful age discrimination.
However, also at the beginning of 2017 an
Employment Tribunal ruled that a group of claimant
judges had been subject to age discrimination when
they were transferred to a new pension scheme, while
under transitional provisions older colleagues were
able to remain in the existing final salary scheme.
Appeals were lodged with the Employment Appeals
Tribunal (EAT) in both the above cases and given their
similarities, the appeals were consolidated and heard
jointly in December 2017. The EAT handed down
judgement on 29 January 2018 as follows:
• The judges appeal was dismissed, so the ET ruling
that the transitional provisions give rise to age
discriminations stands,
• With regards the Firefighter’s case the EAT
found that the ET correctly established that the
respondents were pursuing legitimate aims, but the
ET made an error in law when considering whether
the means were proportionate, and the issue will be
referred back to the ET to reconsider based on the
correct interpretation of the law.
The UK Government is considering whether to appeal
these judgements. As a further appeal is currently
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being considered a contingent liability
remains in relation to pension costs should an appeal
be successful.
c) The Brewster Judgement - The Supreme Court has
ruled that a particular regulation requiring a signed
nomination form from a member of the Northern
Ireland Local Government Pension Scheme, in order
to entitle an unmarried partner to survivor benefits in
the Scheme was unlawful. The Government are still
considering what, if any, implications this will have for
other public sector pension funds. No allowance has
been made when preparing the scheme liabilities for
any potential cost implications this may have on the
SFRS Scheme, therefore a contingent liability exists.
d) In July 2017 the Supreme Court handed down
judgement in a case where they found that it was
unlawful to restrict the survivor’s pension payable to
a surviving civil partner or same sex spouse so that it
reflects only the member’s pensionable service since 5
December 2005 which is the date the Civil Partnership
Act 2004 came into force. The exact implications
of this ruling are still unclear so a contingent liability
exists with the SFRS Accounts for any potential cost
implications.

29. Firefighters’ Pensions Reconciliation
The requirements to prepare a Firefighters’ Pension
Account for the SFRS were specified in the Firefighters’
Pension Scheme Amendment (Scotland) (No.2) Order
2010 (SSI 332/2010; see also SSI 333/2010). This order
has now been revoked, however this reconciliation is
provided to demonstrate good practice and maintain a
record of payments made and income received in respect
of Firefighters’ pensions.
Funding for Fire Pension payments, with the exception
of ill-health and injury benefits, is not included in the GiA
funding provided by the Scottish Government. A specific
grant is paid to the SFRS to take account of the funding
required to meet the cost of employer contributions.
Although the Firefighters’ Pension Account operates on
an accruals basis, provisions for potential retirement (e.g.
commuted sums) are not included as a charge against the
Firefighters’ Pension Account.

The following table illustrates the transactions on the Pension Account.
		
		
		

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017		
£000s

Contributions receivable:		
		

Fire and Rescue Service:		
Contributions based on pensionable pay

(27,771)

(28,639)

Early retirements

(1,553)

(1,208)

Transfer Values In

(956)

(799)

(17,203)

(15,916)

(76)

(45)

(47,559)

(46,607)

Officers’ contributions
Seconded Officer Income
Total Receivable

Benefits payable:		
Pensions

84,498

79,569

Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits

25,692

17,566

0

335

Lump sum death benefits

267

90

Total Benefits Payable

Transfer values paid

110,457

97,560

Deficit before Funding

(62,898)

(50,953)

Creditor/(Debtor) at start of financial year

1,944

872

Fire Pension Grant – total grant received

88,388

80,664

Less: Employers Contributions

(27,771)

(28,639)

(337)

1,944

Carried forward surplus/(deficit) as at 31 March 2017

The £0.337 million deficit is contained within the Trade and Other Receivables figure of £1.452 million for Central
Government Bodies shown in Note 9.

30. Other Reserve Movement
			
			
			
Revaluation Reserve Write off – Disposal of Assets Held for Sale
Revaluation Reserve Write off – Disposal of Surplus Vehicles
Total		

Year ended
31 March 2018
£000s

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000s

12,035

1,245

26

0

12,061

1,245

In accordance with IFRS 5 Non Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, assets identified as Assets
Held For Sale must be revalued from Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) to Market Value at the time of transfer from
Operational Assets to Assets Held For Sale. The impairment of the assets must be charged to the SoCNE and not be offset
against any available Revaluation Reserve on that asset. In the year of disposal, the Revaluation Reserve balance must be
written off to the General Fund.
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THE SCOTTISH FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE
DIRECTION BY THE SCOTTISH MINISTERS
1. The Scottish Ministers, in pursuance of section 42A(1) of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005 (inserted by section 118 of the Police
and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012) hereby give the following direction.

2. The statement of accounts for the financial year ending 31 March 2018, and subsequent years, shall comply with the
accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the edition of the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM)
which is in force for the year for which the statement of accounts are prepared.

3. The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the income and expenditure, recognised gains and
losses and cash flows for the financial period and of the state of affairs at the end of the financial period.

4. This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of accounts.

Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers

Dated

127 Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

Notes
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Notes

129 Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

Notes
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